MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Agenda
February 24, 2026
REGULAR MEETING AT 7:00 P.M.:
Confirmation of the minutes of the regular meeting of February 10, 2026 (1)
List of proposed resolutions (2)

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
DECLARATION OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE THEREOEF:

DELEGATIONS:
Barry Burton & Diane Brandt, Burk’s Falls & District Historical Society — Red Building Heating  (3)

ACCOUNTS FOR APPROVAL: NONE
APPLICATIONS:

Planner’'s Report — Armstrong Lot Addition B-049/25 (4)
ZBA: Shipping Container Provision Update (5)
BY-LAW (S):

11-2026 - to appoint a Chief Building Official for the Township of Armour (6)
12-2026 — to enter into a shared service agreement for CBO/Building Inspectors (7)
REPORTS:

Financial Indicator Review — Based on 2024 FIR (8)
Historical Society — February 16, 2026 Meeting (9)
TRI Council 2026 Draft Budgets & Reports: Landfill / Arena / Fire — resolutions (20)
AHHC — Contributition Invoices - resolution (11)
Almaguin OPP Detachment Board — February 11, 2026 Meeting & Draft Budget (12)
Library Board — February 18, 2026 Meeting (13)
Agricultural Society — February 19, 2026 Meeting

CORRESPONDENCE: #14 TO #19

UNFEINISHED BUSINESS:

Employment Opportunity — Office Administrator (20)
NEW BUSINESS:

TRI Council Sub-Committee Draft Terms of Reference — resolution (21)
Draft Expression of Interest — Medical Wellness Centre — Peggs Mountain Road - resolution (22)
Village of Burk’s Falls — Resolutions: Fire Hall land transfer / TRI Sub-Committee ToR (23)

CLOSED SESSION: IF REQUIRED
ADJOURNMENT:

DATES TO REMEMBER:

February 25, 2026 — Planning Board

February 26, 2026 — ACED

March 2, 2026 — KCC

March 5, 2026 — AHHC

March 10, 2026 — Informal TRI Council Committee Meeting
March 10, 2026 — Regular Council Meeting

Any member of the public who wishes to attend the virtual Council meeting may contact the
Clerk by 4:00 pm on Tuesday, February 24, 2026 via telephone at 705-382-3332 or by email at
clerk@armourtownship.ca



mailto:clerk@armourtownship.ca

\D

THE UNICI AL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

INUTES
February 10, 2026

The regular meeting f the Council of the Township of Armour was held on Tuesday,
February 10, 2026 at 7:00 p.m. Those in attendance were: Mayor Rod Ward;
Councillors Rod Blakelock, Jerry Brandt, Wendy Whitwell and Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
Delegations: Amy Til ey, Waste Management Administrator & CEMC, Dave Creasor,
Roads Supervisor, Alison McGregor, Treasurer and Matthew Fuller, Almaguin Data
Inc.; Guests: Sarah Cooke, Darcy Prentice, Barry Burton, Carl Martin, Ana Cultraro,
Dino Cultraro, Grac McCoy, Alice Hewitt, Jake Ferrante, Douglas MaclLean, and
Nieves Guijarro; Staff: Charlene Watt, Municipal Clerk, Melissa Marshall, Recreation
Assistant and Dave ray, CAO.

VIDEO RECORDING DISCLAI ER:

Participants were informed that the meeting will be recorded to provide a record of
discussions and agreements held within the meeting. By staying in the meeting,
virtually or in-person, participants consented to being recorded. Participants also
agreed to recordings being posted to YouTube or other dis ribution services.

INDIGENOUS LAND ACKNOWLEDGE ENT:

Council acknowledged the traditional lands of the Anishinaabe and recognized the
historical and contemporary contributions of the local First ations and the peoples of
Turtle Island.

CONFIR ATION OF THE INUTES OF THE PREVIOUS EETING

The minutes of the regular Council meeting held on January 27, 2026 were approved
as circulated.

DECLARATION OF ECUNIARY INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE THEREOF:

No pecuniary interest and general nature thereof were declared.
DELEGATIONS:

Amy Tilley, Waste Management Administrator, presented her February 2026 report
which detailed the Ja uary 2026 bag counts with comparisons to previous years. The
report also included updated job descriptions for landfill employees. Questions were
asked and answered. Council passed a resolution approving the updated job
descriptions.

Amy Tilley, CEMC, presented a staff report for Council’s direction on the CodeRED
Notification System. In October, 2025, while onboarding the Township of
McMurrich/Monteith, ‘ssues arose following a potential security breach. The platform
was suspended and clients were migrated to the Crisis24 platform. As the agreement
renewal date approaches, alternative notification platform were discussed. Council
passed a resolution to not renew the emergency notification service upon expiry and
directed staff to evauate and report back on suitable alternatives for emergency
notification services, including those integrated with fire department data management
systems. Council requested that further research be conducted regarding Canadian
companies that provide these services.

Dave Creasor, Roads Supervisor, presented his February 2026 report. Council
received an update on winter maintenance operations, noting that all equipment
remains fully operational, but Ontario is experiencing a criti al province-wide road salt
shortage due to past labour disruptions, depleted reserves, and high winter demand.
The Roads Departm nt continues to maintain service levels by utilizing reserve sand
supplies, supporting Perry Township through mutual aid, and carrying out ongoing
maintenance activitie to ensure road safety for residents. ouncil provided feedback
on positive feedback rom residents.

The delegation from Imaguin ata Inc. was moved on the agenda by Council to be
prior to the Treasure 's delegation. Matthew Fuller, Presi ent of Aimaguin Data Inc.
presented a proposal to Council regarding an Al Infrastructure Project on the
municipally owned H 520 Industrial Park. The proposal includes a 2 MW modular

Page 1 of 8
2



THE UNICI AL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

MINUTES
February 10, 2026

DELEGATIONS: cont’d.

facility, expandable to 10 MW over several years, with construction anticipated Q4
2026-Q2 2027 and a total investment of $15—20 million. The delegation outlined
potential economic enefits, including increased property tax revenue, employment
opportunities, and developer-funded infrastructure. Technical information was
provided on power supply, cooling systems, fire safety, and environmental impacts,
noting low water use, minimal traffic, and no connection to municipal water or sewer.
Electrical capacity, land-use compatibility, and differences from battery energy storage
facilities were addressed. The delegation requested Council approval to proceed with
land purchase and direction to staff to support the development. Questions were asked
and answered. Council considered a resolution supporting the proposed development
in principle; however, the resolution was tabled pending further information. Council
requested a report on the proposed from the Municipal lanner including additional
information related to land use planning, noise/acoustic impact, etc.

Alison McGregor, Treasurer presented a staff report for Council’s budget
considerations for the 2026 Heritage Festival. A review of expenses and options for
Council were discus ed. Council discussed various options including downscaling,
relocation, or diversifying regionally. Council suggested sta consult with the Historical
Society to discuss th ir thoughts. Council passed a resolution to refocus the Festival
to a heritage-based mandate within Armour Township.

ACCOUNTS FOR APPROVAL.:

The list of accounts for February 2026 was approved by re olution.
APPLICATIONS:

Council reviewed an application for a zoning by-law amendment submitted by Ralph
Prentice for Part Lot 23, Concessions 1 and 2, municipall known as 233 Cherry Hill
Road, as a condition of approval for Subdivision Application S-01/24. Council also
reviewed a resolution from the Planning Board approving a revision to Condition No. 3
to recognize a minimum lot frontage of 61 metres for proposed Lots 1 through 5.
Following its review, Council passed a resolution accepting the zoning by-law
amendment application and directed the municipal pla ner to proceed with the
preparation of the amending zoning by-law.

BY-LAWS:

By-law #9-2026 bein a by-law to confirm the proceedings of Council at its January
2026 meetings was read in its entirety and passed by reso ution.

By-law #10-2026 being a by-law to authorize the transfer of Part of Lot 5, Concession
7, being Part 1 on Reference Plan 42R-22866, into joint ownership by the Township of
Armour, the Village of Burk’s Falls and the Township of Ryerson, and to provide for
reimbursement to the Township of Armour in accordance w th the Interim Fire Services
Agreement was read in its entirety and passed by resolution.

REPORTS:
Council reviewed the February 2026 Planning Report.

A verbal update was given on the January 28, 2026 Planning Board meeting. An
update was provided regarding a member who has indicated their desire to leave the
Planning Board.

Council received an pdate from the Recreation Committee, noting that planning for
the Katrine Winter arnival is complete. Council passed a resolution approving
extended bar service hours to begin at 9:00 a.m. during the vent. Council was advised
of concerns regarding the Heritage Festival, including its ¢ st, duration, and shift away
from a heritage-focu ed mandate, which were presented for information. Council also
defeated a resolution to proceed with re-branding the Katrine Community Centre to the
Katrine Community ub to reduce confusion and improve clarity and community

Page 2 of 8
3



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

INUTES
February 10, 2026

REPORTS: cont'd.

identity. Council was in consensus of the requirement to gain community feedback
regarding the namin of the new facility.

Council reviewed the minutes from the TRI-Council Shared Services Sub-Committee
February 3, 2026 m eting and the draft terms of reference. It was confirmed that
Council passed a resolution in October, 2021 supporting, in principle, to work with the
Village of Burk’s Falls and the Township of Ryerson to conduct a long-term servicing
study and to perform the recharge test required of the second aquifer to possibly
expand water and se er services in Armour and Ryerson. The final terms of reference
document will be presented at the February 23, 2026 TRI Council meeting for approval.

A verbal report was rovided regarding the Aimaguin Highlands Health Council which
included considerations related to a new X-Ray Machine. An update was provided
regarding quarterly reporting related to achievements and progress of the AHHC that
can be expected in t e future.

A verbal report was provided regarding water and runoff le els leading in to the spring
which could signal an increase in flood risk. Council recommended reviewing sandbag
stocks.

The Clerk left the meeting at 8:48 p.m. The CAO/Deputy-Clerk assumed recording
duties for the remain er of the meeting.

CORRESPONDENC :

Council reviewed correspondence and a draft support resolution from FONOM
regarding the closing of the laboratory at Sudbury's LielLabs. Council passed a
resolution of support requesting that the province take action to ensure that essential
medical laboratory services remain accessible within Northern Ontario.

Council reviewed correspondence and a draft support resolution from FONOM
requesting support fo the Prescription Diversion Partnership and Collaboration Project
and calling on the province to consider the project’'s recommendations. Council passed
a supporting resolution.

Council reviewed a letter from the Town of Fort Frances requesting that the province
establish an Ontario Airport Capital Assistance Program. Council passed a resolution
of support.

Council reviewed a request from the Village of Sundridge for support of a resolution
urging the Province of Ontario to collaborate with municipal ties on improved snow and
ice management practices, including a limited-liability framework, reduced road salt
use, and enhanced data sharing and monitoring to pro ect freshwater resources.
Council defeated a r solution supporting the request.

Council reviewed a resolution from the South East Parry So nd District Planning Board
requesting that the Town of Kearney withdraw the request to cease its partnership with
the Planning Board nd work with the other members to address their concerns and
implement further improvements. Council passed a supporting resolution.

Council reviewed a news release from Ontario News advising that the Province is
ready to welcome commercial carbon storage projects.

Council reviewed a notice from the Township of Ryerson advising of a special meeting
to update their officia plan and zoning by-law.

Council reviewed a | tter from FONOM to Prime Minister Mark Carney regarding a
nation-building opportunity for highways 11 and 17.

Council reviewed a | tter from CN Rail Police providing safety tips around railways
during the winter.

Page 3 of 8
4



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR_OUR

INUTES
February 10, 2026

CORRESPONDENCE: cont’d.

Council reviewed a news release from Ontario News advising that the Province is
assuming supervision to protect student outcomes and strengthen accountability at the
Peel District School Board and the York Catholic District S hool Board.

Council received correspondence from the office of MP Scott Aitchison acknowledging
receipt of Council’s resolution regarding changes to postag rate regulations proposed
in Bill C-15. The corr spondence advised that the bill is ¢ rrently under review by the
Standing Committee n Finance and outlined opportunities for stakeholder input during
the committee process.

Council reviewed the December 2025 Monthly Jobs Report and the January 2026
Labour Focus Report published by The Labour Market Group.

UNFINISHED BUSI ESS: NONE
NEW BUSINESS:

Council reviewed a letter from NBPDS Health Unit pro iding details on the 2026
municipal levy with ackground information. The approved budget included a 1%
increase in provincial mandatory program funding and a 4% increase in the municipal
share.

Council reviewed a taff report from the CAO respecting proposed updates to the
Municipal Employme t Policy, including the creation of an Office Administrator position
and associated organizational chart revisions. Following discussion, Council passed a
resolution approving the creation of the Office Administrator position and the
associated job description, and directed staff to forward the position description to the
Employment Committee for evaluation. Council further directed staff to implement the
approved amendme ts to Schedules A and G of the Municipal Employment Policy.

Council reviewed a otice of Appeal submitted by PowerBank Corporation regarding
the proposed lithium battery energy storage system at 219 Peggs Mountain Road,
pertaining to the Official Plan Amendment and Zoning By-law Amendment that were
refused by Council at the January 13, 2026 Council meeting. Council discussed the
absence of some completed reports including archeological and affected species. The
Municipal Solicitor will represent the Township before the Ontario Land Tribunal.

RESOLUTIONS:

Resolution #2026-33 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
That the Council of the Township of Armour approve the minutes of the regular council
meeting held on January 27, 2026, as circulated. Carried

Resolution #2026-34 - Moved by Wendy Whitwell, seconded by Jerry Brandt; That the
Council of the Township of Armour approve the revised landfill employee job
descriptions for the Lead Hand and the Landfill/Recycling Attendant positions per the
recommendations of the Waste Management Administrato . Carried

Resolution #2026-35 - Moved by Rod Blakelock, seconded by Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
WHEREAS the Township of Armour currently utilizes the Crisis24 CodeRED
emergency notificati n system at an annual renewal cost of $2,452, with data stored
outside of Canada; a d

WHEREAS staff have reviewed alternative emergen y notification and data
management syste s that may better align with operational needs, data storage
preferences, and long-term service delivery; and

WHEREAS Council wishes to discontinue the use of CodeRED pending further review
and recommendations regarding future emergency notification solutions;

Page 4 of 8
5



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

MINUTES
February 10, 2026

RESOLUTIONS: cont’d.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council hereby directs staff to
discontinue and not renew the Crisis24 CodeRED emergency notification service upon
expiry of the current agreement; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff continue to e aluate and report back to
Council on suitable alternatives for emergency notificatio services, including those
integrated with fire department data management systems. Carried

Resolution #2026-3 - Moved by Rod Blakelock, seconded by Jerry Brandt;
WHEREAS Almaguin Data Inc. has proposed an Al Infrastructure Project to be located
on municipal lands known as Highway 520 Industrial, Concession 8, Part Lot 1,
Registered Plan 42R-12212, Part 3, in the Township of Armour; and

WHEREAS the subject lands are municipally owned and will require a severance prior
to any transfer or de elopment; and

WHEREAS Township Council has reviewed the proposed development concept and
wishes to indicate its support in principle, subject to appropriate municipal, planning,
and legal requireme ts being satisfied;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Township of Armour
hereby supports, in principle, the proposed Al Infrastructure Project by Almaguin Data
Inc. on the municipal property known as the Highway 520 Industrial Park, Concession
8, Part Lot 1, Regist red Plan 42R-12212, Part 3;

AND FURTHER THAT this support is conditional upon the successful completion and
approval of a severance for the subject lands and compliance with all applicable
municipal, provincial, and federal requirements;

AND FURTHER THAT this support is subject to the co ditions, requirements, and
recommendations as set out by the Municipal Planner, Municipal Solicitor, and
Township Staff, to the satisfaction of the Township of Armour;

AND FURTHER TH T nothing in this resolution shall be construed as approval of any
specific planning application, development agreement, or land disposition, which shall
be subject to separate Council consideration and approval TABLED

Resolution #2026-3 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Rod Blakelock; THAT
Council receive the staff report regarding the Heritage Fes ival;

AND THAT Council direct staff to refocus the Heritage Festival to better reflect a
heritage-based mandate, including a direct connection to the Watt Century Farm
House Museum and rmour Township heritage assets;

AND THAT staff be directed to explore alternative locatio s within Armour Township,
revised programmin , and a scaled budget model for Council’s consideration prior to
the 2026 budget deliberations. Carried

Resolution #2026-38 - Moved by Rod Blakelock, seconded by Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
That the Council of the Township of Armour approve the February 2026 accounts, in
the amount of $626, 41.29 for payment, and the Mayor and the Treasurer are hereby
authorized to sign ch ques for same. Carried

Resolution #2026-39 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Rod Blakelock; That the
Council of the Township of Armour accept the application for a zoning by-law
amendment under Subdivision File S-01/24, submitted by R. Prentice, Part Lot 23,
Concessions 1 and 2, described as 233 Cherry Hill Road and request the municipal
planner proceed with drafting the zoning by-law amendment. Carried

Eg’age 50f8



THE UNICI AL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

MINUTES
February 10, 2026

RESOLUTIONS: cont'd.

Resolution #2026-40 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
That the Council of t e Township of Armour have read and approve By-law #9-2026
being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of Council at its January 2026 meetings and
that we authorize the Mayor and Clerk to sign this by-law and affix the seal of the
Corporation thereto. arried

Resolution #2026-4 - Moved by Dorothy Haggart-Davis, seconded by Wendy
Whitwell; That the Council of the Township of Armour have read and approve By-law
#10-2026 being a by-law to authorize the transfer of Part of Lot 5, Concession 7, being
Part 1 on Reference Plan 42R-22866, into joint ownership by the Township of Armour,
the Village of Burk's Falls and the Township of Ryerson, and to provide for
reimbursement to the Township of Armour in accordance w'th the Interim Fire Services
Agreement and that we authorize the Mayor and Clerk to s'gn this by-law and affix the
seal of the Corporation thereto. Carried

Resolution #2026-42 - Moved by Wendy Whitwell, seconded by Rod Blakelock; That
the Council of the Township of Armour approves the extension of the liquor license for
the Katrine Community Centre to begin at 9:00 a.m. on Sunday, February 22, 2026.
Carried

Resolution #2026-43 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Rod Blakelock; That the
Council of the Township of Armour directs staff to proceed with rebranding the Katrine
Community Centre as the Katrine Community Hub (KCH) to strengthen the facility’s
identity and improve clarity in advertising, communication, and community
engagement.

Recorded vote requested by Councillor Jerry Brandt.

Recorded Vote For Opposed

P

Blakelock, Rod

Brandt, Jerry X

Haggart-Davis, Dorothy X

Ward, Rod X

Whitwell, Wendy X
Defeated

Resolution #2026-4 - Moved by Dorothy Haggart-Davis, seconded by Wendy
Whitwell; WHEREAS LifeLabs has announced its intention to close its Greater Sudbury
laboratory, and the tr nsfer of medical specimen processing from Northern Ontario to
laboratories in southern Ontario; and

WHEREAS the Greater Sudbury laboratory provides essential diagnostic services to
communities across Northern Ontario, including ur an, rural, and remote
municipalities, and plays a critical role in ensuring timely and reliable medical testing
for Northern residents; and

WHEREAS patients with chronic illness, newborns, lon -term care residents, and
individuals on time-sensitive medications depend on predictable laboratory turnaround
times to support clinical decision-making; and

WHEREAS transporting medical specimens long dista ces to southern Ontario
increases the risk of delays, specimen degradation, and retesting, particularly during
frequent winter highway closures—potentially jeopardizing patient outcomes; and

WHEREAS Northern Ontario is already experiencing shortages of health-care
professionals, and the closure of this laboratory further und rmines regional workforce
stability, training capacity, and recruitment and retention efforts;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Township of Armour calls on the Province of
Ontario and the Ministry of Health to take immediate actio to ensure that essential

;’age 6 of 8



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

INUTES
February 10, 2026

RESOLUTIONS: cont’d.

medical laboratory services remain accessible within orthern Ontario, including
maintaining local laboratory processing capacity in Greater Sudbury; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Province be urged to ensure reliable, timely,
and medically appropriate laboratory turnaround times for Northern Ontario patients,
recognizing the unique geographic and climatic challenges of the region; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Province be requested to protect and support
the Northern Ontario ealth-care workforce, including medical laboratory technologists,
by preventing further service centralization that disproportionately impacts Northern
communities; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that copies of this resolution be forwarded to the Minister
of Health, local Mem ers of Provincial Parliament, FONOM, AMO, and ROMA. Carried

Resolution #2026-45 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Dorothy Haggart-Davis;
WHEREAS prescription drug diversion, particularly invol ing regulated opioids and
other controlled me ications, presents a serious and growing risk to public health,
community safety, and vuinerable populations across Ontario, including Northern and
rural communities; and

WHEREAS evidence from law enforcement, health professionals, and community drug
strategy partners demonstrates that diverted prescription medications are contributing
to substance misuse, criminal activity, and increased strain on health, social, and
enforcement systems throughout Northern Ontario; and

WHEREAS the Partnership and Collaboration Project, “The Birth of Change” (written
by the North Bay Police Services and Community Drug Strategy of North Bay & Area),
brings together law enforcement, addiction medicine specialists, pharmacists, public
health partners, and community organizations to addr ss prescription diversion
through a collaborati e, evidence-based, and multi-sector approach; and

WHEREAS the project identifies practical regulatory, prescribing, dispensing, and
prevention measures intended to reduce diversion while maintaining appropriate
access to medically necessary pain management and addiction treatment services;
and

WHEREAS municipalities across Northern Ontario are experiencing the downstream
impacts of prescription diversion, including pressures on emergency services, policing,
housing stability, and community well-being;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Township of Armour formally supports the
Partnership and Col aboration Project, “The Birth of Ch nge” and its objectives to
reduce prescription drug diversion through coordinated, evidence-based action; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Township of Armour calls on the Province of
Ontario, including the Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Mental Health and
Addictions, to review and give serious consideration to the project’'s recommendations,
including regulatory, prescribing, dispensing, and prevention strategies aimed at
mitigating prescriptio diversion while protecting patient care; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Township of Armour encourages continued
provincial engagement with municipalities, law enforcement, health professionals,
pharmacists, and co munity partners to ensure that solutions are practical, regionally
appropriate, and responsive to the realities faced by Northern Ontario communities;
and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this resolution be forwarded to the Minister
of Health, the Associate Minister of Mental Health and Addictions, Sgt. Brad Reaume,
Northern Ontario Members of Provincial Parliament, NOMA, AMO and ROMA. Carried

Page 7 of 8
8



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR _OUR

MINUTES
February 10, 2026

RESOLUTIONS: co t'd.

Resolution #2026-46 - Moved by Rod Blakelock, seconded by Jerry Brandt; That the
Council of the Township of Armour supports the Town of Fort Frances and calls upon
the Province of Ont rio to establish an Ontario Airport Capital Assistance Program,
ensure eligibility for a broad range of capital projects, enga e municipalities in program
design and recognize the essential role of airports in medevac and emergency
services, especially in remote and northern communities. Carried

Resolution #2026-47 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Rod Blakelock; That the
Council of the Township of Armour supports the resolution of the Village of Sundridge
urging the Province of Ontario to:

Work collaborativel with municipalities, industry, insurers, and environmental
stakeholders to establish a limited-liability framework for snow and ice management,
supported by provincially endorsed Best Management Practices and enforceable
training and certificat on requirements;

Establish and fund an expert advisory committee to assist municipalities in reducing
salt use and protecting freshwater ecosystems and drinking water sources;

Collaborate with municipalities on data sharing, chloride monitoring, and salt-reduction
initiatives, particularl within environmentally sensitive communities and watersheds.
Defeated

Resolution #2026-48 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Wendy Whitwell; That the
Council of the Tow ship of Armour supports the South East Parry Sound District
Planning Board and respectfully requests that the Town of Kearney withdraw the
request to cease its partnership with the South East Parry Sound District Planning
Board and work with the other members to address their concerns and implement
further improvements. Carried

Resolution #2026-49 - Moved by Wendy Whitwell, seconded by Rod Blakelock; That
the Staff Report fro the CAO dated February 10, 2026 be received and that the
Council of the Township of Armour approve the job creation and description for the
Office Administrator position and directs staff to forward the position description to the
Employment Committee for evaluation. Furthermore, that Council directs staff to
implement the changes to Schedules A and G of the Municipal Employment Policy.
Carried

Resolution #2026-50 - Moved by Jerry Brandt, seconded by Wendy Whitwell; That the
Council of the Township of Armour adjourn this regular council meeting at 9:32 p.m.
until the next regular council meeting scheduled for Febru ry 24, 2026 or at the call of
the Mayor or the Clerk. Carried

Rod Ward, Mayor

Dave Gray, CAO/Deputy-Clerk

Page 8 of 8
9



LIST OF PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS FOR FEBRUARY 24, 2026

ITEM # ON AGENDA 1)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approve the minutes of the regular council meeting
held on February 10, 2026, as circulated.

ITEM # ON AGENDA 4)

Whereas the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Armour hereby receives the staff report
“B-049/25 Lot Addition (Armstrong), 723 Skyline Drive, Pt. Lot 21, Con 4 Pt. 1, 42R-22453 dated
February 20, 2026.

And Whereas the applicants have requested Council consider the removal of Condition # 6 of the
Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board Decision, dated February 9, 2026.

Therefore Be It Resolved that the Council of the Township of Armour continue to support consent
application B-049/25, Part Lot 21, Concession 4, 723 Skyline Drive submitted by Mark and Susan
Armstrong for a lot addition and request the Southeast Parry Sound District Parry Sound Planning
Board remove Condition # 6 from their February 9, 2026 decision.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (5)

That the Council of the Township of Armour accepts the recommendation from Robert Miller, Land
Use Planner and authorize the planner to procced with the zoning by-law amendment for shipping
container provisions.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (6)

That the Council of the Township of Armour have read and approve By-law #11-2026 being a by-
law to appoint Andrew McGee as the Chief Building Official and that we authorize the Mayor and
Clerk to sign this by-law and affix the seal of the Corporation thereto.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (7)

That the Council of the Township of Armour have read and approved By-law #12-2026 being a by-
law to enter into a shared service agreement with the Town of Huntsville, the Township of Perry
and the Township of Lake of Bays for the services of chief building officials/building inspectors for
the Township of Armour and that we authorize the Mayor and Clerk to sign this by-law and affix the
seal of the Corporation thereto.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (10)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approves the 2026 TRl R Waste Management budget,
in the net amount of $285,322, with the Township of Armour’s share being $139,099.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (10)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approves the 2026 Armour Ryerson Burk’s Falls
Memorial Arena budget, in the net amount of $550,141, with the Township of Armour’s share being
$183,380.

10
Page1of3



ITEM # ON AGENDA (10)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approves the 2026 Burk’s Falls and District Fire
Department budget, in the net amount of $638,026, with the Township of Armour’s share being
$305,232.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (10)

That the Council of the Township of Armour accept the Fire Chief's Report dated February 24, 2026
and approve the purchase and implementation of the First Due software platform at a first-year cost
of $17,150.00, including software, configuration, and initial training;

And Further That Council approve the ongoing annual subscription cost beginning in year two in
the amount of $13,150.00 per year;

And Further That Council acknowledges that the implementation of First Due will replace the
existing CodeRED service currently utilized by the three municipalities.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (11)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approves the payments of $3,338.00 to the Village of
Burk's Falis for the Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2024 Deficit and $8,353.00 to the Village of
Burk's Falis for the Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2025 Deficit.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (14)

Whereas, improved financial stability allows municipal residents to participate, contribute, and
invest in their local economies and communities; and Whereas, poverty puts additional pressure on
municipalities, who are responsible for delivering necessary public and social services to support
residents who are struggling with the consequences of inadequate income; and Whereas, poverty,
homelessness and food insecurity have detrimental impacts on physical and mental health; and
Whereas, income is an important social determinant of health that greatly impacts a household’s
ability to pay for the basic costs of living, including housing and food; and Whereas, the 2025 North
Bay Parry Sound food affordability results show that households reliant on social assistance do not
have enough money for the costs of living; and Therefore Be It Resolved, That the Township of
Armour support efforts to raise awareness about, and work to reduce poverty, homelessness and
food insecurity; and Furthermore Be It Resolved, That the Township of Armour endorse the
recommendations from the North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit and call on the Province of
Ontario to increase Ontario Works and Ontario Disability Support Program rates to reflect the costs
of living, and index Ontario Works rates to inflation going forward.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (15)

That the Township of Armour supports the Municipality of Magnetawan and calls upon the
Government of Canada, including ISED, to strengthen affordability requirements tied to federal
broadband funding and universal access programs.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (21)

That the Council of the Township of Armour hereby approve the draft Terms of Reference for the
Shared Services Advisory Committees, establishing the Arena Advisory Committee, Fire Advisory
Committee, and Waste Management Advisory Committee, as presented;

And Further That Council direct staff to circulate the approved Terms of Reference to the Township
of Ryerson and the Village of Burk’s Falls for consideration and corresponding approval;

11
Page 2 of 3



And Further That the Terms of Reference take effect upon adoption by all participating
municipalities.

ITEM # ON AGENDA (22)

That the Council of the Township of Armour approves the draft Request for Expressions of Interest
(REOHI# 2026-01) regarding the Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub on the Pegg’s Mountain Road
Development Lands and directs staff to undertake all necessary administrative actions to facilitate
the REOI process. Furthermore, Council directs staff to report back to Council with a summary of
responses received and recommended next steps following the closing of the process.

ITEM # ON AGENDA

That the Council of the Township of Armour adjourn this regular council meeting at p.m.
until the next regular council meeting scheduled for March 10, 2026 or at the call of the Mayor or
the Clerk.

12
Page 3 of 3



13



P ee vin a

siet
s'de

e ita e,
n ‘e
f
ec
erta

14

"toy A " ct
s’ 99

¢



Prese v’

ia

€

ur

e

rl‘

al

o

n 1toi

15

e itag , ‘stoy
o u't ince 996

ft o

er a
e

ou nii

ol ner

ro eve

e

ts



Prese v’ et , “tory: A f cts
m O 1 996

r ocus For 202

evelo a5 ear Pl nFor Bo of Hi ri ites
*|] ease o ni y Involve & M m ershi

Cr ate ndraisngStr t gi to Fun u ure P ojects
repar Mas er Listo  ‘shes & Need fo the

Watt Far  istoria ie
ont'nuing etaile e ripton & Catalogingo ver ,000

16



o) ~
E isti

17

e ‘t-ge,
1'ess

Arti acts

‘stoy A tiact
96



rese ® e “ e sor & f
r Or ite "¢ 9 6
ans ForT e New Red Bui di

Display cals

10 Ft. Ft.
Utility Room Service Clubs Medical & Dentistry Ralph Bice Sports
Trapper
I24 FT'I [ Main Entrance |
iscellaneous Artifacts
Display Cabinet
Horse Drawn Fire
Accessible Hose = eel

shroom Various Fire Dept.

Artitacts.on Wal Knight Brothe  Display Cabinet

18



a d e  age,
mO e si

Medica & D' tistr

19

‘sto

& rtifacts
19



e a e,
o 1 ies

Ralph iceT abper

20

to

&A
6

1acC S



g e, sto &
o m “i1e sin el99

Hor e rawn Fire os Whee

21

t acts



ne

asso Lak

O €S§

eV u e ‘tage, ‘story - A tiact
o " s ¢ 19°6
ur Immediate Needs
ooln VAC
u tes'Su m'tted o CA
eating olutio s Did 2 Sit V's’
e oe
oteo he re 301.

2,249 14
19,550.2

22



o O nit'es i
Our esolution

POBax - Buk’s ] wan o
Yhooer = Rood,
Bl o
e g arrdboak m"
T
Date: February 16,2026 Notlcs of $#2026-02-16-2

r r

THAT the Bu & Falls and D jot Histarical Society support the Council of the T p of Amaur
directing stafffo refo  the Hertage Festival io better refle - a heritage-based  andats, in- ding &
direct connectionto . Walt Century FarmrHo — Museurn and-AmmourT ph

AND:F RTHER THAT the Soelety'suppons ~ - stall to oxplore altemative locations within Armgur
T shipra d gramming-and scaled budget modal for Counci's conaideration ¢ * o
2026 budgst delibertions;

M;JDFK{R ERTHAT the Burk's Falisand =~ Higtorical Soclely respectfully requests that Co il
cansider invesling funds allocated for the oY into capital impr ts. the  Buifding
teWst ntuyF Hou Herita  Centre, theraby swengthening the Jong-tenm sustainability ard
functionalty  1s Importa thenit  site;

ANDFUR R THAT the [ sfocusing the event in-cocrdination-with the Township of
Armaur Res  on Departmerit to ensure efiective planning, community engagement, and a{lgnmani
with the Township’ heritage object

MovedBy: _Dlggey Queven

Secanded 'Sy &

(= L]

Canied Defeated

23

Prese v' g "t 'soy - A tfacts

e 1996



Prs Vv g, st y. A'tif
o Or uite s cel996
Our esolutio

Be eCentres
FOBoa akoFalla, @ v AICO \\\1&; yh:’mm!l&
nen  5TI-380 Wy
fm v a ¢ ' fumnous
LT U
Like  on Eacbas ¢ otfuns
161
&3,
Y ber
F
T
of
ERRE
s

24



PLANNING REPORT

56 Ontario Street, PO Box 533,
Burk’s Falls, Ontario, POA 1CO
705-382-3332

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Date: February 20, 2025

To: Council

From: Stefan Szczerbak, CiP, RPP
(Plansc p In .)

File No.: B-049/25 Lot Addition
(Armstrong)

Civic 723 Skyline Drive

Address:

Legal Pt. Lot 21, Con 4 (Pt. 1, 42R-

Address: 22453)

Roll No.: 63700

Origin:

The Township received a recent request from the applicants on February 10, 2026
( ppendix ) to reconsider the inclusion of a Co dition of pprov | r quiring n Official
Plan Amendment to permit the subject lot addition.

Requested Relief:

Specifically, they are requesting the removal of Condition # 6 from the Notice of
Decision issued by the Southeast Parry Sound Planning Board on February 9, 2026
(Appendix B).

Analysis:

Planscape Inc. has reviewed the previous planner’s (Robert Miller) report to the
Township, dated January 7, 2026 (Appendix C) and a copy of Council's Motion # 2026-
3 (Appendix D).

In Mr. Miller's report, he correctly noted that the lands were recently subject to Official
Plan Amendment # 5 where Council supported a new policy - Section 3.1.1(g) that
permitted the recreation of the subject and surrounding lots as they were inadvertently

25



merged on title. The new policy permitted the severances by not defining the property
and proposed lots as “backlots”. The severances were approved and the severances
were completed.

The subject application was submitted to alter a shared lot line in between two separate
lots for the purpose of providing usable frontage along Skyline Drive. This application
does not create a NEW backlot. Although one could argue that the provision of
additional usable frontage allows for easier access to the benefitting lot, again, the
application is not creating a NEW backilot, it is preventing site alteration to access the
back of the property.

The Armour Official Plan (Section 3.1.1(n)), specifically permits boundary adjustments,
provided the application does not create a new separate lot. This application conforms
to this specific policy direction.

Appropriateness of Application:

Removing Condition # 6 is reasonable and it is recommended that the Planning Board
consider striking out this condition based on a review of the history of this file and the
applicable Official Plan policies, including Official Plan Amendment # 5.

Provincial Planning Statement, 2024:
Planning opinion remains the same. The application remains consistent with the 2024
Provincial Planning Statement.

Township of Armour Official Plan:
With the removal of Condition # 6, the application conforms to the overall direction of
the Official Plan, in particular Sections 3.1.1(n) and 3.1.1(g).

Township of Armour Zoning By-law:
The application is subject to a future zoning amendment application (Condition # 7)

Conclusion:

With the removal of the requirement for an Official Plan Amendment application, the
application continues to represent good planning and conform to the overall direction of
the applicable planning documents.

Appendices:
e Appendix A - Applicant’'s Request to Reconsider OPA
e Appendix B — Southeast Parry Sound Planning Board Decision
e Appendix C — Previous Planning Report
e Appendix D - Motion # 2026-3
Recommendation:

26



WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Armour hereby receives
the staff report “B-049/25 Lot Addition (Armstrong), 723 Skyline Drive, Pt. Lot 21, Con 4
Pt. 1, 42R-22453 dated February 20, 2026.

AND WHEREAS the applicants have requested Council consider the removal of
Condition # 6 of the Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board Decision, dated
February 9, 2026.

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council of the Township of Armour continue to
support consent application B-049/25, Part Lot 21, Concession 4, 723 Skyline Drive
submitted by Mark and Susan Armstrong for a lot addition and request the Southeast
Parry Sound District Parry Sound Planning Board remove Condition # 6 from their
February 9, 2026 decision.”

Alternatives:

Upon review of the request, Council of the Corporation of the Township of Armour may
choose one of the following options:

e Deny the request (not recommended);

o Defer the application pending clear direction from Council for the reasons of
deferral; or

e Approve the application.

Reviewed By:

Dave Gray, Chief Administrative Officer and Deputy Clerk / Director of Economic
Development

Charlene Watt, Municipal Clerk

27



APPENDIX A

From:

To:

Subject: Fw: Request reconsideration of OPA condition (Armstrong)
Date: February 10, 2026 2:48:38 PM

Hi Stefan,

Please see below request. Please provide your comments and recommendation for Council.
Thanks,

Charlene

From: Mark Armstrong <msabarmstrong@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, February 10, 2026 2:34 PM

To: Charlene Watt (Deputy Clerk) <deputyclerk@armourtownship.ca>
Subject: Request reconsideration of OPA condition (Armstrong)

G oda e C 1 e

I would like to request reconsideration of condition #6 of the recent Notice of Decision
regarding our lot addition request for 723 Skyline Drive, Katrine. The condition that an
Official Plan Amendment be required represents an additional $6000 expense to adjust the lot
lines between two properties that we own.

Our reason for requesting this lot addition is two-fold. In the event that we sell the retained
portion of land we would like to;

¢ Maintain our access to our northern meadow land off Skyline drive as access across
the hill is next to impossible

e Maintain the use of our private pit on that land. The road to our potential build site by
Russel lake is not complete and we will still be using material from that pit, for our
personal use, for many years to come

We don't feel an OPA is required as we are not creating a new lot for development purposes.
We currently own four properties on Skyline Drive. 63 acres and 78 acres on the south end of
the land. Approximately 350 acres in the middle which contains the private lake and 50 acres
of land acquired from the Edwards a couple of years ago. (it should be noted that an OPA was
not required for this transaction which was also a lot line adjustment). Finally we have the 11
acre lot on Skyline at the north end of the property. We believe that adding 5 acres from the
bottom of the 11 acres to the 350 acres does not create a new lot. It only makes the 350 acres
(which can't be subdivided as it is a back lot consisting of several PINs) into a 355 acre lot.
The lot addition does not further develop the property (355 acres) as we already have
permitted access and a drive-way at #723.

There is a pre-existing path from Skyline into the pit area and that will not be altered. I have
reviewed 3.1.1 (g) (i) of the OP and I do not believe that this lot addition is equivalent to lot
development. It in no way develops the lot for expanded use as we will always e limited 'n
how many building sites are permitted regardless of the size of this backlot.

(g) Backlot severances are not permitted in the Rural Community or Waterfront
Community areas. Backlot severances shall be defined as e eo e tof land by
subdivision or severance or by any other means within 300 metres (1000 feet) of any lake

28



or substantial creek or river that is separated from that waterbody by a public road or
by an existing lot of record having a developable area sufficient in size to legally
accommodate development.

I note that one of the conditions from the town meeting (Town of Armour 13 Jan 2026) was
that the lot severance cannot be conveyed separately but instead shall be merged with the
abuting lands. As it stands, the abutting lands are the 350 acres which would eliminate the
need for the OPA.

From the Official Plan, the re-establishment of the original PINs did not constitute "backlot"
development.

(i) Notwithstanding Armour Township Official Plan Policy 3.1.1(g) consents approved by
the Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board as B-032/23, B-033/23, B-034/23 and B-
035/23 plus the retained parcel, and known in a block as 723 Skyline Drive, do not meet the
definition of backlot development as they re-establish existing lots of record which were
merged in title by error. (OPA 5)

We believe the moving of this lot line also does not act as backlot development.

Condition #6 states that an OPA is required for the purposes of acknowledging conditions that
already exist in relation to that land. Once that land merges it becomes part of an already
present back-lot and subject to those restrictions. Why is an OPA required to

acknowledge something that already exists?

6. Prior to the finalization of consent, the District Planning Board must be advised in
writing by the Township of Armour that an Official Plan Amendment has been

approved ec gnize ha eco set eslsin o e 0 o eeo e taste
seee acesa egew h eab "~ gbene i g a s,addressing non-conformity
with Section 3.1.1(g) of the Official Plan and Section 51(24) of the Planning Act.

I would like to attend the meeting on the 24th of February if possible. Please advise me if you
require any additional information..

Respectfully,
Mark and Sue Armstrong

29



APPENDIX B

Applicant: M. & S. ARMSTRONG Date of Decision: January 28, 2026
File No.: B-049/25 Date of Notice: February 9, 2026

unicipality: Township of Armour Last Date of Appeal: March 1, 2026
Subject Lands: : Pt. Lot 21, Con 4 (Part 1, 42R-22453) psing Date: February 9, 2028

NOTICE OF DECISION
Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board
On Application for Consent
Section 53 of the Planning Act

In com liance with Section 53 of the Plan * g ct, Revised Statutes of Ontario, 1990, Chapter P. 13,
attached is the notice of decision of the District Planning Board with regard to the above noted file(s).

Please be ad “sed that the last day for fil'ng an appeal is March 1, 2026.

Section 53 of the Planning Act sta es that the applican , the Minister, a specified person or any u lic body
may, not later than 20 days after e giving of notice is completed, appeal the decision or any condition
imposed by the Planning Board or appeal both the decision and n condition to the O tario Land Tribunal
(OLT) by filing a notice of appeal setting out the reaso  for the appeal, accompanied by the fee required by
the Tribunal. The notice of appeal is to be fi ed with the Secretary-Treasurer of the Planning Board,
accompanied by the fe charged by the Tribunal.

Inaccordan with Se ‘on 53(24) of the Planning Act, you will be enti ed to receive notice of any changes
to the conditions of the provisional conse ifyou ve made a written request to be notified of changes to
the conditions of the provisional consent.

The de isionof e Plann’ g Board will become final and binding when the final date for appeal has assed

and noappe hasbeen filed, unless the consen was granted with conditions. On a consent granted, fore

the final certificate can be issued, proof in writing must be s bmitted to the Secretary-Treasurer showing

th tall conditionsimposedby e Planni Board havebeende t ° i amanner satisfactory to the

appropriate authority.  accordance with Section 53(41) of the P anning A  if the conditions imposed by

the PlanninglaBoard have not been fulfilled within two years f the date of mailing of the notice of decision,
e consent lapses.

EFFECT THAT WRITTEN AND ORAL SUBM SSIONS HAD O DECISION
The unicipality supports approval of the applicatio subject to conditions. No further submissions were
eceived which ha an eff ct on the decis’on.

SOUTHEAST PARRY SOUND DISTRICT
PLANNING BOARD

P.O. Box 310

Kearney, ON PoA 1Mo

Tel: 705-787-5070 Email: Imo er se sd lannin bo d.ca

30



NOTICE OF DECISION

SOUTHEAST PARRY SOUND DISTRICT

PLANNING BOARD FILE No.... -049/25...
P.O. Box 310

Kearney, Ontario POA1 0

In the matter of he Planning Act; Revised S es of On ario, 1990, Chapter P.13 and;
In the matter of an application for consent on behalf of:

NA E: Mark & Susan Armstrong

69 Waters Edge Lane
Huntsville, ON P1H OH9

Type of transaction for which application for consent is being made:

[1] Ne Lot [1] Easement or Right-of-Way
X1 Lot Addition [1 ortgage Discharge
[1 Title Cor ection [1 Other

Location: Part Lot 21, Concession 4 (Part 1, 42R-22453), To nship of Armour.

Subject of the appli  tion: To transfer a parcel of land approximately 2 ha. (4.94 ac) in size, to be added to the adjacent and ( art
Lots 22, 23 & 24, Concession 4).

Decision: /? £ oV

Reasons:

See attached

The above decision is subject to the following condition(s):

See attached.

airman (signed)

Date of decision: .....January 28, 2026.....
Linda Moyer
Secretary-Treasurer

Date of notice: f 0
Last date or filing an appeal to the Ontario Land Tribunal under Section 53 of the Planning Act:
Additional copies of this Notice of Decision can be obtained at the address shown above.

31



SOUTHEAST PARRY SOUND DISTRICT PLANNING BOARD

REASONS FOR APPROVAL

Consent Application - B-049/25 (ARMSTRONG)
1. The application conforms to the Provincial Planning Statement.
2. The municipality supports the subject application.

3. No concerns or objections have been raised through the circulation of the application.

32



Applicant: M. & S. AR STRONG File No.: B-049/25

unicipality: Township of Armour Date of Deqision: January 28, 2026
Location: Part Lot 21, C ncession 4 (Part 1, 42R-22453) Date of Notice: February 9, 2026

The conditions to the granting of consent for this transaction, file no. B-049/25, which must be fu filled with.'n
oyears fromtheda of his letter, are set out below. These conditions m st be fulfilled priort the ranting

of consent.

Conditions

That this approval applies to the transfer of one lot addition approximately 2 hg. (4.94' ac) in size, to
be added to the adjacent lands (Part Lots 22, 23 & 24, Concession 4), s applied for in the bove-
noted locatio a d municipality and as indicated on the attached sketch.

That the applicant(s) shall have the following documents delivered to th Secretary-Treasu r of
the Southea t arry Sound Distri Planning Board for the transa ion de cribed in Condition 1:

a) the “i preparation Transf r”;

b) a “Long form certificate” (Form 4) on which is set out the legal d cription of th severed
arcel;

¢ a reference plan of survey, hich bears the Land Registry Office registration n mbe and
signature as vidence of its deposit therein, illustrating the parcel(s) to whichthe  sent
approval relates, together w'th an electronic (pdf) version of t e plan; or

a legal description acceptable to the Registr r of Deeds. It may be necessary or the
ap licant's Solicitor to submit a description approval form to the Registry Office exempting
the transfer from a surve .

Thatth draft reference plan of survey be submitted to the Secretary- reasurer of the District
Planni gB ardandt th o ipofA o o evi ) egi t aton.

That a digita copy of the final reference plan be provided to the Township of Armour.

Prior to the finalization of consent, the applicant shall submit a copy of the latest transfer do u ent
and parcel register for the severed parcel and the parcel to which he severed parcel is to be
added.

Prior to the final" tion of consent, the District Planning Board mustb adv'sed in writing by the
To nship of Armour that an Official Plan Amendment has been approved to recognize that he
consent results in no new lot for development, as the severed parcel shall merge with the abutting
benefitting lands, addressing non-conformity with Section 3.1.1(g) of he Official Plan and Section
51(24) of the Planning Act.

Prior o the fi alization of consent, the District Planning Board must be advised in writing by the
ownship of rmour that a Zoning By- aw Amendment has been a proved, similar in intent to By-
law No. 5-2024 (Exception Rural RU-107), to recognize the lot addition as legally existing as of the

date of consent approval and to bring the lands into conformity with the Official Plan Amendment.

Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board pag 1

33



Applicant: M. & S. RMSTRONG File No.: B-049/25

Municipality: Township of Armour Date of Decision: January 28, 2026
Location: Part Lot 21, Concession 4 (Part 1, 42R-22453) D te of Notice: February 9, 2026
Conditions cont'd.
8. That prior to the finaliz tion of consent the District Planning Board is satisfied that the North Bay-

10.

atta a Conservation Authority has no concerns or objectio s ‘thr ard to sewage disposal
systems on the retained parcel.

P “or to the finalization of consent, the District Planning B r must be advised in writing by the
Township of Armour that the Roads Supervisor has  nfirmed th t a suitable location for a new
entrance on the proposed severed and retained lots can be properly constructed to municipal
standards. Should signage be required, such as hidden driv way sign(s), the Applicant must cover
he costs of the signs and posts.

That the applicant(s) shall remit the finalization fee of $400.00 p r transfer document in the form of
a certified chequ , mon y ord r or e-transfer, to the So heast Par Sound istrict Planning
B ard prior to finalization of consent.

The following NOTES are for your information:

1.

Because this consent applica ion is for a lot addition, subsection (3) or (5) of Section 50 of the
Planning Act, R.S.0. 1990, shall apply to any subsequent conveyance or transaction. This must
be set out in the Certificate to be endorsed by the Secretary-Treasurer.

2. Itis e applicant's and/or agent's responsibility to fulfil the condition of consent approval within
two years of the date of this letter pursua t to Section 5 (41) o the Planning Act.
If the conditions to consent approval are not fulfilled within __ O YEARS of the date of this
letter and the applicant is still interes d in purs ing the proposal, a new application will be
required.
Southea t Pa ry Sound District Planning Board page 2

34



Applicant: M. & S. AR STRONG File No.: B-049/25

unicipality: Township of Armour Date of Decision: January 28, 2026
Location: Part Lot 21, Concession 4 (Part 1, 42R-22453) Date of Notice: February 9, 2026
k
T ow
\
&\
[N
4 [N
&
L ]
A

Southeast Parry Sound District Planning Board page 3

35



APPENDIX C

ROBERT J. MILLER Land Use Planning Services

15 Brock Street RR#3 NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE ONTARIO LOS 1J0  905.468.0582 cell/txt 289.213.4421

Robert J. Miller
Professional Land Use Planner Email plansifter@gmail.com
January 7, 2026 VIA EMAIL clerk@armourtownship.ca

Township of Armour

c/o Mrs. Charlene Watt, Municipal Clerk
P.O. Box 5633

Burk’s Falls, ON POA 1C0

Dear Mrs. Watt, Mr. Gray, Mayor Ward and Members of Council:
RE:  Planning Report B-049/25 Lot Addition (Armstrong)

This letter is in response to a request by the Clerk for a formal report and recommendations for
Council on the above application. The report is also to consider the December 10, 2025
Planning Review of this application by LannyD.Planning for the Southeast Parry Sound District
Planning Board.

Introduction

This application is simply to sever part of Lot 21 Concession 4 (Part 1 of plan 42R-22453, Roll
No. 63700) into roughly equal parts (2 ha. and 2.4 ha) and to convey the severed parcel (2.4
ha.) to the lands immediately adjacent to the east. This lot addition will afford unrestricted
access plus additional frontage (225.5 m.) on Skyline Drive for the contiguous eastern lot which
has severe topographic and shared access constraints along its entire frontage on Skyline
Drive. These restrictions totally preclude reasonable access to the adjacent 25.9 ha. (64 acres)
part of Lot 22 Concession 4 (Roll No. 63900), which justifies the need for this lot-addition
consent, as explained later in this report.

For background clarification, the entire property subject of this consent application is part of Lot
21 Concession 4 which was unmerged from its eastern neighbour, part of Lot 22 Concession 4,
on October 25, 2023 by Consent B-032/23. The adjacent eastern vacant lot will continue to form
part of the original retained lands in Consent B-032/23 after it increases in size by 2.4 ha. with
225.5 m. additional frontage achieving good access to Skyline Drive as the benefitting lands
from this consent.

Recommendations

1. The proposed consent and lot addition represent good planning and should be subject of
Official Plan Amendment No. 6 (an available number) to recognize that the consent
results in no new backlot development as the severed parcel will legally merge with the
existing retained lot from a previous consent. This will negative the non-conformance
with the Official Plan under Section 51(24)(c) of the Planning Act with which the
application would otherwise not comply.

36



2

2. The proposed consent and lot addition should be subject of a Zoning By-law

Amendment similar to previous By-law No. 5/2024, Exception Rural Ru-107, to
recognition the lot addition as legally existing on the date of consent approval and to
bring it into conformity with above recommended Official Plan Amendment No. 6.

Basis of Recommendations

1.

Planning Board Review:
The December 10, 2025 Planning Review of this application by LannyD.Planning is well

done, but incomplete and should therefore not be considered as submitted at this point.
It fails to account for Armour Official Plan Amendment No. 5 and Armour Zoning By-law
Amendment No. 5/2024. These Amendments were in compliance with the conditions of
approval for Consent B-32/23 requested in Motion No. 189 of Armour Council on July
11, 2023 and with Conditions 5 and 6 in the approval of Consent B-32/23 issued by the
Planning Board on October 25, 2023.

To be fair, my Report to Armour Council on Consent B-32/23, plus three other related
consent applications, was submitted on September 20, 2023 in the absence of any
planning comments ever received from the Planning Board.

Tests For Amending the Official Plan and Implementing Zoning By-law
Application B-049/25 does not conform with Section 3.1.1(g) of the Armour Official Plan

which states:

“‘Backlot severances are not permitted in the Rural Community or Waterfront Community
areas. Backlot severances shall be defined as development of land by subdivision or
severance or by any other means within 300 metres (1000 feet) of any lake or
substantial creek or river that is separated from that waterbody by a public road or by an
existing Iot of record having a developable area sufficient in size to legally accommodate
development.”

As required under Section 22(5) of the Planning Act and Section 5.5.1 of the Armour
Official Plan:

‘An amendment to Schedule "A" is required to permit the establishment of areas for
uses other than those included in the Land Use Plan, Schedule "A". In considering an
amendment to the Land Use Plan, Schedule "A", to designate additional areas for a
particular use or to change the designated use of a particular area, Council shall have
due regard to the criteria set out in paragraphs (a) to (f) inclusive of this subsection
which are in addition to those specified in the remainder of the Section. These criteria
shall also be considered when reviewing an application to amend the implementing
Zoning By-law to permit a development that is in conformity with this Official Plan.

(a) The need for the proposed use;

(b) The extent to which the existing areas in the proposed categories are developed,
and the nature and adequacy of such existing development;

(c) The physical suitability of the land for such proposed use;

(d) The location of the area under consideration with respect to:

37



(i) The adequacy of the existing and proposed highway system in relation to
the development of such proposed areas;

(ii) The convenience and accessibility of the site for vehicular and pedestrian
traffic and the traffic safety in relation thereto; and

(iii) The adequacy of the potable water supply, sewage disposal facilities, and
other services in view of the policies contained in this Plan and in
accordance with technical reports or recommendations which the Council
shall request from any authority deemed advisable, such as the Ministry
of Environment Conservation & Parks.

(e) The compatibility of the proposed use with uses in adjoining and surrounding
areas; and

] The potential effect of the proposed use on the financial position of the
municipality.

(9) The potential effect of the proposed use upon the natural environment, including
areas of wildlife and fisheries habitat.”

| believe the lot-addition consent application B-049/25 meets all of the above tests with
the exception of Section 5.5.1(a) “need”.. Why does a lot with 1,438.7 m. (4,720 ft.)
frontage on Skyline Drive need more frontage?

The Need For Accessible Frontage

1. Virtually all of Part Lot 22 Concession 4 is occupied by what is known locally as “Gibson
Mountain” whose slopes on all but part of the north side are so steep it requires a person
to go up on “all fours”. Please refer to the attached topographic map for details.

In 2006 while | was locating several private burials in Armour, | was told to follow old tree
blazes up to the Gibson memorial interments, by Les Phinney, the Road Supervisor.
Most of part Lot 22 Concession 4 rises 57 m. (187 ft.) and the top level affords a grand
horizon view including all four islands in Three Mile Lake. The memorial area sits within
a separate parcel (Roll No. 57700) of 2.67 ha., almost 7 acres, which dominates the
level forested summit area. The memorial monument features two plaques which
commemorate William Spurgeon Gibson (1882-1951) and his wife Pearl Menzies
Gibson (1886-1986). She lived 100 years, and was possibly the daughter of R. H.
Menzies, the fifth Reeve of Armour c.1885.

2. The only level area for building on part Lot 22 Concession 4 is in the northwest quadrant
adjacent to the area of Consent B-32/23 which is level and proposed for lot-addition
Consent B-049/25 which will thereby afford it reasonable access to Skyline Drive.

3. Another alternative location for access to Lot 22 Concession 4 is a small triangular area
in its southeast extremity but that is currently being transected by a driveway or trail
which goes north all the way to Russell Lake. Its unknown if there are rights-of-way over
this trail but its location is a serious deterrent to building in this area. Please refer to the
attached properties map by Planscape.

38



4. Another possible but impractical access would be via the South Armour Colonization

Road which is likely reserved in the original patents from the Crown and might be owned
by Armour Township. This road is currently used as the driveway access to the
residence of Peter Edwards on the east side of Lot 24, Concession 4 and the PIN
mapping shows the Edwards have a right-of-way (LT127614) over part of this old
roadway. The point where this old road intersects with Skyline Drive has been given the
municipal number 647 which Edwards uses as his local address. Please see the old PIN
map attached.

It might be possible to make use of additional lands owned by the applicants as part of
Lot 23, Concession 4 which is also part of the Retained Lands in approved consent B-
032/23 but my sense is the legal complications of dealing with the South Armour
Colonization Road would be legally complex. The road actually proceeds easterly and
south to the point where it meets Cherry Hill Road and given the municipal address of
460 at that point and used by several land owners in the same fashion as the Edwards
do at the Skyline Drive terminus. All o the old pioneer area served by the South Armour
Colonization Road was known as the Orange Valley Community which flourished with
farmsteads and lumbering until abandoned by 1935. The Orange Valley Hunt Camp is
the only original building surviving.

Conclusion

In my view, the proposed lot-addition Consent B-049/25 represents good planning; is the most
economical and viable approach to meeting the access needs of the benefitting lands; and
should therefore be approved by the Planning Board.

Documents Reviewed

Armour Township Official Plan and OPA 5

Provincial Planning Statement 2024 and the Planning Act

Armour Township Zoning By-law and Amendment No. 5/2024

Sut sP ou d District Planning Board, Application for Consent, ark & Susan
Armstrong, October 9, 2025 and Notice of Application For Consent, File B-049/25,
November 4, 2025

Planning Review-Armstrong-Consent-B-049/25, LannyD.Planning, December 10, 2025
Edward Veldboom, South Armour Colonization Road, letter Theriault, April 5, 2024
Survey, Armour, District of Parry Sound, Walter Beatty, P.L.S. July 6, 1876, Rod
Blakelock collection

Map, Ontario Commissioner of Crown Lands, Colonization Roads 1857-1910, Tim
Bryson Collection

Respectfully submitted,

Robert J. Miller

39



40




1
Y
kY
A
A

O RE RETMD |
porevmmo o

AXASITS MDA
wrn

"
/ o

\
A
\
o1
concasion

‘THREE MILE LAKE
A
AR}

o vapnin

MAY 10, 2023
© Tt Pan s rotectad by Comrghe-

al;ﬁNSCAP

‘wholeor i pat withodt ozt fram Paneage .

SCALE | PROJECT NOJ DATE INITIATED | BY

°

1:10

8y
m

worn
comcesiona

DATE

MINISTRY OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND FORESTRY -

pS-JuN-2023
MAKE A TOPOGRAPHIC MAP

1.

41

TO BE RETAINED

LANDS TO BE CONVEYED TO
TO SCALE - FOR VISUAL

Dwmsmltswm
L

PURPOSES ONLY.
APPROXIMATE.

THIS DRAWING (S FOR ILLUSTRATION
MAKE A TOPOGRAPHIC MAP
INOT BE TREATED AS SUCH.

THIS IS NOT A PLAN OF SURVEY AND

NOTE:
(CONSENT LINES ARE RE-ESTABLISHING
PREVIOUSLY SEPARATED LOT LINES.

SEVERANCE SKETCH & OFFICIAL
PLAN AMENDMENT SKETCH

723 SKYLINE DRIVE
[PART LOT 21, CONCESSION3 & 4




\,

AN

SCHEDULE

N PART LOT/BLOCK CONCESSION/
\ \\ 1 PART
\ 2 LOT 21 4 PART €
)\ \\ AR 15 P PSRo1ese 3 PART OF B C REGISTERED PLAN -237  PART ¢
_ ‘ =19
_ \ LoT 1 b | —
N feRerssioe v \ SSIB(UIM) CONCESSION & 815
Nog2125  P2) A, PN ~. 52147 — 0405
1 NG5 25'95°F (M) pRY 29 ORIGINAL ROAD A OWANC BE EN CONCESSIONS 4 AND 5
5- n'a‘.zi,;“(rr 2‘:,5“;1‘111/ r Se(Fas, \Q}\\ sse” Neraztoe | BT
] " 0:58 9.0 M
N T ON /[ 3027 qo N Gy g, SONCESSION 4 530,
\ \’ o 451 X / P 2 \ :\; S e, 2. R A ) LoT 21, oo 4 5 o
™~
2 L7 e Dt i79 b o tes E &
by LR 2 &Y s ~ 4 a}’%/@ 5 3
- 3
¥ 5R—~7772 N // 9 ¥ M, TO NSHIP OF AR OUR
Zh Vs . 2, B BROKEN LOT 21 Bz
/\,%\ . &0% 3E° =
S, ™ ) 9 . &8 PIN 52147 -
’e%\ P \&8.3 %, PART 1
° 7 Vi %
/ l\'\ ) L] E
A 4 P
\9 / s B
/ a3
2 ,\ ¢
/ - & :.-5& R 9— 0
$ s vk
// d l} oy 95 L9 .
/ P%s ‘Y:"
7 NG - q.& 0, §
& AT % PRt 2 g
A I % . ]
h ) -
~ o N, . >
o Ao S L@~ e § e, :
Ch‘hﬂh v \k? N T o 4 :
/ o 2 12060 2 S5 £
( 4/;’ // ,\r{,‘ / o 7‘4‘:“9’}3/” 2 4?@# §
/ L v -..___47*025’3\ %,
NN PNy S B
/ AR AN
SN & &,
/S // o y L <
78S N e
) N\
ARE UTM GRID DERVED FROM O REFERENCE PONTS A AND 8 // Y >\
BY PASE/ROVER GPS OBSERVATIONS, AN ARE THE ERI ™ O S N %
E1 (800 LONGITUDE), (CSRS)(ZO‘ID.O). / r{’\ X
7S )\
AND NATES SH ™S IN METRES AND CAN BE CONVERTED ~
TO FEET  DMIDING BY 03048, VS
ROUND DIST HEREON _ BE CONVERTED TO  GRID BY MULTIPLYN BY AN
A COMBINED SCALE FACTOR OF 0.8 9763, 4 O
\‘9) p
A ROTATION F OF 11 '00" COUNTER BEEN APPLIED TO THME MiC \(gj
UNDER YiNG P. Pl P2, P3T0ACCO  FOR D £
MERIDIANS. —
Q
\
%
. 1%
DENOTES _ UND MENT 42 \
O DENOTES PLUNTED M M @
R TFS NARD IRON RAR [3Y]



LO“ (l‘

7
3 .
| ,
\ \0 e | :
\ ’ L011
A Lo‘ |
3 1
v Lo‘
d’um Jot
\ \ S A 55‘0“
of P o oo
% R G:h‘e“ﬁow
0?50 > % \ - )
% )
P % . \ ! 1‘
V)
wo® SO ’ " ) %-
Al { % ¢ s ! \ ’ ’
ot
ot?
oﬂ } 14 g
" | \}“ p“e“ 0\} Oi‘?’ A OT?’ %
| ?\“e& g \,01 T 55\°“
0
oN L |
ot ® g
01 ‘s 90'|G o 73
0030 ‘p‘ \—0‘} \,O‘
1 ﬂ Oﬂ
L1 vt
. i W
) ‘s {\J\ \.01 B u
N . \ \0°
u W o 1
L o
s . 21,0 . ”“PP“(&"‘ Ge
. N + \0“1 j \
e Jg ) D\Nw
e . NTE
\.0115

43



- ? APPENDIX D

DISTRICT OF PARRY SOUND
560 ARIO STREET (705) 382-3332
PO BOX 533 (705) 382-2954
BURK'S FALLS, ON Fax: (705) 382-2068
POA 1C0 Email: admin@armourtownship. a
' Website: www.armourtownship.ca
Date: January 13, 2026

otion# 2026-3

That the Council of the Township of Armour hereby support the consent application B-049/25,
Part Lot 21, Concession 4, 723 Skyline Drive submitted by ark and Susan Amstrong for a
lot addition subject to the following conditions:

1. That the owner obtain approval of an Official Plan Amendment to recognize that the
consent results in no new lot for development, as the severed parcel shall merge with
the abuttin- benefitting lan , ad re sin n n nformity ith Sectio 3.1.1(g) of the
Official Plan and Section 51(24)(c) of the Planning Act.

2. That the owner obtain approval of a Zoning By-law Amendment, similar in intent to By-
la No. 5-2024 (Exception Rural RU-107), to recognize the lot addition as legally
existing as of the date of consent approval and to bring the lands into conformity with
Official Plan Amendment.

3. That the consent be approved for lot addition purposes only, and that the severed lands
shall not be conveyed separately or developed independently and shall merge in title
with the benefitting abutting lands.

4. That a digital copy of the final reference plan be provided to the Township

5. That the transfer of the severed lands be completed concurrently with or immediately
following the required conveyance, such that the severed lands legally merge with the
benefitting parcel and remain as one lot for all planning purposes.

oved by: Blakelock, Rod O  Seconded by: Blakelock, Rod 0
Brandt, Jerry O Brandt, Jerry {
Haggart-Davis, u/ Haggart-Davis,

Dorothy Dorothy
Ward, Rod O Ward, Rod a
Whitwell, Wendy a Whitwell, Wendy a

Carried/ feated

Declaration of Pecuniary Interest by:

44



DISTRICT OF PARRY SOUND

56 ONTARIO STREET
PO BOX 533
BURK’S FALLS, ON
POA 1C0

Date: January 13, 2026

Recorded vote requested by:

Recorded Vote:

Blakel ck, Rod

Brandt, Jerry

Haggart-Davis, Dorothy

Ward, Rod

Whitwell, Wendy

oooooy

45

(705) 382-3332

(705) 382-2954

Fax: (705) 382-2068

Email: admin@armourtownship.ca
Website: www.armourtownship.ca



5
Charlene Watt (Degug Clerk)

From: Robert J. Miller <plansifter@gmail.com>

Sent: February 19, 2026 11:01 AM

To: Charlene Watt (Deputy Clerk)

Cc: Leah

Subject: Shipping containers zoning provisions need updating
Hi Charlene-

| was asked to build a free-standing zoning by-law with shipping container provisions in another municipality and
discovered that Armour's By-law is now out of date. | would suggest that Council authorize me to draft the required
update to the Definitions and General Provisions for shipping container uses as | prepared the original 26/2017.

Background

About four years ago the City of Hamilton was having legal issues with builders converting shipping containers into
dwelling units with no building permits. The controversy ended up before the courts which were tasked with deciding
"when does a shipping container become a building or structure subject to a Building Permit?" The subsequent court
order imposed limitations on the Ontario Building Code (OBC) to no longer require Building Permits for shipping
containers less than 15 m2 (161.5 sq.ft.) in floor area. Effective May 1st, 2022 the Province subsequently amended the
OBC to increase the floor area of buildings and structures which do not require a building permit to 15 m2 (161.5 sq.ft.).

In addition the OBC now recognizes shipping containers which range in floor area from 161 to 320 square feet, as
"structures" when used on land. In other words, the construction or placement of any shipping container over 15 m2
(161.5 sq.ft.) in floor area now requires a Building Permit, by court order. The smaller shipping containers do not.

Therefore a shipping container is a shipping container unless it exceeds 15 m2 in floor area when it becomes a building
or a structure, depending on how those words are defined in the Zoning By-law.

Shipping containers come in various sizes. The most common is 8 feet by 20 feet (160 sq. ft. or 14.87 m2). Therefore,
after May 1, 2022 under the OBC the majority of shipping containers no longer require building permits and thereby
must not be zoned as a "building" or "structure" in conformity with the OBC. Accordingly, the Township can no longer
legalize them as a buildings or structures as they do not meet the requirements for building permits under the OBC.

Under Armour Zoning By-law Amendment No. 26/2017 provisions for shipping containers were added to the
comprehensive Armour Zoning By-law as Definitions Section 2.176.1 and General Provisions Section 5.24.1. These
Sections now require updating to reflect the 2022 revised OBC regulations. Certain provisions in the Zoning By-law
referring to Site Plan Control are also in need of revision.

In my view, the basic solution to this problem with the Zoning By-law is to only permit shipping containers less than 15
m2 (161.5 sq.ft.) in floor area as accessory uses for storage purposes on an existing lot. And only permit them where a
permitted principal use already exists on that lot.

Bob

Nothing in this post, or in any attachment created by me, was influenced or synthesized by Attificial Intelligence (Al) software.
Robert J. Miller, UE

Consulting Land Use Planner

905.468.0582 Cell/Text 289.213.4421

46



ZONING BY-LAW NO. 26-2017
A BY-LAW TO AMEND
ZONING BY-LAW NO. 27-95 as amended

(Shipping Containers)

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Box 533
Burk's Falls, Ontario
POA 1CO

Planning Consultant:

Robert J. Miller
Professional Land Use Planner

47



EXPLANATORY NOTE
To Zoning By-law No. 26-2017

Passed by the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Township of Armour

Lands Affected: This By-law applies to all lots of record in Armour Township zoned Rural
(Ru), Commercial (C), Recreational Commercial (RC), Rural Industrial (M),
and Industrial Extractive (MX) Zones.

By-Law Purpose: The purpose of this Amendment is to restrict and control the location and use
of shipping containers in Armour Township.

Official Plan: The proposed Zoning By-law amendment conforms with the regulations
of the Armour Township Official Plan.

48



ZONING BY-LAW NO. 26-2017

THE = UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Being a By-law under the provisions of Sections 34 of the Planning Act, R.S.0. 1990, to amend
Zoning By-law No. 27-95, as amended, of the Municipal Corporation of the Township of Armour
with respect to provisions applying to the use of shipping containers in the Rural (Ru), Commercial
(C), Recreational Commercial (RC), Rural Industrial (M), and Industrial Extractive (MX) Zones.

WHEREAS THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR has reviewed
Zoning By-law No. 27-95, as amended, and deems it advisable to amend same:

NO THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE MUNICIP L CORPO TIO OF THETO SHI
OF ARMOUR ENACTS as follows:

1.

THAT Section 2 Definitions is hereby amended by adding a new Section 2.176.1 as follows:

“Shipping Container" means an enclosed metal structure designed to facilitate the
transportation of goods by several different means of transportation, and shall include
intermodal shipping containers, transport truck trailers, and straight truck boxes, but does
not include any vehicle as defined herein.” and

THAT Section 5 General Provisions Applicable In All Zones is hereby amended by adding a

new Section 5.24.1 as follows:

"Shipping Containers"

Shipping containers are permitted in the Rural (Ru), Commercial (C), Recreational
Commercial (RC), Rural Industrial (M), and Industrial Extractive (MX) Zones provided that:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Shipping containers a | require a bui ding permit and shal only be permitted as an
accessory use on a lot where a principal use already exists;

Unless stated elsewhere in this By-law, shipping containers are only permitted for
accessory storage purposes, based on lot area at a rate of one (1) shipping
container per 0.4ha (1 ac.) or part thereof to a maximum of four (4). In no case is a
shipping container permitted on a lot having an area of less than 0.4ha (1 ac.);

No shipping container shall be used for human habitation, home industry or any
occupation or business;

Any change of use or exterior finishes for a shipping container shall require a
building permit and site plan control under Section 41 of the Planning Act,

No shipping container shall exceed a height of 3m (10 ft.) or a total length of 16.76m
(55 ft.);

49



) A shipping container shall only be located in the rear yard and shall be located no
closer than 30m (98 ft.) to any street line;

(9) A shipping container is permitted in the driveway of a residential property for the
purpose of temporary loading or unloading of household items during the process of
moving and for a period not exceeding five (5) days. Such temporary shipping
containers shall not exceed a maximum height of 3.0 m (10 ft.) and a maximum
length of 6.1m (20 ft.). And no temporary shipping container shall encroach onto a
public sidewalk or locate closer than 0.3m (1 ft.) from the curb or shoulder in
situations where no sidewalk exists, and no shipping container shall create a site
line obstruction;

(h) A shipping container shall be screened from view from the street and abutting
properties and shall not encroach into any required landscaping buffer;

(i) A shipping container shall be included in all calculations for the purpose of
determining maximum lot coverage;

)] A shipping container shall not be located in a required parking area;
(k) A shipping container shall not be placed for the purpose of display or advertising;

()] A shipping container shall not be used for the purpose of a commercial storage
facility;

(m)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this By-law, a shipping container is permitted
on a construction site being developed for a single structure or as a plan of
subdivision/condo for temporary storage of equipment and materials incidental to
construction only, and for a temporary period not to exceed one year; and

THAT this By-law shall come into force on the date it is passed by the Council of the

Municipal Corporation of the Township of Armour, subject to the provisions of the Planning
Act, R.S.0., 1990.

Read a FIRST TIME this _ 9%  day of May , 2017.

Read a SECOND TIME this _9" _ day of May , 2017.

Read a THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this _ 9" dayof __May , 2017.

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Original signed by Bob MacPhail Reeve
Original signed by Wendy Whitwell Clerk-Administrator

50



TH UNIC PAL CORPORATION O HE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

BY-LAW #11-2026

Being a By-law to appoint the Chief Building Official and Inspectors under
the Building Code Act, 1992, S.0. 1992, c.23, as amended, for the purposes
of enforcement of the said Act.

WHEREAS sub ecton 3(1) f the Building Cod Act, 1992, S.0. 1992, ¢.23, as
amended, (the ‘Act” , provides that the Council of each municipality is responsible
for the enforcement fthe Act in the municipality;

AND WHEREAS subsection 3(2) of the Act provides that the Council of each
municipality shall appoint a Chief Building Official and Inspectors for the purposes
of the enforcement of the Act in the areas where the municipality has jurisdiction;

AND WHEREAS pu suant to section 77 of the Legislation Act, 2006, the Council is
empowered to appoint a Deputy Chief Building Official for the purpose of the
enforcement of the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended;

AND WHEREAS it is deemed expedient to appoint the officials mentioned as
aforesaid;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Municipal Corporation of the Township of
Armour enacts as follows:

1. Andrew McGee is hereby appointed Chief Building Official for the purpose of the
enforcement of the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended, and the regulations
thereunder, in the Township of Armour.

For the purpose of enforcement of the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended,
in addition to any other remedies available under the Act or the Building Code,
the Chief Buildi g Official is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of The
Municipal Corporation of the Township of Armour, limiting distance agreements
as provided for in the Building Code.

2. The power of appointment of inspectors, including the revocation of
appointment, under section 3(2) of the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended,
for the purposes of enforcement of the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended,
and any regulations thereunder is hereby delegated from the Municipal Council
to the Chief Building Official for the Township of Armour, subject to the following
conditions:

a. The Chief Building Official must maintain a current list, which shall be
provided to the Clerk, of all inspectors appointed under section 3 of the
Building ode Act, 1992, as amended, for the p rpose of enforcement of
the Building Code Act, 1992, as amended, in the Township of Armour;
and,

b. Prior to their appointment, each candidate for appointment as inspector
must hold the necessary legislated qualifications for the position to which
they are to be appointed.

3. That this By-law repeals By-law #30-2024.

4. That this By-law shall come into force and effect on the date of passing.

Read in its entir ty, approved,

signed and the seal of the Rod Ward, Mayor
Corporation affixed thereto and

finally passed in open Council

this 24" day of Fe ruary, 2026.

Charlene Watt, Municipal Clerk

51



THE UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR
BY-LAW #12-2026

BEING A BY-LAW TO ENTER INTO A SHARED SERVICE
AGREE: ENT WITH THE TOWN OF HUNTSVILL , THE TOWNSHIP
OF PERRY ND THE TOWNSHIP OF LAKE OF BAYS FOR THE
SERVICES OF CHIEF BUILDING OFFICIALS/BUILDING
INSPECTORS FOR THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

WHEREAS Section 20(1) of the Municipal Act, S.0. 2001, c. 25, as amended,
allows a municipality to enter into an agreement with one or more
municipalities for their joint benefit, any matter which all of them have the
power to provide within their own boundaries;

AND WHEREAS Section 8(1) of the Municipal Act, S.0. 2001, c. 25, as
amended, enables a municipality to govern its affairs as it considers
appropriate and to enhance the municipality's ability to respond to municipal
issues;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE
UNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR HEREBY
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. THAT the Mayor and Clerk are hereby authoriz d to execute the
Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule “A”

2. THAT the att ched Agreement, Appendices, and Schedules shall form
part of this By-law

3. THAT the Ag eement, attached hereto as Schedu e “A”, entered into
between the Town of Huntsville, the Township of Armour, the Township
of Lake of Bays and the Township of Perry are hereby ratified and
confirmed when signed by all parties.

4. THAT all con itions of the attached Agreement will r main in effect until
the Agreement is terminated, as outlined in Schedule “A”.

Read in its entirey, approved,

signed and the seal of the Rod Ward, Mayor
Corporation affixed thereto and

finally passed in open Council

this 24t day of Feb uary, 2026.

Charlene Watt, Clerk

52



By-law #12-2026

Schedule "A"
BUILDING INSPECTION SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT
Made effective this day of , 2026
BETWEEN:
THE COR ORATION OF THE TOWN OF HUNTSVILLE
-and-
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF LAKE OF BAYS
-and-
THE CO PORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PERRY
-and-

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR

WHEREAS each municipality employs a Chief Building Official (CBO) and
may employ one or more additional officers and inspectors, as defined by the
Building Code Act, to carry out the responsibilities therein;

AND WHEREAS from time to time a municipality may experience a temporary
reduction in staff availability or a temporary increase in the need for inspection
services, at a time when another municipality may have st ff who could assist;

AND WHEREAS this Agreement is made to ensure that each municipality can
maintain an approp iate level of inspection services for its inhabitants, by
obtaining temporary assistance from the staff of one or more municipalities;

AND WHEREAS this Agreement is made pursuant to Sections 8 and 20 of
the Municipal Act, S.0. 2001, c. 25;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants herein
contained and other good and valuable consideration the arties hereto agree
as follows:

1. Qualifications:
Each municip lity will ensure that its CBO and those Inspectors whose
services are made available pursuant to this Agreement are properly
qualified to carry out their responsibilities at all times; in accordance
with the Building Code Act and Regulations, as they are amended from
time to time.

2. Appointmen :

Each municipality will provide .in advance to the others, the names of
the persons whose services are to be made availa le pursuant to this
Agreement, and each municipality will enact a By-law appointing all of
those persons as Inspectors for the purpose of carrying out the terms
of this Agreement. The By-law will specify that the appointment ceases
upon that person no longer being qualified as set out in paragraph one,
or upon the unicipality withdrawing from this Agreement.

3. Request for ervice
A CBO of a municipality requiring an Inspector to provide services on a
temporary basis may forward a request by e-mail to the CBO of another
municipality specified in this agreement. Such requests will contain:
(a) The property address and directions to it;

(b) The type of inspection requested;

(c) The permit number and a general explanation of the construction
authorize by the permit;

(d) The name and telephone number of the contractor, if any;

(e) The name and telephone number of the owner; and,

() Any othe information necessary to enable the recipient to
understand precisely what is requested of the | spector.

53



Services

At the request of the CBO of a municipality requiring an Inspector to
provide such services, the CBO of the municipality receiving such
request will proceed as outline in Appendix 'A’, atta hed hereto.

Compensati n

A municipalit which receives services pursuant to this Agreement will
compensate the municipality which provides those services at a rate
set out in Ap endix 'B', attached hereto.

Liability

(a) Prior to the commencement of this Agreement, and for the entire
duration t ereof, each party to the Agreement shall obtain and
maintain i surance coverage as outlined below, provided by (an)
insurance company(ies) licensed to transact business in the
Province of Ontario and of satisfactory financial standing to the
other parti s. Evidence of such insurance shall be provided by each
party to the remaining two (2) parties in the form of a Certificate of
Insurance signed by an authorized signatory prior to the
commencement of this Agreement and annually thereafter for the
duration of the Agreement and as otherwise specified below.

i. Commercial General Liability insurance policy with limit of not
less than $5,000,000 per occurrence/$5,000 000 aggregate that
insures against third party claims for bodily injury (including
death), personal injury and/or property damage as a result of
actual r alleged negligence of the requested CBO while acting
on behalf of the requesting party. This policy shall include:

(a) The remaining two (2) parties as Additional Insured;

(b) Cross Liability/ Severability of Inte ests clause;

(c) Contractual Liability;

(d) Minimum thirty (30) day's written notice of cancellation
or non-renewal to the Municipality.

ii. Non-Owned Automobile Liability (SPF 6) insurance policy
with limit of not less than $5,000,000.

iii. Professional Liability insurance policy with imit of not less than
$5,000,000 per claim / $10,000,000 aggregate that insures
agains third party claims that arise out of alleged or actual
wrongful acts and/or errors and omissions of the requested CBO
while acting on behalf of the requesting party. If written on a
claims-made form, such insurance must be kept in force for a
minimum of two (2) years following the completion / termination
of the Agreement.

Absence of BO

When a CBO is absent, the person carrying out the unction of the CBO
in the municipality is authorized to exercise the responsibilities of the
CBO pursuant to this Agreement.

Termination
A municipality may withdraw from this Agreement at any time, on the
following basis:

(a) The CBO is hereby authorized to give notice by e-mail to the other
Municipalities, and the notice takes effect immediately;

(b) With respect to an inspection for which the Inspector is at the job
site carrying out the inspection when such notice is given, the
completion of that inspection will be carried out pursuant to this
Agreeme t;

54



10.

(c) Each municipality will determine the compensation due to it and due
by it, which involves the municipality that is withdrawing, will submit
an invoice within 15 days, and any net balance will be paid by or to
the withdrawing municipality within 30 days thereafter.

Temporary ervices Only

This Agreement is for temporary services only and s not to be used by
a municipality to substitute for the employment of a staff member whose
services wo Id have been required on a long-term basis if this
Agreement has not been signed.

Subsequent Parties

Other Municipalities may, with the written consent of the existing parties

to this agreement, become parties to this Agreement by:

(a) Providing a written agreement to be bound by the terms of this
Agreeme t as if an original signing party;

(b) Complying with Schedule 'A' and 'B' of this Agreement; and,

(c) Providing n e-mail address for its CBO.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]

55



Executed by the To n of Huntsville this day of 2026

THE C RPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HUNTSVILLE

Mayor
Clerk

We have the authority to bind the Corporation.
Executed by the To nship of Lake of Bays this day of 2026

THE CORPOR TION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF LAK OF BAYS

Mayor
Clerk

We have the authority to bind the Corporation.
Executed by the Township of Perry this day of 2026

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PERRY

Mayor
Clerk

We have the authority to bind the Corporation.
Executed by the Township of Armour this day of 2026

THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR

Mayor

Clerk
We have the authority to bind the Corporation.

56



By-law #12-2026
Appendix “A”

At the request of the CBO of a municipality requiring an Inspector on his/her behalf,
the services provide shall include and will proceed as fol ows:

subject to meeting the requirements of his/her own municipality first, an
Inspector shall us their best efforts to provide an In pector to assist the
other municipality;

shall provide n e-mailed response, within a reasonable time frame, as to
availability for inspection;

request by the same response any additional information necessary to
properly instruct the Inspector;

the Inspector who has carried out an inspection shall promptly forward an
e-mail report o the requesting CBO, which shall include, but not be limited
to, the inspec ors name, permit number, the time and date of the
inspection, th results of the inspection and the amount of time spent and
mileage incurred by the inspector; and,

in accordance with Appendix "B", Inspectors shall keep a log of the dates,

times and mileage incurred in correspondence with inspections done in
shared servic .

57



By-law #12-2026
Appendix “B”

HOURS: Regular Business Hours — Monday to Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.
BILLABLE HOURLY RATE: $68.79/hr

The billable hourly rate shall be increased annually beginning in 2021 by
calculating the CPI ear over year for the preceding 12 months, with October
being the base month. When advised of the adjustment in writing, the parties
agree that such advice will amend this article.

ileage
Mileage shall be ch rged at the CRA Automobile Allowance Rate for the year in
which the mileage pertains. The calculation of mileage shall begin with the
Inspectors departure from their respective Municipal Office.

58



By-law #12-2026
Schedule “B”

List of Staff from Other unicipalities Appointed as Building
Officials/Inspector for the Township of Armour

TOWN OF HUNTS ILLE

Christopher Nagy — hief Building Official

Amanda Ferrante — anager of Building Inspections
Adam Hall- Building inspector

Curtis Martin- Building inspector

Adrian Asselbergs- Building inspector

TOWNSHIP OF LAKE OF BAYS

Taeke Peereboom — Director of Building & Bylaw services
Jackie Murphy — Deputy Chief Building Official

Brad Shadlock — Bu Iding Official

TOWNSHIP OF PERRY

Mike Wilmon — Chief Building Official
Amanda Savage — Building Official

59



<
Charlene Watt (DeEusx Clerk)

From: Siegel, Tina (MMAH) <Tina.Siegel@ontario.ca>

Sent: February 6, 2026 9:56 AM

To: Charlene Watt

Subject: Armour 2025 Municipal Financial Indicator Threshold and Profile
Attachments: FITC25_Armour Tp.pdf; MFP25_Armour Tp.pdf

Dear Municipal Treasurer,

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing reviews each municipality’s financial health through the use of
key financial indicators which are compared to established provincial thresholds. Please find attached the
financial indicator threshold report that as been calculated using your 024 Financial Information Return
(FIR) data.

The formulas (SLC references and calculations) are included in the report for all indicators to provide you with
the FIR schedule, line, and column that we have drawn the data from.

For each financial indicator, medians and averages have been calculated for comparator groupings relevant to
your municipality. Please note that medians and averages reflect the FIRs submitted at the time your
municipality’s indicators were generated.

Although financial indicators may provide important information about a municipality’s fiscal health, it is
important to remember that they only provide a financial snapshot at a particular moment in time, should
never be used in isolation and instead should be supported with other information and local knowledge.

Also enclosed with the financial indicator template is the Municipal Financial Profile for your

municipality. The profile spreadsheet contains data points from the FIR, as well as a variety of calculations
based on the FIR information. Other information comes from sources such as, the Municipal Property
Assessment Corporation (MPAC), Statistics Canada and the On-Line Property Tax Analysis (OPTA) system.

60



Section 294 (1) of the Municipal Act states that the treasurer of a municipality shall in each year provide the
Minister with a return containing information designated by the Minister with respect to the financial affairs
of the municipality. This takes the form of the annual Financial Information Return (FIR).

This year, Armour had 1 indicator that was within the “moderate” level of risk - total taxes receivable.
Please let me know if you have any questions.

All the best, Tina

Tina Siegel

A/Municipal Advisor - Municipal and Housing Operations

Municipal Services Office - North

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing | Ontario Public Service
705-280-5436 | tina.siegel@ontario.ca

4™ Floor, Suite 401

159 Cedar Street
Sudbury ON P3E 6A5

Ontario 9

Taking pride in strengthening Ontario, its places and its people



69,500

76 94.2%
3,3 ,445

I

¢

2020 9.4% 11.3% 13.2% LOW
1 7.2% 9.4% 10.8%
To ITaxesRece blel n f b I.?w- 1o% 202 Low
To IT : 1 to15% 2022 9.0% 9.0% 10.7% LowW
High*  15% 2023 17.4% 10.1% 11.5% HIGH
2024 11.1% 10.8% 13.9% MODERATE
2020 54.5% 61.1% 65.1% Low
Low: > -50% 2021 66.3% 67.4% 72.5% Low
NtFi «cil tsor etDebt % of Own Source Revenues Mod: -50% to -100% 2022 70.1% 70.1% 69.6% LOW
High: < 100% 2023 74.1% 39.6% 37.9% Low
2024 68.0% 30.4% 25.0% Low
2020 57.2% 63.2% £7.8% Low
. 2021 69.6% 68.7% 72.6% Low
To |Reserves and Discretio Reserve ”ol:vzo; 30020% X
Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses o A2 2022 68.4% 64.3% 73.1% Low
gh: < 2023 76.9% 61.5% 64.2% Low
2024 79.6% 60.6% 67.1% LOW
2020 666.5% 652.5% 714.6% Low
: 2021 575.9% 693.2% 777.4% Low
sh Ratio (Total Cash and  h Equivalents s % of Current ."‘fw > 0% i
Liabilities) Mgd: 50% to 25% 2022 564.1% 609.4% 658.5% Low
High: < 25% 013 630.5% 642.3% 757.0% Low
2024 659.9% 651.9% 708.6% LOW
FLEXIBILITY INDICATORS
2020 1.3% 2.6% 2.9% Low
Low: < 5% 2021 1.3% 2.1% 2.2% Low
Debt Servicing Cost % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) Mod: 5% to 10% 2022 1.2% 2.1% 2.1% LowW
High: >10% 2023 1.1% 2.5% 2.6% Low
2024 1.2% 3.1% 2.8% Low
0 4. % 53.8% 52.6% L0
: 2021 41.2% 53.1% 53.6% LOW
Closing Amortization lance asa % of To | Cost of Capital Assets m:‘;o; m”;s%
(Asset Consumption Ratio) o 2022 41.9% 52.1% 55.2% Low
o 2023 42.9% 49.8% 51.7% Low
2024 41.5% 50.7% 51.8% LOowW
2020 20.1% 13.8% 16.1% Low
Annu 1 Surplus / @eficit % of Own Source Revenues Low: > -1% 2021 13.2% 11.4% 18.4% Low
Mod: -1% to -30% 2022 12.6% 17.3% 20.9% Low
High: < -30% 2023 16.1% 13.2% 17.4% LOW
2024 8.9% 14.6% 15.0% Low

ces s e s 4 . . 20 - o o v o e0e .e . Y]

. L] ¢ 0 o0 - o .- o e s I B a0

Printed: 2026-01-23 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 10f3



a [4 i e b §
c
i c tcanc an L Un eec in hi i t
i s’ fin ciloli tios r tofi se ‘cec i tso ep lican ia "Lo 't n tcr r,
t ndot s.

Ixiilty rovid is tsimoh agovernmen m nages its finances. In reasing tax tién or user fees may educe a munic palit s
flexi ittyt spond ena ers ircumst nces develop if the municipality appro ches the limit that * "ze and businesses are
willing.tob ar v
A mu icipality may tem ra ‘ly use current borrowing, subject to the requirements set out in the Municipal Act to meet expen s
and certain other amounts required in the year, un il taxes re collected and other revenues are received. Municipal.curren borrowing
can ot be carried over the l n term or converted to lon term borrowin except in very limited circums&;ances.

®  For each element of finangial co dition, the report on indicators of financial condition should include municipality-specific indicators
and municipality-related indicators. It ay be useful to alsoincl e gconomy-wide information hen discussin financial con ition.

Additional Notes on what Financial Indicators may indicate:

Total Taxes Receivable less Allowance for Uncollectibles as a % of Total Taxes Levied - Shows how much of the taxes billed are not collected.
et Financial Asse or Net D bt as % of Own Source Revenues - indicates h w much property tax and user fee reven e isse cing de t
Reserves and Reserve Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses - Indicates how much money is set aside for future needs and contingencies.

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) - indicates how much cash and liquid investments could be available to cover current
obligations.

Debt Servicing Cost as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) - Indicates how much of each dollar raised in revenue is spent on paying down existing debt.

Closing Amortization Balance as a % or Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) - Indicates how much of the assets’ life expectancy has been
consumed.

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Source Revenues - Indicates the municipality’s ability to cover its operational costs and have
funds available for othei purposes (e.g. reserves, debt repayment, etc.)

The Northern and Rural Municipal Fiscal Circumstances Index (MFCI) is used by the Ministry of Finance to calculate the “Northern and Rural Fiscal
Circumstances Grant” aimed at northern as well as single and lower-tier rural municipalities. The index measures a municipality’s fiscal circumstances. The MFCI is determined
by six indicators: Weighted Assessment per Household, Median ousehold Income, Average Annual Change in Assessment (New Construction), Employment Rate, Ratio of
Working Age to Dependent Population, and’Per Cent of Population Above Low-Income Threshold. A lower MFCI corres nds to relatively sitive fiscal circumstances, whereas
a higher MFCI corresponds to more challenging fiscal circumstances. (Note: the MFCI index is only availablé for northern and rural municipalities)

Printed: 2026-01-23 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 20f3



FINANCIAL INDICATOR REVIEW

(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)
Armour Tp

A A [ ]

Total Taxes Rec. less Allowance for Uncollectibles as % of Total Taxes Levied SLC 70 0699 01 / (SLC 26 9199 03 - SLC 72 2899 09)

) SLC 70 9945 01 / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 -
Net Financial Assets or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 - SLC 10 1813 01-
SLC 10 1814 01 - SL.C 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

Total Reserves and Reserve Funds as a % of Municipal Expenses (SLC 60 2099 02+SLC 0 2099 03)/(SLC 40 9910 11-SLC 12 9910 03-SLC 12 9910 07)
Cash Ratio (T ta Cash and Cash Equivalents as a % of Current Liabilities) SLC 70 0299 01 / (SLC 70 20 9 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)
Debt Servicing Cost as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) (SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)
Closing Amortization Balance as a % or Total Cost of Capital Assets (Asset Consumption Ratio) SLC 51 9910 10/ SLC 51 9910 06
(SLC 10 2099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 -
Annual Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Source Revenues SL 10 899 01 - SLC 10 1098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 - SLC 10 1811 01 - SLC 10 1812 01 -

SLC 10 1813 01- SLC 10 1814 01 - SLC 10 1830 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

Printed: 2026-01-23 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 30f3



[P NN Accepted Clean - . 1,087 69,500
™e - Northeast September 10, 2025 LA ] 1,459 1,141,933
Sl ez [ 7.6 8,020,462
. .
2020 2021 2022
FY2o Fy21
Population - 1,414 1,459 1,459 1,459 . 9 1,535 46,583 0.0% o 0.0% 3.2%
Households 1,080 1,087 1,087 1,087 1,087 982 18,334 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
1 Expenses *7 $ 3,84437% § 4044376 § 4,366,369 § 4,571,388 $ 4,743,686 $ 5425418 § 206,177,274
Own Saurce Revanues S 3,282,557 § 3,380,993 § 3,614,525 § 3,920,956 $ 3,978,243 § 4,197,293 § 153,1
Ovm Source Reve per Housahold $ 3,039 § 3110 § 3325 § 3,607 $ 3,660 4,755 § 4,499 1.5% 8.5%
Own Source Reven  as a % of Total Reven  {Less Donited TCAs) 72.5% 74.7% 74.5% 74.1% 74.1% 70.4% 74.4% 0.0% -0.6% 0. .
Total Reven $ 4,569,879 § 4,523,793 § 4,937,961 § 5,293,020 $ 5,371,1 $ 209, P
Annuai Repayment Limit $ 785,751 § 873,976 § 927,476 § 960,435 $ 1,054,396 § 1,401,640 § 31,847,
Own Pu Taxation $ 2887562 § 2,898,425 § 2,997,247 § 3,194,328 y s P P . . . .
Direct Water Billings as % of Gress Water Expe  tures 0.0% 0.0% 0 0% 0.0% 37.9% 59.0%
Taxable Res. Assessment ISSIS of Total Taxable Assessment 0% 94.1% 94.2% 94.2% 94.2% . .

DISCOUNTED WEIGHTED ASSESSMENT (Source: Financial Information Return)

020 0
Taxable 368,579,955 n, s o+ 5 381, , 1§ 258 858
PiL 5,717, 5,568,788 5,568,788 5,568,788 S5, ,8 [
Total 374,297,443 377,125,643 38,3 , 38,010,734 399 611 503 261,833,364 10,

Ministry of Municipal Aff frsa  Housing
Printed: 2025-10-20 1of 12

65



MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL PROFILES

(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)
Armour Tp

Date Prepared: — 2024 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2024 Households: 1,087 Median Household income: *
MSO Office: Northeast [P September 10, 2025 2024 Poputation: ||| A NEERZA 2025 Annual Repayment Lim! 1,141,933
Prepared By: — 2025 MFCH Index: '8 “ Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs: 8,020,462

RESIDENTIAL TAXES

2020 2
# of Residential Households 1,278 1,284 1,284 1,289 1,304 1,020 12,332 .
Avg n iProperty T  Per Avg Residential usehold $ 1914 § 1,958 $ 19§ 2,054 S 2,119 § 2,311 § 2,954 3.3% 3.5% 1.2% 2.3%
Avy Total Proparty Taxes per Avg Residential Household $ 2,294 § 2,347 § 2,371 § 2,443 $ 2,518 § 2,579 § , . . . .
Avy Yotal Property Taxes per Avg Residential- Househotd
sa%Xof n Household fncome (T Effort) 3.8% 3.9% 4.0% 4.1% 3.6% 3.4% 4.2%
# of Resid hol l P (Excl. ROUs) 646 651 651 653 668 690 11,867 2.3% 0.3% 0.
AvgMun  1Praoperty Taxes Par Avg Residential Id (Excl. RDUs) $ 1,817 § 1,843 § 1,865 § 1,934 $ 1,99 § 2,278 § 2,930 3.4% 3.7% 1.
Avg Total Property Taxes par Avg Residential Househotd (Excl. RDUs) $ 2,178 § 2,208 § 2,231 § 2,303 s 2,375 $ 2,5 § 3,322 3.1% 3.2% 1.0% .
Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Restdential Household (Excl. RDUs)

s%of n Household { (TaxE ) 3.7% 3.7% 7% 3.9% 3.4% 3.4% 4.2%
RESIDENTIAL TAX RATES™ {Source: Financial Information Return)

020
Lower / Single- 1 Rate 0.0077035 0.0077077 0.0078017 0.0080100 0.0081258
Upper-Tier  naral Rate . - - - -
Educa  Rate 0.0015300 0.0015300 [

N - .

2020
Total Taxes R bt for U 335419 § 257,887 § 330,194 § 680,027 446,238 § 468,357  § 7,502,393
Total Taxes Rec. less Aliowance for Uncotlectibles as % of Total Taxes 9.4% 7.2% 9.0% 17.4% 1.1% 13.9% 10.2%
Currant Year Taxes Receivable as % of Totat Taxes Recetvable 69.7% 69.2% 74.8% 66.7% 68.4% 53.5% 62.8%

g & C Reserves and y Reserve Funds as % of Current Yr Taxes Rec. 62.7% 214.3% 156.4% 86.2% 129.2% 284.4% 324.3%
Previous and Prior Yea  Taxes Receivable as % of Total Taxes Recatvable 23.7% 25.0% 19.5% 25.2% 22.6% 35.1% 27.5%
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Printed: 2025-10-20 20f 12

66



MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL PROFILES

(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)
Armour Tp

Date Prepared: — 2024 FIR Load Status: Accepted Clean 2024 Households: Median Household incom
VRIS Northeast | [PRYUITISIEN September 10, 2025 2024 Populatio 2025 Annuat Repayment Limit: [ERCCER
prepared sy: [ NN 2025 MFC Index: Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs: 8,020,462

20 2021 022

Total Unconditional Grants $ 864,500 § 776,654 § 698,800 § 739,800 $ 729,800 § 811,886 )

Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund $ 709,600 § 709,900 698,800 § 739,800 $ 729,800 § 802,005 § 1,021,400

% of Municipal Expenses’ 18.5% 17.6% 16.0% 16.2% 15.4% 14.7% 1.7%

Other $ 155,300 § 66,754 § . $ . $ . H 9881 § 44,591 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%
Total Ontario Con nal Grants $ 198,386 $ 229,087 § 278,781  § 436,751 $ 199,621 § 682,145 § 39,901,077 -

Asa%Xof 1 Expenses 5.2% 5.7% 6.4% 9.6% 4.2% 12.2% 13.0%
Total Ontario Conditional and Unconditional Grants

As & % of Municipal Expenses 27.7% 249 22.4% 5.7%

] » .
COVID-19 Municipal Oper ting Funding Allocations - Actu 1
= Phase 1 Al n
- Pliase 2 tion Basad Allocation
-Phase 22021 Al tion
2021 Provinclal COVID-19 Funding for Municipa
Total COVID-19 Munictpal Operating Fu
COVID-19 Munici | Furiéiing - Amounts Recognized
Safe A - éipal Operating Funding
Provi L COVID-19 Recovery Fundingfor  nicipa
TOTAL COVID-19 MUN  AL-OPERATING FUNDING RECOGNIZED
Safe Restart Agresment - Public Transit Funding
Social Services Relief Fund (SSRF)
Total COVID-19-Expenses as reported on SLC 42 6009 01
[} b}
2020 021

Total Debt Burden 695,369 § 653,627 § 610,774 § 566,701 530,972 § 1,364,402 §

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Printed: 2025-10-20 3of 12

67



Per Househbld
Debt Servici  Cost
Per Househo!d
Ass¥ofMun  LExpe
As a % of Own Purpose Taxation
As a % of Own Source Revenue

As 2 % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs)
Debt Se Co rageRa (Target:Ratio > 2)

Printed: 2025-10-20

Northeast

Accepted Clean

September 10, 2025

1.6%
2.1%
1.9%
1.3%
26

@1 $ 562

60,624 S 60,538

56 § 56
1.5% 1.4%
2.1% 2.0%
1.8% 1.7%
1.3% 1.2%

2 23

Ministry of Municipal Affairs nd Housing

68

“r oo

1.3%
1.9%
1.5%
1.1%

52 $
60,529 $
56 H

1,087
1,459
7.6

62,837
58
13%
1.9%
1.6%
1.2%
pal

"

3.1%
6.3%
4.1%
2.8%

176,704
2

$
§

0.0%

69,500
1,141,933
8,020,462

40of 12



Temp. Loans for Current Purposes as % of 1 Expanses
Past-Employment Benafits
Total Ressrves and Resarve Funds for Post-Employment Benefits

Total Resarves
Totat Discretionary Reserve Funds
Total Reserves and Discretionary Reserve Funds
Per Household
As a % of Total Taxes Recel 1o
As 2 % of Municipal Expenses
As a X'of'Own P ng?n

Net Financial Assets or Net Dabt as a % of Total Revan  (Less Donated TCAs}

Nat Financial Assats or Net Debt as % of Own Source Revenues

Net Warking Capital as a % of Municipal Expenses

Net.Book Value-of Capital Assets as a X of Cost of Capital Assets

Asset Sustafnabifity  tio (Target: > 90%)

C g Amortization Balance as & % of Totaf Cost of Capital Assats (Assat Consumption Ratio)

Printed: 2025-10-20

Accepted Clean

Sep mber 10, 2025

“w v non

0.0%
1,197

2020
2,199,424
2,199,424

2,037
651.8%
57.2%
76.2%

2020
39.6%
54.5%
75.4%
59.7%
305.4%
40.0%

$

2021
0.0%
2,170

202
2,813,472
2,813,472

2,588
1082.6%
69.6%
97.1%

2021
49.5%
66.3%
84.7%
58.6%
116.7%
41.2%

Ministry of Municl L Affairs nd Housing

69

2022
0.0%
3,111

2,988,738

2,988,738
2,750
899.7%
68.4%
99.7%

2022

70.1%
87.8%
57.6%
133.9%
41.9%

3,517,145

3,517,145

515.7%
76.9%
110.1%

2023
54.9%
74.1%
102.3%
57.3%
72.8%
42.9%

3,236

@» W on o

7.6

0.0%

1,087
1,459

2,574

3,774,695

3,774,695

842.1%
79.6%
114.4%

50.4%
68.0%
97.9%
57.9%
187.8%
41.5%

3,473

" oo o

0.9%
23,606
8,614

2,691,529
931,161
3,622,690
3,97
944.3%
67.1%
121.2%

21.4%

25.0%

65.4%

48.3%
129.2%
51.8%

w oo

69,500
1,141,933
8,020,462

0.4%
36,586,902

43,917,141
87,228,340 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
131,145,481 7.3% 17.7% 6.2%
3,740 7.3% 17.7% 6.2%
1036.1%
73.9%
%

31.1%
38.5%
68.6%
54.1%
206.3%
47.5%

50of 12

0.0%

27.1%



MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL PROFILES
(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)
Armour Tp

2024 FIR Load Status:

September 10, 2025

Last Updated:

2024 Households:
2024 Population:
2025 MFCl index:

Median Household Incom
2025 Annual Repayment Limi

Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs: 8,020,462

Annuat Surplus / (De ) (Less Donated TCAs)

Annual Surplus-/ (Less Donated TCAs) Adjusted for 0 Budget Reg. 28
Annuat Surplus / (De  )'(Less Donated TCAs) as a % of Source Reven
Currént (Target: > 100%)

Rates Covernge Ra  (Target: > %)

CashRa (Total  hand Cash Equivatents as a X of Current Lisbilities)
tingBatanceasa%of T (Less Donated TCAs)™?
Cumulative Annual Growth Rate **

Interest Payments as a X of Totai Reven  (Less Donated TCAs)

Printed: 2025.10-20

$ 660,491
H 1,529,780

20.1%
784.1%

2020
76.1%
666.5%
15.6%
1.7%
0.4%

. >
2021
445,094 § 453,664 § 632,822
1,221,023 § 1,210,538 § 1,286,405
13.2% 12.6% 16.1%
676.9% 633.3%
. » N P
2021 2022
73.8% 71.0% 75.2%
575.9% 564.1% 630.5%
9.8% 11.2% 12.0%
0.9% -10.9% ~1.4%
0.4% 0.4% 0.3%
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

70

354,853
1,225,501
8.9%

70.4%
659.9%
6.6%
-1.3%
0.3%

$

631,250 § 30, ,
1,358,800 § 49,217,507

1. .

68 %

708.64% 536.67%
8.7% 13.8%
-0.8% -0.5%

0.8% 0.8%

6of 12



. s
.-t ce ca ‘e Accepted C{ . - 1,087 69,500
s - Northeast . sa. -« Sep mber 10, 2025 1 tes 1,459 1,141,933
¢ 7.6 8,020,462
2020 2021
Own Source Revenue as 8 % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs) T2.5% 74.7% 74.5% 74.1% 74.1% 70.4% 74.4% .
Own Saurce Revenue per Household $ 3,039 § 3,110 § 3325 § 3,607 S 3,660 § 475 § 4,499 1.5
Avg Munictpal Property T Per Avg Residential Household $ 1914 § 1,958 $ 1982 § 2,051 S 2,119 N
asa¥%of usehold income (Tax rt) 3.8% 3.9% 4.0% 4.1% 3.6%
* . . ’ . P . . vl . »
The following is a summary, adapted'from the Chart ed Professional Accountants a a tatement ec men

. Agovernment (inc  ng a municipality may oose to report supplementa in orma on na acon
L] Supplementary assessment of a government's financial  dition.needs toc sider, ata
° Vulnerabitity in this  text may be seen as the degree to which a municipali s OR sources
its ability to meet:its existing financlal iiga ons both in respect of its service
. Yulnerability is an important element of financial condition because it provides insi ts
A munfcipality whose vulnerabitity is relativel low has greater control over its finan a on.
s  For each element of financfal conditi , the report on indicators of financial condition
it may be useful to also include economy-wide information ng nan a con

ADDITIONAL NOTES ON WHAT FINANCIAL MEASURES MAY INDICATE:

Own Source Revenue as a % of To | Revenues (Less TCAs
METIOOT faululsu]ulniunsivinaisjnun{s Qs sun vysinzlanannssee]

Own Source Revenue per Househald
fusrliinunsiaaal:ssfaa Busgdansna onnipy: Juusiafnariianiiisninnsyisles.]

Average Munict | Property Taxes per Aver e Residentt | H
e lvianmninnnluinussninennninslg ssdaluntiiianseg

Aver  Municipal Property Taxes Av Residen {Househo asa ve ouse ncome
ut-insansiassls wgs safcsieljunanuusgulisussin} ss}susfulzusisiannguangssiunsnasl

Ministry of Municipal Affairsa  Housfng
7of 12

Printed: 2025-10-20

71



MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL PROFILES

(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)
Armour Tp

pate prepared: [N 2024 FIR Load Status: 2024 Households: Median Household Incom 69,500
MSQ Office: [ERQULL LY H September 10, 2025 2024 Population: m 2025 Annual Repayment Limit: m
Prepared By: _ 2025 MFC! Index; © “ Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs: 8,020,462

B L T L T e

The data and information contained in this document is for informational purposes only. Any use of the data and information in this document should be done by qualified individuals.
This information is not intended to be used on its own and should be used in conjunction with other financial information and resources available.

B T e

1° 2020 to 2024 assessment uses phase-in nt 0n.2016 property values..
2*  Average tax rates are catculated where when lg  tions occur.
3 P da are ported by the ity on Schedule 02 of the FIR.
4 Househotd Income - Source: Ministry of Finance - 2025 OMPF
5 TotalR include revenues fromo  r municipatities.
6*  The Cumulative Annual Growth Rate has been red over three ye . Infrastructure Ontario uses five ar
7*  Total Municipat Expe exclude for other municipatities
8 MFC - Source: Ministry of Finance (2025 OMPF Calculation). Thisi  xis for and rurat only.
s e . e . ° .9 »
(X R} *
2020 7 444
2021 36 443
022 34 441
2023 30 414
2024 21 252
Ministry of Municipal Aff irs Housing
Printed: 2025-10-20 8of 12

72



Northeast

STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Population ™
Households

nicipal nses *7
Own Source Revenues

Own Source Revenus per Housshold

Own Source Revenue as s % of Total Revanues {Less Donated TCAs)
Total Reven

Annual Repayment Limit

Own Purpose Taxa n
Direct Water Billings as % of Gross Water tures
Taxable Res. Assessment aXof Total T e Assessment

Pl
Total

#of Residential  useholds

Avp 1 Property Taxes Per Avg Restdential id
Avy Total Property Taxes per Avg Residentiat Househotd
Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residenttat Househeold

as & % of Madian Household Income (Tax Effort)

# of Residential Households Excl Recrea natPro {Excl. RDUs)
Ay n { Property Taxas' Per Avy Rasidentiat Household (Excl. RDUs)
Avg Totat Property Taxes per Avy Residential House id (Excl. RDUs)

Avg Total Property Taxes per Avg Residential Household (Excl. RDUs)
asa¥Xof n Household Income (Tax Effort)

Printed: 2025-10-20

DISCOUNTED WEIGHTED ASSESSMENT ™ (Source: Financial Information Return)

Accepted Clean 1,087 69,500
September 10, 2025 1,459 1,141,933
76 8,020,462

CALCULATIONS

sicoz 101

SLC 02 0040 01

SLC 40 9910 11 - SLC 12 9910 03 - SLC 129910 07

SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 0699 01 - SLC 10 0899 01 - SLC 10 1098 - - -
§ 10 1 01-SLC10 83 0t S 10 -

Own Source 15LC 020040 01
Own Source Reven 7 (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01
SLC 10 9910 01

annual repaymaent Himit s ca  ulated annually as per regu n o

lofisf a on i RLhtm

ARLs for ali m littes {except the City of Toronto) are posted here as are ma .
SLC 100299 01
{SLC 12083104 + SLC 12083204 / LC 400831 11 +SLC 40 0832 11
SLC 26 0010 17 /5LC 26 9199 17

SLC 26 9199 17
Stlc 92 7
SLC 26 9199 17 + 5LC 69299 17

. » N N
CVA and ding household counts are .
Sing Family, 2 - 6 Units, Farm Residential and re u
It (abeted (Exct. RDUs) units are excluded.

n verage household assessment is ca  lated by taking the sum

An tax rate for each tier (.e. lower tler rtierandschoc app o average use assessmen
the d tax rates are provided by OPTA).

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing
9of 12



MUNICIPAL FINANCIAL PROFILES

(Based on 2024 Financial Information Return)

Armour Tp
Date Prepared: _ 2024 FIR Load Status: 2024 Households: Median Household income: ™
MSO Office: m Last Updated: 2024 Population: 2025 Annual Repayment Limi m
Prepared By: _ 2025 MFCI Index: “ Borrowing Capacity 7% over 10 yrs:
RESIDENTIAL TAX RATES® (Source: Financial Information Return)
Lower / Single<Tier | Rate SEC22 10 42/5LC 220010 16
Upper-Tier Genera! Rate SLC22 10 13/5LC 22001016
n Rats SLC22 10 14/5LC 22001
TAXES RECEIVABLE
Totat Yaxes Recsivable Al neeifor Uncollectibles SLCT70 69901
Totat Taxes Rec. tass Aliowance for Uncoliectibles as % of Totat Taxes Lavied SLC70 9901/ (€26919903-5LC 72 2899 09
Current Year Taxss Recetvable as X of Total Taxes Receivable SLC70 61001/ LC 700690 01 + SLC 70 0699 01
Working Fund Reserves.& Contingency Funds as % of Current Yr Taxes Rec. {51C 5010 02 + SLC 60 5020 03 /5LC 70 0610 01
Previous and Prior Years Taxes Receivable as % of Tota Taxes Recelvib {SLC 70 0620 01 + SLC 70 06 +
GRANTS
Totat Unco nat Grants SLC 10 69901
Ontaric 1 Partnership Fund SLC 10 62002
As % of Municipal Expenses SLC 10 620 01/ (SLC 409910 11 - 99 003- 9910 07
Other SLC 10 699 01 - SLC 10 0620 01
Total Ontario Conditional Grants SLC10 1001+ SLC 10 081501
Asa%of 1 Expeises (SLC 10081001 + S1C10 081 01 (SL 91 -
Total On Con  naland Unconditional Grants
As 3 X of Munictpal Expenses {5LC 10069 01 + SLC 10 0810 01 » SLC 10 0815 -

COoViD - 19

COVID-19 Munici | Operating Funding Aliocations - A i

- Phase 1 Alloca n Phase 1 Al - t

- Phase 2 Application Based Al tion Phass 2 Application Based Al tions - Actuat

- Phase 2 2021 Al n Phase 2 2021 Aliocations - Actual

2021 Provincial COVID-19-Recovery Funding for Municipaiities 2021 Provinclal COVID-19 Recovery Funding for Munt Alfocations - Actua

Phase 1 Alloca + Phase 2 App

n
Total COVID-19: 1 Operating Funding + 2021 Provincial COVID-19 Recovery Funding for Municipal  Allocations

COVID-19 Municipal Funding ~ Amounts Recognized

Safe Restart Agreement - Mun 1 Operating Funding SLC10 626 01
Provinciat COVID-15 Recovery Funding for ictpatities SLC 10 0629 01
TOTAL COVID-19 MUNICIPAL OPERATING FUNDING RECOGNIZED SLC 10 626 01 (FY20 + SLC 10 0626 01 (FY21) + SLC 10 0629 01 FY21
Funding recognized: Total COVID-19 Municipal Operati Fundl - Total COVID-19 nii |  rating Funding Recog
Safe Restart Agreement -  fic Transit F SLC 10 0627 01
1 Services Relief Fund (SSRF) SLC 10 628 01
Total COVID-19 Expenses as reported an SLC 42 6009 01 SLC 42 6009 01

TOTAL DEBT BURDEN

Ministry of Municipat Affairs Housing
Printed: 2025-10-20 10 of 12

74



Total Debt Surden
Pur Household
Debt Servicing-Cost
Par Housahotd
As » % of Municipal Expenses
As a % of Own Purpose T on
As a % of Own Source Revenus

As a % of Total Reven  (Less Donated TCAs)
Debt Coverage Ratio (Target: Ratio > 2)

Printed: 2025-10-20

Accepted ¢ -
P 10, 2025 P

SLC 74 9910 01

SLC 74 9910 01.7 S1L.C 02 0040 01

SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02

(SLC 74 3099 01 » SLC 74 3099 02) / LCO2 01

(SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099 02) / (SLC 40 9910 11 -SLC 1 .
(SLC 74 3099 01-+ SLC 74:3099 02) / SLC 10 0299 01

{SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC 74 3099:02) / (SLC 10991 01 - 0069901-
-SLC1 1814 01-SLC 10 183001 SLC 10 183

{SLC 74 3099 01 + SLC.74 3099 02) / (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 18

(SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 40 9910 11 + 5LC 40 9910 02 + SLC 40 9910 1

Ministry of Munici LAff irsa  Housing

75

1,087
1,459
76

69,500
1,141,933
8,020,462

11of 12



e

3. - . . -
. »
Accepted Clean e e 1,087 69,500
September 10, 2025 L T 1,459 1,141,933
f . 76 8,020,462

LIABILITIES

% of )

Temp. Loans for Current Purpb:
Post-Emp t Banefits
Total Reserves and Reserve Funds for Post-Employment Bensfits

Total Reserves
Total Discrettonary Reserve Funds
‘Total Reserves and Discretionary Reserve Funds

{Inciuding Post-Employment Benefits)

SLC70 1001/ (SLC 40'9910 11-S .

SLC 70 2899 01

SLC 60 5060 02 + SLC 60 03 + SLC 60 5070 02 + SLC .
RESERVES AND RESERVE FUNDS

SLC 60 2099 03

SLC 60 2099 02

SLC 60:2099 02 + SLC 60 2099 03

(5LC 60 2099 02 + SLC. 03 75LC02

Per Household

As a % of Total Taxas Recafvable
AsaXofMun  |Expenses
As 8 % of Own Purpose Taxation

Net 1Assets or Net Debt as a X of Totaf Reven
Net Fina

(Less Donated TCAS)
1 Assats or Net Debtas % of Own Source ues

Net Working Capital as a % of Municipal Expenses

Nat Book Value of Capitat Assets as & % of Cost.of Capital Assets

AssstSwstatability  (Target: > 90%)
rtization Balance as a X'of Total Cost of Capital Assats (Asset Consuiinption Ra )

Annuat Surplus / (Deficit) (Less Donated TCAs)
Annuat Surplus / (Ds (Less Donated TCAs) Adjusted for Ontario Budget Reg. 284/09)

Annual Surplus 7 (Deficit) (Less.Donated TCAs) as a % of Own Seurce

CurrentRa  (Target: » 100%)

Rates Cove Ratio (Target: >=40%)

Cash Ratio (Total Cash and Cash € fents as a % of Current Liabilities)
ngBa as a % of Total Revanues {Less Donated TCAs)™
Cumulative Annual Growth Rate **

Interest Payments as a % of Total Revenues (Less Donated TCAs)

Printed: 2025-10-20

{S1.C 60 2099 02 + SLC 68 209903 / LC 70069901 +
{51.C 60 2099:02 + SLC 60 2099 03} / 40 9910 11~ -
{5L.C.60 2099 02+ SLC 60 209903 /5LC2002 9

. . .

sLc70 01/ 10 9910 01 - SLC
sLc70 01/ (SLC 10 9910 01
SLC 10 1831 01 - SLC 12 1850 04)

{SLC 70 0299 02 + SLC 70 0499 01 + + +

/7{S1.C 409910 11-SLC 129 - 1

{SLC 70 6210 01 - SLC 51 2005 11 - SLC 51 2205 11) 7 SLC 51 99 - -
SLC $1 9910:03./5LC 51 991008

SLC.51 9910 10 /SLC 1991008

SURPLUS / DEFICIT

SLC 10 2099 01 SLC 10 183101

SLC 10:12099 01 - SLC 10 1831 01 +» SLC 40

(CY CURRENT YEAR, PY - PREVIOUS

(SLC 10 209501 -5LC 101 31 ) (SLC 9 -
SLC 1071098 01 - SLC 10 1099 01 « SLC 10 181101 -S

-SLC1 183001 SLC 10 183101 SLC 12 1850 04)

"(SLC 70 9930 01 - SLC 70 0829 01 ~ SLC 70 084501 -

OTHER INDICATORS

{SLC 10 0299 01 + SLC 10 1299 01 » +
SLC 70 299 01/ (SLC 70°2099 01 + SLC 70 2299 01)
{SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 40 9910 07) / (SL.C 10 9910 01 -
((SLC 10 9910 01 (CY) /SLC 109910 01 (CY-3) ~ (173 -1 - -
SLC74 9902/ (SLC 10 9910 01 - SLC 10 1831 01)

Ministry of Municipal Aff frs nd Housing
12 of 12



Members Present:

Call to Order:

Burk’s Falls & District Historical Society

Fell Homes, Burk’s Falls
- onday, February 16, 2026

Diane Brandt — President

Jarv Osborne - Vice President

Jenny Hall - Treasurer

Charlene Watt — Secretary / Deputy Treasurer
Nieves Guijarro

Kristra Trulsen

Peter Hall

Nancy Kyte

Barry Burton

Jarv Osborne

The Members present constituted a quorum.

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m.

Diane Brandt in the Chair.

Welcome:

Diane welcomed Members.

RAFT

Approval & Amendments of the inutes of the Last eeting:

H C
P.O. O o Al1CO W Century F
827 e
*inf jety.com
b m i
Like o F 1 sCo
R T
MINUTES

Acceptance and adoption of the November 17, 2025 Meeting Minutes as circulated:
by Krista Trulsen, Seconded by Nancy Kyte. Carried

Treasurer’s Report:

Treasurer’s / Financial Report presented by Jenny Hall. The Treasurer reported that the main
bank account balance was $7,037.50 as of November 1, 2025, and $8,227.17 as of January
31, 2026. During this period, expenses totaled $383.79, including $214.76 for internet and
telephone services, $151.83 for office materials, and $17.20 for courier fees. Revenue
received during the same period included $1,545.00 from the Heritage Organization

February 2026 - Page 1 of §

77



s ) 00 C
- PO. x B "F ,O 1CO w C Fa House
o () Phon: 57 " Road
:nf b < iety.com © vnship
www.b < " Co
L on e 12 R
To

Development Grant (HODG) and a $100.00 donation, resulting in an overall increase in the
account balance. otion to accept the Treasurer’s report and pay the monthly invoices:
oved by Jarv Osborne, Seconded by Barry Burton. Carried

Committee Reports:

Wiseman’s Corner Schoolhouse Update:
The heritage centre has been closed for the season.

Watt Farm House Update:
Diane Brandt advised members that she checks in on the farm house on a regular basis.

Membership Committee:

Peter Hall advised members that 2026 memberships will be due prior to the Annual General
Meeting scheduled for March. Memberships received at the meeting included Charlene Watt
and family, Krista Trulsen, Barry Burton, Jarv Osborne, Diane Brandt, and Nieves Guijarro.
Peter will circulate an email to current members notifying them of the upcoming membership
renewal deadline and providing details regarding the Annual General Meeting.

Facilities and Functions Committee:

The Facilities and Function Committee met on February 4, 2026, to discuss heating
requirements for the Red Building. The discussion included input from the Township of
Armour’s CAO. It was confirmed that Armour Township will complete the required heat loss
study. A quotation from Tasso Lake Heating in the amount of $ 7,301. plus HST was
selected as the preferred option for the heating installation. It was also suggested that any
cost savings realized through a reduction in the Heritage Festival budget by Armour Township
could be allocated toward capital improvements at the Watt Century Farm House property.

A resolution was presented to the Members outlining the furnace replacement quotations for
the Red Building and identifying next steps. Members agreed that Barry Burton would attend
a Township of Armour Council meeting as a delegation to seek clarification on how the heating
requirements for the Red Building will be addressed. As the property is owned by the
Township, the Historical Society may be able to contribute up to $5,000 toward the project;
however, it does not have sufficient funds to cover the full cost. Members expressed concern
regarding investing capital funds in a property not owned by the Historical Society. While it
was acknowledged that heating in the building is necessary, Members emphasized that the
Society does not have the financial capacity to assume full responsibility for the project.

February 2026 - Page 2 of §

78



% @A C
¢ - 0. , ,0 o 1 C twryF
tinf < ety.com T 4
Jbur  all ] K s
Like onF e k 12 s C‘; S‘R d
T

Diane Brandt advised Members that the Society’s laptop was experiencing charging issues
and was no longer operating reliably. Given the importance of having dependable computer
equipment for administrative and operational purposes, Diane replaced the battery.

oved by Nancy Kyte, Seconded by Jenny Hall; WHEREAS the Burk’s Falls and District
Historical Society has received three quotes for the installation of a heating system in
the Red Building, with estimated costs ranging from $19,550.00 to $22,343.83, as
reviewed by the Functions and Facility Committee;
AND WHEREAS the Historical Society has a current bank balance of $8,373.97, and
estimates that the cost of a summer employee in 2026 will be approximately $3,500, to
be supplemented by a Federal Grant through Young Canada Works (grant approval is
pending and will be determined in February/ arch 2026);
AND WHEREAS the Society has received a $5,000 donation from the Township of
Armour, which will be used for operational expenses;
BE IT RESOLVED that the Burk's Falls and District Historical Society may contribute
$5,000 toward the installation of the heating system in the Red Building, if needed.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Society will continue to monitor the outcome of
the Young Canada Works grant application and will adjust financial plans based on its
success or failure in securing funds for the summer employee position. Carried

Correspondence:

Diane Brandt advised Members that a social media feature recognizing Heritage Week was
received from the Ministry o itizenship a d Multicultu alism. Dia e espo ded to t e
correspondence and provided information highlighting the Historical Society’s heritage
centres.

General Business:

Annual General Meeting & Election of Directors Notice:

Charlene Watt advised members that a public notice was circulated the first week of February,
2026 to advise of the AGM per the terms of our new constitution. The notice was posted to
the website and Facebook. Nieves Guijarro has posted the public notice at the library as well.
The AGM will be held on March 16, 2026.

Consent to Act as a First Director:

Members were informed that a form must be completed to be a Director of a non-profit
organization. In a director’s consent, an individual agrees in writing to be a director. Every
director who is elected or appointed needs to sign a consent and it must be signed within 10
days of being elected or appointed as a director. Once completed, the form is submitted to the

February 2026 - Page 3 of 5

79



$ ¢ @A C

P.O. ,B » Ontario <o tt Century F
0 827 d
[ .
b o ty om .
Lk onF b k i peag
T i

Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery. Charlene Watt will contact Mike Quinton to
file the documents. Jenny will follow up with the insurance company after the election and
provide the new list of directors and executives.

Parry Sound Life Magazine Article by Andrew Hind:

Jarv Osborne circulated a copy of the Parry Sound Life Magazine Article about the Burk Family
dated December, 2025 that was written by Andrew Hind. The Burk family holds the rare
distinction of founding two communities in the District of Parry Sound: Seguin Falls and Burk’s
Falls. Beginning with David Francis Burk Jr., whose temperance hotel alon the Nipissing
Colonization Road sparked the growth of Seguin Falls, and continuing with his son Frank, who
established Burk’s Falls around the Magnetawan River, hotels served as the cornerstone of
both settlements. Though financial success proved elusive and both hotels ultimately
disappeared, the Burks’ vision and perseverance left a lasting legacy in the region’s history. A
copy of the article has also been shared to our website.

Audit of the Books:
Diane Brandt advised embers that auditors are needed for the review of the fiscal year end’s
financial statement. Jarv Osborne and Krista Trulsen agreed to audit the Treasurer's books.

Heritage Festival 2026:
Members discussed the February 10, 2026 resolution from the Township of Armour refocusing

Heritage Festival to reflect a heritage-based mandate and reduced budget model. Members
preferred to see funds from the Township directed to capital investments at the Watt Farm
House. Me be s will T i A u’s i D partmen regarding
Heritage Festival 2026 to plan a smaller community event. A Heritage Festival Committee was
created to represent the Historical Society consisting of Barry Burton, Nancy Kyte and Peter
Hall.

A resolution was passed to support the discussion. . oved by Barry Burton, Seconded by
Peter Hall; THAT the Burk’s Falls and District Historical Society supports the Council
of the Township of Armour directing staff to refocus the Heritage Festival to better
reflect a heritage-based mandate, including a direct connection to the Watt Century
Farm House useum and Armour Township heritage assets;

AND FURTHER THAT the Society supports directing staff to explore alternative
locations within Armour Township, revised programming, and a scaled budget model
for Council’s consideration prior to the 2026 budget deliberations;

AND FURTHER THAT the Burk’s Falls and District Histori al Society respectfully
requests that Council consider investing funds allocated for the celebration into capital
improvements for the Red Building at the Watt Century Farm House Heritage Centre,

February 2026 - Page 4 of 5

80



H c
PO. «x B .0 1C0 Century
! n. Roa
b < jety.com Tor
bur <om P 1
ik onF k 12 R
o

thereby strengthening the long-term sustainability and functionality of this important
heritage site;

AND FURTHER THAT the Society supports refocusing the event in coordination with
the Township of Armour’s Recreation Department to ensure effective planning,
community engagement, and alignment with the Township’s heritage objectives.
Carried

New Business:

Change of _onthly eeting Venue:

Jarv Osborne provided Members with a follow-up to the discussion held in November 2025
regarding meeting space. Charlene Watt advised that the matter was brought forward to an
Armour Council meeting for their consideration and the request for use of the Council
Chambers for the monthly Historical Society meeting was approved. Members reviewed the
Council resolution. The facility was noted to offer several advantages, including improved
parking availability, an accessible entrance, and adequate exterior lighting for evening
meetings. Members expressed their appreciation to Armour Township Council for its continued
support and cooperation. Motion to move the monthly meetings of the Burk’s Falls and
District Historical Society to the Township of Armour’s Council Chambers effective
- arch, 2026: Moved by Jarv Osborne, Seconded by Peter Hall. Carried

Members discussed formally expressing their gratitude to Fell Homes for generously
permitting use of the common room since the establishment of the Historical Society. Members
were invited to consider a creative and meaningful token of appreciation to present to Fell
Homes and to bring forward their suggestions at a future meeting for further discussion.

Adjournment:

The next meeting will be held on Monday, February 16, 2026 at the Township of Armour
Council Chambers, 56 Ontario Street, Burk’s Falls. There being no further business, Krista
Trulsen moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:32 p.m.

Recorded by Approved by
Charlene Watt, Secretary & Diane Brandt, President
Deputy Treasurer

February 2026 - Page 5 of 5

81



Ls

L]
He C Hes
A P urk’ Is, Al t Ce v puse
hone: 27 wynd
" o@ of ldi ‘chistena ° .com Am - ownship
. Wizsemm .C S thou
L us n ceboo 112Midle * nRead
R ownship
Date: February 16, 2026 Notice of Motion #2026-02-16-1

Resolution for Burk's Falls and District Historical Society:

WHEREAS the Burk's Falls and District Historical Society has received three quotes for the installation
f a heating system in the Red Building, with estimated costs ranging from $19,550.00 to $22,343.83,
s reviewed by the Functions and Facility Committee;

AND WHEREAS the Historical Society has a current bank balance of $8,373.97, and estimates that the
ost of a summer employee in 2026 will be approximatel $3,5 ,t s pplem nte a Federal

Grant through Young Canada Works (grant approval is pending and will be determined in
ebruary/March 2026);

ND WHEREAS the Society has received a $5,000 donation from the Township of Armour, which will
be used for operational expenses;

BE IT RESOLVED that the Burk's Falls and District Historical Society may contribute $5,000 toward the
installation of the heating system in the Red Building, if needed.

E IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Society will continue to monitor the outcome of the Young Canada
Works grant application and will adjust financial plans based on its success or failure in securing funds
for the summer employee position.

Moved By: Nancy Kyte
Seconded By: Jenny Hall
arried Defeated Diane Brandt

Diane Brandt, President

82



Heritage Centses

P.O. Box 463, Burk’s Falls, Ontario POA 1C0 Watt Century Farm Houw
Pho e: 705- 71-3308 827 Chatwynd Road
Email: info@burksfallsdistricthistoricalsociety.com + rmour Township
www.bur sfallsdi tricthistoricalsociety.com

. . Wiseman's Corner Shoolhouse
Like us on ‘acebook

112 N dlothian Road
Ryvurson ownship

Date: February 16, 2026 Notice of Motion #2026-02-16-2

Resolution for Burk's Falls and District Historical Society:

THAT the Burk’s Falls and District Historical Society supports the Council of the Township of Armour
directing staff to refocus the Heritage Festival to better reflect a heritage-based mandate, including a
direct connection to the Watt Century Farm House Museum and Armour Township heritage assets;

AND FURTHER THAT the Society supports directing staff to explore alternative locations within Armour
Township, revised programming, and a scaled budget model for Council's consideration prior to the
2026 budget deliberations;

AND FURTHER THAT the Burk’s Falls and District Historical Society respectfully requests that Council
consider investing funds allocated for the celebration into capital improvements for the Red Building at
the Watt Century Farm House Heritage Centre, thereby strengthening the long-term sustainability and
functionality of this important heritage site;

AND FURTHER THAT the Society supports refocusing the event in coordination with the Township of
Armour’'s Recreation Department to ensure effective planning, community engagement, and alignment
with the Township’s heritage objectives.

Moved By: R ( Tvon/

Seconded By: Petere Hare

[

Carried Defeated
Diane Brandt, President

83



Account # cription 2023 ACTUAL
TRIR AS GE E PE- TIN ENUE
1.1 1-000 TRI reeLandfil. Ti-  ifi” .Fees $176,335
2 15-341-001 T IR-2023Filte -F cler $560
3 1-341-002 TRIR-Landfill Ti in Fees- unici |1Pa ents $0
4 15-341-003 TRI R - Short -Term Rental Kits $0
5 15-342-000 TRIR-R clin - Diversio _ebates $11,108
6 15-344-000 TRIR-R clin - Sale of Blue Boxes $33
7 15-540-000 TRI R - Govt. Grants R in O eratin $70,970
8 15- 1-000 TRIR -Circular terials Contract $0
9 TRIR ASTE E T TALREVEN E $259,005
S G E. OPERA NGEXPE DI S
10 16-451 000 TRIR - Salaries & B efits $331 833
11 16-451-001 T | -Traini ‘Health Saf $1843
12 16-452-000 TRIR-Su lies $738
13 16-454-000 TRIR - Skid & Packer Fuel $8 391
14 16-455-000 TRIR - Insurance $7 266
15 16-455-002 TRI R - Audit & Accountant Fees $4 447
16 16-456-000 TRI R - Hazardous aste Dis sal $2 375
17 16-460-000 TRI R - Dozer/Site aintenance $113
18 16-460-005 TRI R - Contracted Services $5,363
19 16-461-000 TRIR - Office & Advertisi $1 323
20 16-461-001 TRIR-Bank Cha es $3453
21 16-462-000 TRIR - Pa mentin Lieu of taxes $3639
22 16-464-000 TRIR - onitorin $24 207
23 16-465-000 TRIR-E u ment aintenance $8 3
24 16-476-000 TRIR -Frei ht $15636
25 16-476-005 TRIR -Processi Fee $31,556
26 16-478-000 TRI! R -Buildin  aint. $90
27 16-480-000 TRI R - Natural Gas $3 009
28 16-481-000 TRIR- dro & Tele hone $3 186
29 16-486-000 TRIR - Winter ainte ance $1 948
30 TRIR AST G 0 OERAI G E D RES 75,680
3 A E T ETOP RA | PE D S -$216,6
-Re20L0TionN .

O:\lAmy\Budget\2026\Waste anagement Draft 2026

2 26 TRIR WASTE

84

NAGE ENT BUDGET

2024 ACTUAL

$101,098
$220
$86,070
$0
$20,391
121
$68,392
$0
$276,292

281313
$1006
$1192
$7 368
$837

$11378
$1335

34
$9 601
$3099
$4 163
$ 668

$21 898

$32 103

$21 689

$30 135

$183
$2333
$3234
$1741
032

$191 740

2025 BUDGET

$75,000
$25
$85,000
$0
$11,000
$150
$0
$47,000

$340 000
$4 500
$2 000
$9,000
$9 200
$4 900
$2,000
$2 000
$5 000
$2 500
$4 000
$3 800

$24 000
$35 000
$8 000
$4,300
$1 000
$3 000
$3 000
$3 000

$470,
$2 1,8

2025 ACTUAL

88 241
$70
$87 042
$390
$11,372
$50
$2,162
$49 451

238778

$354 080
$4 162
$2 254
$7624
$9 198
$4 900
$3 554
$3,218

$28 680
$3,478
$4,436
$3 656

$21 694

$36 791

$14 024
$5 446

$216
$2 237
$2,032
$3 577

7

10

2026 DRAFT

BUDGET

75000
250
85000
$300
$5,600
$0

$0
2670

34
$4 500
$2 000
$9,000
$9 600
$8 100
$2 500
$2,000
$5 000
$2 500
$4 200
$3 800
$22 000
$35 000
$12 000
$5 500
$1 000
$3 000
$3 000
$3 000



32
33

35

37
38
39
40

41
42

45

47
48
49
50
51
52
53

55

2026 TRI R WASTE G ENTBUDGET
Account # ¢ ption 2023 ACTUAL 2024 ACTUAL
Rl AST GE CAP EN E
15- -3-000 _ RIR-Sal E 1 en-C PACIO ‘I $1 200 $0
1 1 TRIR-F cler ales $0 $0
TFRI A NAG ENTTOTA C E E $1,200 $0
TRIR. AS G EN AP A DU §
16-489-002 TRI R - Landfill - Landfi om-a r e air $ $0
16-489-003 TRIR-La dfili- attress Shred Dis osal $0 $15 620
16 9 RIR-R lin - om tion bins $12 000 0
16-489-005 TRIR-R cli -Role a e -ir $0 $0
16-489-0 TRI - Landfili - i mentR aws $13 941 $0
16-489-503 TRIR-Food ¢ r 2022 Pilot) 2023 Filters 0
RIRWASTE GE ENTTOT C ITAL PE DIT RES $25, 1 $16,1 0
R AST GE E NETC ITAL EXPENDI S $24,741 $16, 10
RIR AST GE E EXP NDITU S $ 1426 $20, O
2023 budgeted 2024 budgeted
TRIRWASTE NAGE ENT CONTRIBUTIONS BY UNI IPALITY 15% Plus % of 15% Plus® of
Bags Bag
ur 15% of et Expenditures $36.,214 $31,17
2025 total bags 36,616 -22,470=61.36 OFT TAL GS $81,393 $68,92
TOTAL C NTRIBUTION $117,607 $1 .10
Burks Fall 15%of t nditu $36,214 $31,17
2026 total bags 36,616 - 1,726 = 4.714% OF TOTAL GS $7.165 $7.721
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION 379 $38,89
Ryerson 15% of Net Expend res $36,214 $31,17
2025 total bags 36,616 - 12,420 = 33.920% OF TOTAL BAGS $44,226 $38,07
TOTAL CO  RIBUTION $80,440 $69,253
TOTAL OF ALL CONTRIBUTIONS $241.426 $208,25

Final 2025 Garbage bag count for total contribution by munici
(33. 20%)

0:\lAmy\Budget\2026\Waste Management Draft 2026

85

2025BU ET

$0
‘$0

$50 000
$0

0

$150 0
$0

$65,700
$6 ,700
$31 O

2025 budgeted
16% Plus % of
Bags
$47,625
$105, 80

162,906
$47,625

$11,794

$594 9

$47,625

$57,551
$105,176

$317,500

, 2026 DRAFT
2025 ACTUAL BUDGET
0 0
0 8 000
"o
0 0
8834 900
0 0
$ 2177 $24
$52,177 $1
32 656 285 32
2025 CTUAL 2026 Draft
15% Plus % of budget 15% Plus
Bags % of Bag
$49,298 $42,798
$108,979 $ 301
$158,277 139,099
$49,298 $42,798
$12,209 $7,397
$61,507 $50,195
$49,298 $42,798
$59,573 $53,229
$108,872 $96,027
$328,6 $285,322

lity. 2025 total bags = 36,616 (Armour = 22,470 (61.367%) Burks Falis = 1,7 6 (4.714%)



BURK'S FALLS, ARMOUR AND RYERSON ME ORIAL

ARENA
2026 DRAFT BUDGET
Account # Description
X
1 OPERATING ACTIVITIES
2 15372 OPERATING REVENUE
3 User fees Si nRentals
4 Concessions, Public Skate, Skate Sharpening
5 Donations/Other Revenue
]
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE
OPERATING EXPENDITURES
8 16-721 Arena-Wages & Benefits
9 16-723 Arena Bad Debt Ex ense
10 16-724-1 Audit & Accountin
11 16-724-10 Insurance
12 16-724-2 Tele hone
13 16-724-3 H dro
14 16-7244 Natural Gas
15 16-724-5 Water & Sewer
16 16-724-6 Ice Plant
17 Buildin £ ui mentGarba e Maintenance
19 16-724-8 Cleanin Su lies
20 16-724-9 Zamboni_ Maintenance, Fuel and Blade
Sharpening
21 16-724-91 Office su  lies/uniform/Tech su  rt/software
22 16-724-92 Fire Safet
16724+99 First Aid Su lies
23 Snow Removal and Grounds Maintenace
24 16-724-94 Elevator
25 16-724-95
26 16-724-96 Booth Su lies
27 16-724-97 Training
28 16-724-98 A -Societ - Fall Fair Tents
16-724-98-1 Asbestos Surve
29 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES
30
31 NET OPERATING EXPENDITURES

February 2026
2020 2021 2022
22735 58678 108 925
5811 2,602 6,920
285 202 3,700
28,831 61,482 119,545
113,806 111321 193 052
3,644 3,643 0
2,500 2,500 2,500
24894 24894 35445
1459 1459 1488
23648 23648 51145
9139 9139 13646
2375 2375 3130
4524 4,524 21878
15936 15936 19925
1680 3169
9,327 9,327 14,247
2791 2791 5660
1266 1266 3475
8 466
1165 1165
0 270
6269
270 270
252727 250241 384176
223896 188759 264,631

Page 17 of 42

2023 Actuals

140 249
31,143
500

171,892

227 061
[¢]

3,345
39218
1958
58278
19148

10768
6216

8,980
5381
3778

17086
1657
410
13 556

2288
3,956

432911

261,019

2024
Actuals

171 440
33,732
500

205,672

256 556

5,300
45096
2861
65,906
16 054
7965
25,328
26322
7768

11,285
6381
3263

2197
1727

2075
4856
§.500
513649

307 977

86

2025
Budget

167 250
33,500
300

201,050

298,420

5,500
48 595
3000
66 000
19 000

19,575
22 500
8500

7000
3550

3000
600
12825

4 500
5,000

557 565

356 515

2025
Actuals
as of
December 31

216 403
25,284
3334

245,021

291 552

5,625
50251
1897
87 008
7264
5820
32179
18 18¢
6472

14,681
12193
3705
68
5003
1640
29
13684

4603
5434

567 368

322 347

2026 Draft NOTES

Ice 1950 hours
195 350 new rates effective Se t 1st
27,000 new rates effective Se t 1st
2,700 Cadets & PS donations

326 053 2026 Wa es-U dated a  ui

5,750 Based on 2025
50 855 Quoted amount
2 500 Landiine and Cell hone
91,360 Increased ice use/ lobal ricing
8500 Based on current Facil'  use
6600 Based on current Facil' use
22 500 Based onincreased o erations
26 500 Garba e Dis osal/ New Stove
Based on current Facil' use

16,500 Radiator leak and re lacement
14 500 La to ftechsu ort/software
3750 Annual Contract
*Defib Batteries $750* - 2028
6750 Includes arkin lot swee in
2 500 Maint.Contract with Savaria
600 Stones arts diamond dresser
8900 45% of ro'ected sales

4 500 Staff & succession trainin
Tri-Council Ex ense moved

606 868

381818

Arena Revenue Budget Break Down

2024 2025

lce Rentals 159,374 149,400
Hall Rentals 8745 8250
Sign Rentals 3,454 8,850
Floor Rentals 750
Public Skate 3650 3,650
Skate Sharpening 1,350 1,350
Concessions 28732 28,500
Donations 500 300
Totals 205805 201050



Description
CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
32 15-372 CAPITAL REVENUE
33 Exhaust Fan ins ection/re irs
34
35 TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE
36
37 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
38 Ca italEx nse
39
40 Generator Ca ital Contract
41 Generator Demand Re ulators
42 Arena Man Gates
46 Hall Floor Resurfacin
47
48
439
50
51
52
53
54 NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
55
56
57
58 MUNICIPAL CONTRIBUTIONS
59
60 R erson
61
62

225,448

Page 18 of 42

24,500

34,334

223,093

88,867
88,867
266,601

64,258

328,889

87

2023 Actuals

109,800

108,800

109 900
417,958
139,319
139319

2025
Actuals
asof August
31

0
[¢]
132,100
86,539
488,615
162,872
136 295
408,886

2026 Draft

Ordered Janua 2026
3,500 Annual Ca ital Service Contract
7,500 Ca ital Maintnenace
7,500 Public Health and Safet Issue
3,500 Annual Floor Maintenance

168 323
550,141
183 380

183,380
183 380



ARBF Memarial Arena
10 year Capital Plan

Departme item

Ice Plant

Building

2,025

cleaning

1,850

Page 19 of 42

2,026

2,027

2,028

2,029

2,030

2,031

2,150

2,450

2,032
2,700,

203

2,034
—

3,000

top end overhaul (6000 hours) Comp #1 & #2

10,000

10,000)

Safety Vaives Inspected/Replaced

5,500

Plate/Frame Chiller Regasket

45,000

[Compressor #1 overhaul {6000 hours)

10,000

10,000

[Compressor #2 overhaul {6000 hours}

10,000

10,000

Compressor #1 ent

40,000

Compressor #2 Replacement

35,000

Compressor Oil Separators (2)

15,300

40,000

Ol Separator Reserve Fund

Condenser Repl:

146,323

Upgrade Relief Pipe/Stack/Size

21,000

27,500

[Structure report

12,500

11,000]

Replace

7,750

Floor Machine Scrubber

12,500

Man Gate Handle Replacement

7,500,

15,000

Man-gate Replacement

25,500

Puck Board Upgrade/ice Surface

60,000

2 - Zamboni Roll Up Door Replacement

6,500

7,000

Battery Operated Edger & Lawn

Zamboni Repk:

145,000

Repairs and Capital Contract

12,500

3,500

3,500,

9,000

4,000

4,000

Generator Demand Regulators and Solenoids

7,500

Condensor Water Tank Leve) Contro}

3,750

Karl Crozier Room Floor

3,000

3,100

3,300

3,500

3,600

3,800

Arena Roof

225,000'

Remove and replace Lintel & Overhead Door Jams

7,500

Lobby Tankless - Hot Water Heater

6,200

Replace masonary blocks

3,000

In depth ion of Steel

15,000

HVAC

50,000

Lobby Washroom Rubber Flooring

13,000

Washroom Partitions and Counter Upgrades

17,500

Dressing Room & Players Benches Replacement

40,000

Totals

132,100

167,823 139,600

88

115,600

147,300

154,850

242,500

70,300

44,200

6,800



1 BURK'S FALLS AND DISTRICT FIRE DEPARTMENT

B

2 2026 DRAFT BUDGET
3 February 17, 2026

10
12
14
15
16

17

18
21
23
25
26
27
28
29
30
34
35

36

38

39
40

Account # Description

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
OPERATING REVENUE

15-321 MvC

15-321-01 Inspections

15-321-03  Miscellaneous Revenue

15-321-05 Fire Chief Shared Services
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE
OPERATING EXPENDITURES

16-202 Vehicle Expense

16-203 Equipment/Comm Repair

16-206 Fire Prevention Supplies

16-208 Training

16-209 WsiB

16-210 Response Wages

16-211 Wages & Emp! Related Costs

16-212 Insurance

16-213 Building Repair/Maintenance

16-214 Office Expense

16-215 Air Station Fill and Maintenance
PPE

16-217 New Equipment/Gear
Miscellaneous

16-219 Snow Removal

16-222 Recharge Fire Extinguishers

16-223 Radio License

Page 35 of 42
Y z

2 23 Actual 2024 Actual

7,950

470
8,516

16,936

16,275

11,358
3,319
8,902
6,479

82,088

195,353

33,788
2,576

17,378

765
465

22,178

811
1,931
379
1,672

2025
Budget
9,713 6,100
620 500
2,910 3,500

38,761 52,700
52,004 62,800

27,634 32,000

15,520 11,600
4,445 5,600
8,473 14,600
9,234 10,900

102,121 97,000
229,022 225,600
37,291 37,900

5,061 4,000
18,455 17,400
808 1,000
217
36,381
3,210 1,000
1,510 2,100
136 500
1,745 2,400
Page 1of 3

89

2025 Actual
(Pre-Audit)

4,818

535
9,157
46,437
60,948

23,222

10,962
1,775
6,707
8,677

85,359

219,988

37,944
1,144

19,293

35,755

24
3,333

1,792

AB AC
2026 DRAFT
Comments
BUDGET

6,800 3-year average

500
6,900 Fines, burn permits
- Agreement terminated in 2025

14,200

27,500

14,700
4,700
16,800
9,600
94,000
229,000
40,700
4,000
18,300
1,400

58,600 :::able radios, bunker gear, helmets, boots, station
1,000
2,100

500

1,850 Increase in fees



A

1 BURK'S FALLS AND DISTRICT FIRE DEPARTMENT
2 2026 DRAFT BUDGET
3 February 17, 2026

41
42

44
46

48

50
52
53

54
55
56

59
61
62

63
64

69
70
71

73
74

Description

16-224 Answering Service
16-225 Legal
16-226 Office Space Rental
16-229 Audit/Accounting
16-248 Defib/Medical Supplies
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES
NET OPERATING EXPENDITURES
CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
CAPITAL REVENUE
Donations
15-323 Transfer to Unfunded Capital
15-328 Proceeds on sale of Capital Assets
15-325 Capital Grant Revenues
15-326 Loan Proceeds
TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
16-221 Capital Purchase
Debt Repayment
16-212-1  Tanker Loan - interest
16-212-2  Tanker Loan - principal
16-212-3  Fire Hall Construction Loan - interest
16-212-4  Fire Hall Loan - interest
16-212-5  Fire Hall Loan - principal

Page 36 of 42

2023 Actual 2024 Actual

1,286
6,594
3,242

4,818

651
422,308

405,373

500

500

8,805

4,537
26,510

Y Zz
2025
Budget
1,286 1,350
2,089 1,000
3,242 3,242
4,200
1,376 4,000
513,639 523,592
461,636 460,792
100
10,000
12,000 100
761,517 32,500
3,733 2,905
27,303 28,120
18,305
Page 2 of 3

90

2025 Actual
(Pre-Audit)

1,330

2,180
3,242

2,193

465,187

404,239

417,269

417,269

453,516

2,905
28,120

AB AC

2026 DRAFT
BUDGET

Comments

1,350
2,000

3,242

Audit fees $3,700 per contract + $500 for external
4,200 accounting
1,000

536,542

522,342

100

- Re: construction cost of new fire hall

1,850,000 Potential NOHFC Fire Hall grant
1,850,000
3,700,100

3,704,000

2,052
28,961
60,100 Interest on construction financing
14,017
6,654 Assuming debentured out by October 2026



Page 37 of 42

A | B w y |z AA AB AC

1 | BURK'S FALLS AND DISTRICT FIRE DEPARTMENT
2 | 2026 DRAFT BUDGET
3 |February 17, 2026

2025 2025 Actual | 2026 DRAFT

A ipti C t:
ccount # Description 2023 Actual] 2024 Actual Budget (Pre-Audit) BUDGET omments
4
75
76 TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 39,852 792,553 81,830 484,540 3,815,784
77
78 NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 39,352 780,553 81,730 67,272 115,684
79
80 | NET EXPENDITURES 444,724 | 1,242,188 542,522 471,511 638,026
81 |
82 | MUNICIPAL CONTRIBUTIONS
83 ] 15-621 A | Armour (47.84%) 212,756 594,263 259,543 225,571 305,232
84| 15-621 B Burk's Falls (28.6%) 127,191 355,266 155,161 134,852 182,475
85 Ryerson (23.56%) 104,777 292,660 127,818 111,088 150,319
86 444,724 | 1,242,188 542,522 471,511 638,026
Page 3 of 3

91




Page 41 of 42

Fire Chief's Report

To: Council

From: Joe Readman, Fire Chief

Date of Meeting: February 24, 2026

Report Title: Purchasing First Due software
Recommendation:

That Council receives and approves this report as presented and authorizes the
purchase of First Due and enter into a contract for continued use.

Introduction:

Burk’s Falls and District Fire Department has always been a pen and paper
department for call reports, inspections, equipment logs and so many more areas
of the department. While this has worked historically, it is outdated, time
consuming, creates duplicated information and takes up lots of physical space.
The department has been engaged with multiple software companies over the
past year to source out the right software for us and our needs, keeping in mind,
security, ease of use/availability and cost.

First Due meets all our needs, it is easy to use platform, and dashboard will
streamline day-to-day tasks at both the management and firefighter levels. It is a
secured cloud base software with servers here in Canada. It has many beneficial
modules including:

Incident Reporting- Fire Code reporting incident documentation, provincial
compliance

Inspections- Field inspections, configurable checklists, violation management,
virtual inspections, inspection scheduler, and integrated pre-planning.

Community Connect- An on-line portal for residents and businesses to input
critical occupant and property data that can be made available to emergency
responders during an incident.

This also has the alert system built in to replace CODERED, we did bring our
CEMC into the demo of this portion and she was supportive of this software.

Occupancy Management & Pre-incident Planning- manage occupancies, Pre-
incident mapping, fire systems, hazardous materials and contact information.

Page 1 of 2

92



Page 42 of 42

Assets & Inventory
Assets, vehicles, equipment and inventory management, asset and equipment
checks, and work order management.

Financial implication:

First year $17,150.00 This includes the purchase of the First Due software
services related to configuring and customizing the First Due Platform and initial
training of staff.

Annual subscription starting year two $13,150.

This will replace an approximate $4,000 in annual fees to CODERED for the
three municipalities.

Conclusion:

Although pen and paper have brought us this far, its time to modernize into the
digital world. We have spent the last year exploring and testing available software
options and First Due is my recommendation to Council. First Due will provide
everything we need as a Fire Department to stay within legal compliance and will
also be used partially by our CEMC as an alert system during large scale events or
emergencies.

Page 2 of 2

93



Page 38 of 42
The Mu icipality of he

VILLAGE OF BURK’S FALLS

172 Ontario Street @ PO Box 160 e Burk’s alls ON POA 1CO
P 705-38 - 138 e F 705-382-227 e www.burksfalls.net

LIBRARY BUILDING MAINTENANCE AND FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Report: 01-2026
Date: January 26, 2026
PURPOSE

This report provides Council and municipal partners with an overview of the financial and maintenance
condition of the municipal library building and outlines the rationale for the current rent increase,
highlighting the disparity between rental income and the full cost of long-term operations and maintenance.

BACKGROUND

The Village initiated a review of its commercial facility rental rates to ensure alignment with prevailing
market conditions and the responsible management of municipal assets. This review included facilities such
as the Health Centre Medical Building and the Welcome Centre, where rental rates were adjusted to reflect
current commercial market values. By comparison, the library lease rate was below $5.00 per square foot,
while comparable commercial rates exceed $20.00 per square foot. To address this variance and support
greater consistency with commercial rental standards, the Village approved an increase to the library lease,
while remaining mindful of the library’s important community role and long-term sustainability.

The library building is a key public asset that supports essential educational, cultural, and community
services for area residents. While the facility generates rental income through tenant occupancy, this
revenue was intended to offset only a portion of operating costs and has not been sufficient to fully address
ongoing expenses or future capital maintenance requirements. This was demonstrated by the 2017 roof
replacement cost of $36,528.59 which was funded by the Village of Burk’s Falls ratepayers, illustrating the
ongoing financial responsibility associated with maintaining the building.

The Village of Burk’s Falls retained Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. to support the development of the
asset management plan (AMP). The plan was intended to assist the Village in optimizing asset management
outcomes for its infrastructure assets in a cost-effective manner and to ensure compliance with the July 1,
2022 and July 1, 2024, requirements of Ontario Regulation 588/17: Asset Management Planning for
Municipal Infrastructure (O. Reg. 588/17). Upon completion of this plan, the Village proceeded with the
development of a comprehensive asset management plan to satisfy the July 1, 2025 requirements of O. Reg.
588/17, building on the asset management work completed to date.

Key components of the comprehensive plan included development of a financial strategy that considers

long-term sustainability and affordability specific to the Village and assessing asset criticality using a risk-
based approach.

94



Page 39 of 42
The unicipalityo t e

VILLAGE OF BU K’S FALLS

172 Ontario Street ® PO Box 160 e Burk’s Falls O POA 1CO
P 705- 82-3138 @ F 705-382-2273 @ ww.burksfalls.net

ANALYSIS

CapitalExpe e equire e tsf 39C pelan Str tasld ntifiedinth Ass t Managem ntPlan

B- ¢ o o . o . ' ‘ ¢
H o 0 - . [ - . ' ... :
Foundations Concrete 10+ years $20,000
Basement Construction Concrete Block 10+ years $30,000
Roofing Asphalt shingles/wood truss 5-10 years $20,000
Exterior Enclosure Wood frame/brick 10+ years $250,000
HVAC Payne force air furnace 10+ years $5,000
HVAC Vanee fresh air system $ 5,000
Plumbing Plastic/copper lines 5-10 years $ 5,000
Fire Protection Fire extinguisher 10+ years $1,000
Plumbing hot water 5-10 years $2,500
Electrical two 200 amp breaker panels 10+ yea $,
Fire Protection Fire extinguisher 5-10 years $1,000
4 wall mount plug in heaters 5-10 years $4,000
3 baseboard heaters 5-10 years $3,000
4 washrooms 5-10 years $10,000
kitchen 5-10 years $20,000

Total estimated capital expense of $381,500 based on 2024 pricing.

2026 Estimated Annual Operating Expenses

Operating costs include, but are not limited:
* Library Building maintenance and repairs e.g. (Staff time, Hot water tank, grass cutting): $3,500.00
* Grounds maintenance services with enhanced snow removal: $3,300.00
* Insurance Expense for Village Library Building: $2,543.40

Total estimated Annual expense: $9,343.40

95



Page 40 of 42
The unicipality of the

VILLAGE OF BURK’S FALLS

172 Ontario Street @ PO Box 160 e Burk’s Falls ON POA 1CO
P 705-382-31 8 e F 705-382-2273 @ www.burksfalls.net

In prior years, rental income generated by the building did not fully cover the associated operating
expenses. As a result, the municipality subsidized the operating deficit through general revenues, and no
capital budget allocations were made for the building.

YEAR ANNUAL EXPENSES DEFICIT/SURPLUS

2023 $7,201.00 $7,895.00 ($694.00)
2024 $7,417.00 $6,665.00 $752.00
2025 $7,787.00 $8,565.00 ($778.00)

2026 $9,700.00

RISKS OF THE CURRENT FUNDING MODEL

In addition to recurring operating expenses, the building is subject to future maintenance and capital repair
requirements as outlined in the Asset Management Plan (AMP). In the absence of dedicated funding,
deferred maintenance may lead to higher long-term costs and increased risk of service disruptions or asset
deterioration.

Maintaining the current funding structure presents several risks, including:
e Growing financial pressure on municipal operating budgets

o Deferred maintenance leading to higher future repair costs

e Reduced building lifespan and asset value

e Potential service interruptions or safety concerns

o Limited ability to plan proactively for capital replacements
OPTIONS

Council may wish to consider one or more of the following options:

1. Establish a shared service agreement (e.g. Arena, Firehall) for the library building whereby all
participating partners contribute proportionally to operating, maintenance, and capital costs. Under
this model, costs would be allocated based on an agreed-upon formula, ensuring that financial
responsibility is shared among all users of the facility. This approach would reduce the Village’s
reliance on general revenues, support sustainable asset management, and provide a more equitable
and transparent funding structure for the long-term operation and maintenance of the building.

2. Continued Municipal Subsidy
Maintain the current funding approach, recognizing the library as a core public service requiring
ongoing municipal support.

Conclusion
The library building remains a valuable and essential municipal asset; however, current rental revenues are
insufficient to cover full operating expenses and future maintenance requirements. Proactive planning and

clear funding strategies will be necessary to ensure the building’s long-term sustainability and continued
service to the community.

Denis Duguay CM R P
CAO/CLERK

96



Village of Burk's Falls

Almaguin Highlands Health Centre
January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2025

Revenues-Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2025 Actuals
15-540 Health Centre Rental Revenue 123,839
15-544 Health Centre-Other Revenue 486
Total Revenues-Health Centre 124,325
Expenditures-Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2025 Actuals
16-5401  Health Centre Wages & Benefits 66,299
16-5402 Hydro 21,346
16-5403  Natural Gas 5,611
16-5404  Fuel Oil 557
16-5406 Cleaning Materials 4,735
16-5407 Pest Control 1,054
16-5408 Water & Sewer 1,764
16-5409 Insurance 11,211
16-541 Health Centre-Capital-Replace Fire Panel 18,852
16-541 Health Centre-Capital-Reline Sewer Pipe 23,130
16-5410 Snow Removal 6,868
16-5411  Elevator R&M 4,414
16-5413  Building Maintenance 27,967
16-5416  Miscellaneous 1,706
16-5418 Telephones 2,338
16-550 Transfer to Reserve-Health Centre 10,000
Total Expenses-Almaguin Highland Health Centre 207,852
Surplus / Deficit -83,527
2025 Deficit 83,527
Divided by 10 municipalities 8,353

e 0l VTN —



Village of Burk's Falls

Almaguin Highlands Health Centre
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

Revenues-Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2024 Actuals
16-540 Health Centre Rental Revenue 131,976
16-544 Health Centre-Other Revenue 3,232
Total Revenues-Health Centre 135,208
Expenditures-Almaguin Highlands Health Centre 2024 Actuals
16-5401  Health Centre Wages & Benefits 58,856
16-5402 Hydro 21,400
16-5403  Natural Gas 4,906
16-5404  Fuel Oil 1,009
16-5406 Cleaning Materials 4,429
16-5406-1 Janitorial Contract 5,156
16-5407  Pest Control 808
16-5408 Water & Sewer 1,280
16-5409  Insurance 10,486
16-541 Health Centre-Roof over Elevator Shaft

16-541 Health Centre-Capital-Key System

16-541 Health Centre-Backflow Preventer

16-541 Health Centre-Capital

16-5410  Snow Removal 3,248
16-5411  Elevator R&M 7,701
16-5413  Building Maintenance 33,289
16-5416  Miscellaneous 2,558
16-5418 Telephones 3,458
16-550 Transfer to Reserve-Health Centre 10,000
Total Expenses-Almaguin Highland Health Centre 168,584
Surplus / Deficit -33,376
2024 Deficit 33,376
Divided by 10 municipalities 3,338

98




Village o B k's Falls
172 Onta io St e t Burk's Falls ON P: 05-382-3138

Bill To: Townsh® of Armour

DESCRIPTION

2024 Almaguin Highlands Health Centre Deficit Contribution

HST# 107753410RT0001

SUBTOTAL
HST

INVOICE

DATE: February 10, 2026
INVOICE #

FOR: 2024 AHHC Deficit

Contribution
AMOUNT
S 3,338.00
3338.00
TOTAL $ 3,338.00

If you have any questions concerning this invoice, Contact Camille Barrr @ senioradmin@burksfalls.ca

99



Village of Burk' Fals
172 Ontario Street Burk's Falls ON P: 7 5-382-313

Bill To: The Township of Armour

DESCRIPTION

2025 Almaguin Highlands Health Centre Deficit Contribution

HST# 107753410R 0001

SUBTOTAL
HST

| VOICE

DATE: February 10, 2026
INVOICE #

FOR: 2025 AHHC Deficit

AMOUNT
S 8,353.00
8353.00
TOTAL $ 8,353.00

If you have any questions concerning this invoice, Contact Camille Barrr @ senioradmin@burksfalls.ca

100



[ U B R A o
1 It O |

Almaguin Highlands O.P.P. Detachment Board

Special Meeting of the Board
Wednesday February 11th, 2026
5:00 p.m.

Electronic Attendance Only

Members of the Public are welcome to join the live teleconference

audio meeting by calling:

Phone Number: 1 (646) 931- 3860 Meeting ID: 816 7797 575
Passcode: 030278
Zoom Meeting Link:

https://usO6web zoom.us/j/8 77975 5 ?p d=dEpKUFNLVV gSDZwUEVCbkxzZkhOdz 9

10.

Call to Order

Disclosure of Conflict of Interest
(with reference to this Agenda and any previous meeting)

Adoption of Minutes
3.1. Regular Board Meeting Minutes - Wednesday, January 14t%, 2026

Delegations - NIL

Almaguin Highlands OPP S/Sgt Detachment Commander
Updates and/or Reports - NIL

Board Business

6.1. Draft 2 - 2026 Budget {Res}

6.2. 2026 Spring Conference and Annual General Meeting {Res}
6.3. Draft Meal Allowance Policy {Res}

Correspondence and General Information - NIL

By-laws - NIL

Closed Session — NIL

Other Business

101

/S



11. Adjournment - Next Meeting: April 8, 2026

All information including opinions, presentations, reports, documentation, etc. that are
provided at a public or open meeting are considered a public record.

This is the true original Agenda distributed to the OPP Detachment Board, copied for public
handout, and placed in the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board File. Ref: OPP
Detachment Board Agenda 2026 02 11

102




Almaguin Highlands O.P.P. Detachment Board

Regular Meeting of the Board
Wednesday January 14, 2026
5:00 p.m.

Township of Perry Municipal Office
(1695 Emsdale Road, Emsdale, ON)

Any and all Minutes are to be considered Draft until approved by the OPP Board at
a Regular Meeting.

In A ance:

Council Chambers: Robert Sutherland, Chair & Community
Representative, Board Members Kevin Noaik, Dan
Robertson, Joe Lumley and Neil Scarlett, S/SGT
Doug Vincer, Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment
Commander, Beth Morton, Acting Secretary

Regrets: Krista Miller, Vice Chair & Community Representative

Members of the Public: n/a

Disclosure of Conflict of Interest

Nil

Item 3 - A ion of Minutes

Resolution No. 2026-01
Moved by: Dan Robertson Seconded by: Neil Scarlett

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby
approves the Regular Board Meeting Minutes dated Wednesday, November 12th,
2025.

Carried

Item 4 Delegations
N/A

Item 5 - Almaguin Highlands OPP S/Sagt Detachment Commander Updates
and/or Reports

The Q4 OPP Detachment Board Report was presented to the Board.

Page 1 of 4

103



esolution No. 2026-02
Moved by: Kevin Noaik Seconded by: Joe Lumley
Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby receives
the 2025 Q4 OPP Detachment Board Report.
Carried
Item 6 — Board Business

Item 6.1. Prescription Diversion Project — The Board discussed the correspondence
received from the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP. The Detachment Commander
provided thoughtful and relevant input on the matter which fostered a meaningful
discussion among the board members. The following resolution was then
considered.

Resolution No. 2026-03
Moved by: Kevin Noaik Seconded by: Joe Lumliey

Whereas the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP has circulated correspondence to the
Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board pertaining to the Prescription Diversion
Project and has requested that the Board provide a letter of support.

Now therefore be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment
Board hereby di ect the Secretary to send a letter of su po to The Honourable
Vijay Than'gasala , sociate inister of Mental Hea th d ictions and to The
Honourable Gra don Smit , MPP Parry Sound-Muskoka.

Carried

Item 6.2 Provincial Bail Notification Program - The Board reviewed the
correspondence received from the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP regarding the
Provincial Bail Notification Program. The Detachment Commander offered valuable
insight and perspective, which contributed to a constructive exchange and thorough
discussion among oard members. he following resolution was then considered.

Resolution No. 2026-04
Moved by: Neil Scarlett Seconded by: Dan Robertson

Whereas the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP has circulated correspondence to the
Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board pertaining to the Provincial Bail
Notification Program and has requested that the Board provide a letter of support.

Now therefore be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment
Board hereby direct the Secretary to send a letter of support to The Honourable
Michael Kerzner Solicitor General, Ministry of the Solicitor General, The Honourable
Zee Hamid, Associate Solicitor General for Auto Theft and Bail Reform, Ministry of
the Solicitor General, and to The Honourable Graydon Smith, MPP Parry Sound-
Muskoka.

Carried

Page 2 of 4

104



Item 6.3 - Opposition of the planned closure of Cecil Facer Youth Centre - The Board
discussed the correspondence received from the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP
regarding opposition to the planned closure of the Cecil Facer Youth Centre.
Members considered the potential impacts on youth justice, community safety, and
local service capacity. The Detachment Commander provided operational insight,
which assisted the Board in understanding the broader implications of the proposed
closure and supported a balanced and informed discussion prior to consideration of
the resolution.

Resolution No. 2026-05
Moved by: Kevin Noaik Seconded by: Dan Robertson

Whereas the Joint Zone 1A OAPSB/OACP has circulated correspondence to the
Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board in opposition of the planned closure of
Cecil Facer Youth Centre and has requested that the Board provide a letter of
support.

Now therefore be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment
Board hereby direct the Secretary to send a letter of support to The Honourable
Michael erzner Solicitor General, Ministry of the Solici or General and to The ichael
Parsa, Minister of Children, Community and So ia Se ° es.

Carried

The Board reviewed and discussed the draft 2026 Board Budget, identifying several
items for further consideration and potential update. These included anticipated
costs associated with member attendance at the 2026 Spring Conference in Niagara
Falls and future Zone 1A OAPSB meetings, which are expected to be held in Sudbury
and Sault Ste. Marie. The Secretary advised that confirmation of the 2026 OAPSB
membership fee is pending further information from OAPSB. The Detachment
Commander also requested that the Board consider allocating funds for OPP
Detachment staff appreciation and recognition initiatives, which may include the
presentation o awards and a dinner, or the purchase of hockey jerseys for
Detachment members participating in joint games with local high school students as
part of a community outreach initiative. A suggested allocation of $2,000 was
discussed. The Board engaged in a productive discussion and agreed to seek input
from the municipalities to be presented by each member with a final budget
presented at the next meeting.

i . 2026-06
Moved by: Joe Lumley Seconded by: Kevin Noaik

Be it resolved that the Aimaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby
directs that the Secretary bring forward the 2026 Board Budget for approv | at the
April 8, 2026 Regular Meeting.

Carried

Item 7 — Correspondence and General Information
Page 3 of 4

105



Resolution No. 2026-07
Moved by: Kevin Noaik Seconded by: Dan Robertson

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board her by receives
Items 7.1 to 7.3 Correspondence and General Information as outlined on th Agenda
of Wednesday, January 14th, 2026.

Carried
10. Other Business

The Detachment Commander outlined that through TPON funding, a joint
partnership between the Township of Armour and the Almaguin Highlands OPP has
enabled the operation of the Festive Drive Ride Program, which has been a great
success. This collaborative initiative enhanced road safety and demonstrated the
positive impact of targeted funding on community well-being. In addition, TPON
fu ig iu up t CMHA/OP i si i e Vill

of Sundridge, allowing this valuable mental health and community outreach initiative
to remain in place.

Additional information was provided regarding school engagement initiatives, with
the Detachment Commander highlighting the ongoing annual hockey games as an
effective way to build positive relationships, help students feel safe and comfortable
with police presence in schools and fundraises for local organizations and the Food
Bank. He also noted that a lockdown exercise was conducted in November to support
emergency preparedness, emphasizing that these efforts contribute to students
feeling safer in their school environments and with the OPP. Finally, discussion took
place regarding the upcoming spring conference, and the Detachment Commander
advised that it would be beneficial for one to two Board members to attend in order
to support continued learning and effective governance.

The Meeting adjourned at approximately 6:05 p.m.
Dated this 11t day of February, 2026.

Original signed by Robert Sutherland
Robert Sutherland, Chair

Original signed by Beth Morton
Beth Morton, Acting Secretary

Page 4 of 4

106



Special Meeting of the Board
Wednesday February 11, 2026

Items for consideration:
Draft 2 - 2026 Board Budget,
Annual Conference
& Meal Allowance Policy

RESOLUTIONS:

Resolution 1

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board has
received the Draft 2 2026 Budget and hereby directs that the Secretary bring
it forward for approval at the April 8, 2026 Meeting.

Resolution 2
Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby
approves to attend the 2026 Spring
Conference and Annual General Meeting from June 1 to 3, 2026 in Niagara
F lls, nt rio.

Resolution 3

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby
directs the Secretary to bring forward a Meal Allowance Policy for consideration
and approval at the April 8, 2026 Meeting.

OVERVIEW

The Acting Secretary has provided a revised ‘Draft 2’ Budget for discussion for
the 2026 Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board Budget.

Honoraria for community representatives and the provincial appointee has

been established to be paid in accordance with the Township o Perr s
established per-meeting per diem for advisory boards which is $61.82 per

107



meeting beginning in 2026. The Board has established to meet quarterly, but
I have added an allowance for up to 2 additional meetings per year.

The 2026 Insurance and Membership costs are confirmed and paid for this
year.

General Board costs were originally established at $1,800 for 2026.

There was a discussion that one or two Board Members may wish to attend
the Spring OAPSB Conference this year. There are also Zone Meetings that
will be held later in the year in Sudbury and Sault Ste. Marie and during the
OAPSB Conference in June.

I was able to obtain the estimated costs for the Conference and Zone
Meetings.

For the Spring Conference there is a Early Bird discount up to April 1, 2026.
The cost is $899 plus tax for the conference. Hotel rates are $159 to 239 plus
tax per night depending on availability of rooms. Mileage and other food
expenses have also been considered.

For the Zone Meetings, I have calculated approximate costs for hotel, mileage
and food expenses. '

The budget has been established to allow for the attendance of one member
at the Conference and at each Zone Meeting.

It should be confirmed if anyone or who will be attending the conference. The
registration will need to be completed prior to the next meeting to ensure that
the Early Bird discount is applied (before April 1, 2026). The Acting Secretary
can complete the registration and pay the fees for conference. Hotel and other
expenses will need be managed by the attendee and reimbursed by the
Township of Perry upon providing receipts. Hotel expenses will be reimbursed
based on hotel rates advertised should the attendee whish to book at an
alternate location. Furthermore, if there is no one attending this year’s
conference, the funds can be removed from the budget. I do not have the
dates for the Zone 1A Meetings as of completion of this report.

Note: There is an option to purchase a companion meal package for $250 plus

tax. If the attendee wishes to take a companion to the conference, this
expense must be paid for by the attendee as it is not an approved expense.

108



$2,000 has also been included as an appreciation/recognition as per the
discussion at the January 14, 2026 Meeting. This item will be further
discussed at a future meeting to determine what the Board determines for
appreciation/recognition (ie jerseys, awards dinner, etc.)

The municipalities are preparing their 2026 budgets, therefore it is imperative
that the total budget be established to assist in their budget preparations.
Following this meeting, an update will be provided to each Clerk of the 12
municipalities providing the estimated 2026 budget so that it may be included
in the annual operating budget. Once the budget has been adopted, this will
also be sent to the municipalities.

In addition to the budget, the Acting Secretary will bring forward a Meal
Allowance Policy adopted by Perry Council for consideration by the Board so
that a policy may be adopted in advance of the conference and Zone meetings.

This report has been submitted to the Board for discussion purposes in order
to provide direction to the Acting Secretary to bring forward the final 2026
Budget at the next Regular Meeting scheduled on April 8, 2026, along with
direction for Conference attendance and Meal Allowance Policy.

Submitted to the Board for their consideration.
Attachments
o Draft 2 Budget with attachments

e OAPSB Conference for consideration
o Township of Perry Meal Allowance Policy

109



February 5, 2026 - Draft 2 Budget

Item Description Budget
OAPSB 2026 Membership Fee $2,996.39
OPP Board Insurance 2026 Insurance $3,888.00
Provincial 2026 Provincial $370.92
Appointee Honorarium Appointee Honorarium

Community 2026 Community $741.84

Representative
Appointees Honorarium

Representative
Appointees Honorarium

($61.82 meeting for
each community rep)

General Board
Administration

Spring Conference ( 1
Member - conference,
hotel, mileage, food)

$2,500.00

Zone 1A Meeting $1,200.00
(Sudbury - 1 member -
meeting, hotel, mileage,
food)
Zone 1A Meeting (Sault | $1,700.00
Ste. Marie - 1 member -
meeting, hotel, mileage,
food)
2026 Appreciation $2,000.00
Recognition
2026 Draft Total $ 15,397.15

($1,283.10 per
municipality)

110




L I AR |
1 i |

Almaguin Highlands O.P.P. Detachment Board

Regular Meeting of the Board
Wednesday February 11th, 2026
5:00 p.m.

Electronic Attendance Only

Any and all Minutes are to be considered Draft until approved by the OPP Board at
a Regular Meeting.

In Attendance:

Electronic: Robert Sutherland, Chair & Community
Representative, Krista Miller, Vice Chair
Community Representative Board Members Kevin
Noaik, Joe Lumley and Neil Scarlett, Beth Morton,
Acting Secretary

Regrets: Dan Robertson

Members of the Public: n/a

Item 2 - Disclosure of Conflict of Interest- Nil

Item 3 - Adoption of Minutes

Resolution No. 2026-08

Moved by: Joe Lumley Seconded by: Kevin Noaik

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby

approves the Regular Board Meeting Minutes dated Wednesday, January 14th, 2026.
Carried

Item 4 Delegations - Nil
Item 5 — Almaguin Highlands OPP Updates and or Reports - Nil

Item 6.1 — Draft 2026 Budget
Resolution No. 2026-09
Moved by: Neil Scarlett Seconded by: Kevin Noaik
Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board has received
the Draft 2 - 2026 Budget and hereby directs that the Secretary bring the final
budget forward for approval at the April 8, 2026 Meeting.

Carried

Page 1 of 2

111



Item 6.2 - 202 ring Conference and Annual General Meetin

Resolution No. 2026-10

Moved by: Kevin Noaik Seconded by: Neil Scarlett

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby
approves Dan Robertson to attend the 2026 Spring Conference and Annual General
Meeting from June 1 to 3, 2026 in Niagara Falls, Ontario.

Carried
Item 6.3 D | Allowance Poli
Resolution No. 2026-11
Moved by: Joe Lumley Seconded by: Neil Scarlett

Be it resolved that the Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board hereby directs
the Secretary to bring forward a Meal Allowance Policy for consideration and
approval at the April 8t", 2026 Meeting.

Carried
The Meeting adjourned at approximately 5:17 p.m.
Dated this 8t day of April, 2026.

Robert Sutherland, Chair

Beth Morton, Acting Secretary

Page 2 of 2

112



Charlene Watt (De u Clerk)

From: Beth Morton <beth.morton@townshipofperry.ca>
Sent: February 13, 2026 11:27 AM
To: Denis Duguay; Cheryl Marshall ; Nicole Gourlay; Nancy Field; Township of Joly ; Nancy

Austin; Caitlin Haggart; Don McArthur; Brayden Robinson; Kerstin Vroom; Angela
Loney; Charlene Watt (Deputy Clerk); Dave Gray

Cc: Kim Seguin

Subject: Almaguin Highlands OPP Detachment Board 2026 Budget

Good morning:

In response to Denis’s question regarding Council resolution, | did some further digging into the
budget and realized that there will need to be some adjustments required to the 2026 Budget and its
breakdown.

The appropriate share for he O P Board B dget is broke dow based ona /12t share, save and
except for the OAPSB membership which is based on a per property calculation. For 2026, OAPSB
did not provide a breakdown per property, so | have requested that amount and will provide an
update as soon as | have it.

In addition, in reviewing the Terms of Reference, the mileage to attend the conference and zone
meetings are paid by the member’s respective municipality. This would apply for the Council
representative. The Community Representatives and Provincial Appointee costs are shared based
on a 1/12t share.

The June Spring Conference in Niagara Falls is being attended this year by Dan Roberton, Councillor
of Ryerson Township. | had estimated into the budget a mileage cost of approximately $525,
therefore the conference portion of the budget has been reduced by this amount as it is the
municipality responsibility and not the Board to cover this cost. The conference, meals, hotel
expenses are the responsibility of the Board.

The Provincial Appointee is regulated to receive remuneration. It is at the Board's discretion to pay
the Community Representatives. A monetary amount has been included in the 2026 Budget based
on Perry’s rates for 2026. Any remuneration of Council representatives (if paid) would be by their
respective municipality.

The 1/12t share was agreed upon when establishing the Board, as well as the Board composition.

Under Section 71 of the Community Safety and Policing Act, 2019, S.0. 2019, c. 1, Sched. 1 outline
the Estimates for the OPP Detachment Boards.

Section 71 (1) outlines that the O.P.P. detachment board shall prepare estimates, in accordance with
the regulations made by the Minister, of the total amount that will be required to pay the expenses of
the board’s operation, other than the remuneration of board members. 2019, c. 1, Sched. 1, s. 71 (1);
2023, c. 12, Sched. 1, s. 31 (1);

And Section 71 (2) outlines that the O.P.P. detachment board shall submit the estimates to every
municipality that receives policing from the detachment along with a statement of the municipality’s

1
113



share of the costs, which are to be determined in accordance with the regulations made by the
Minister. 2019, c. 1, Sched. 1, s. 71 (2); 2023, c. 12, Sched. 1, s. 31 (2); and

And Section 71 (3) outlines that subject to subsection (4), the municipalities shall contribute their
share of the costs to the O.P.P. detachment board’s budget in accordance with the estimates. 2019,
c. 1, Sched. 1, s. 71 (3).

Based on this information, the Board Budget amount is to be included within each municipality’s
budget at the 1/12t" share (plus OAPSB calculation cost), therefore there is no resolution required by
each Council based on legislation (similar to a levy) as Council is required to pay it.

Once | hear back from OAPSB on the calculation of the membership fee for 2026, | will provide a
revised draft budget figure for municipalities.

| apologize for any confusion this may have caused, and please reach out if you have questions.
Take care,

Beth Morton, Clerk-Administrator

Q

Township of Perry | 1695 Emsdale Road
Emsdale ON | (705)636-5941
www.townsh'pofperry.

The Municipal Office is open to the public Monday to Friday from 8:30 am to 4:30 pm. If you wish to discuss
a planning application, kindly email me or call 705-636-5941 to schedule an appointment. We also are
continuing to provide services online, by telephone, and by email. You can also visit our website
www.townshipofperry.ca for more information.

My working day may differ from your working day. Please do not fe | b iged to re ly to this email outside of
your normal wor ing hours.

Disclaimer: This email is intended solely for the person or entity to which it is addressed and may contain confidential and/or
privileged information. Any review, dissemination, copying, printing or other use of this email by persons or entities other than the
addressee is prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please contact the sender immediately and delete the material from
any computer.

From: Denis Duguay <clerk@burksfalls.ca>

Sent: February 12, 2026 10:55 AM

To: Beth Morton <beth.morton@townshipofperry.ca>; Cheryl Marshall <clerk@mcmurrichmonteith.com>; Nicole
Gourlay <nicole.gourlay@townofkearney.ca>; Nancy Field <deputyclerk@ryersontownship.ca>; Township of Joly
<office@townshipofjoly.com>; Nancy Austin <naustin@sundridge.ca>; Caitlin Haggart <clerk@strongtownship.com>;
Don McArthur <clerk@southriver.ca>; Brayden Robinson <treasurer@ryersontownship.ca>; Kerstin Vroom
<kvroom@magnetawan.com>; Angela Loney <aloneymachar@vianet.ca>; Charlene Watt - Armour

2
114



13
BURK'’S FALLS, ARMOUR & RYERSON UNI®N PUBLIC LIBRARY
February 18, 2026

1. Call to order (5)

We want to begin by recognizing that we are on the traditional territory of the Anishinaabe Peoples, in the Robinson-Huron and
Williams Treaties areas. We wish to acknowledge the long history of First Nations and Métis Peoples in Ontario, and show
respect to the neighbouring indigenous communities.

2. Approval of the Meeting Agenda (M)

3. Declaration of any conflicts of interest

4. Approval of consent agenda (M)

a) Minutes — JANUARY 2026
b) Financial Statement — JANUARY 2026
c) CEO Report— JANUARY 2026

5. Business arising from the minutes (30 min)
-Pay Equity Co neTED
-Board Evaluation

-Councillor Kyte member requirements & committee preferences
-Library Building Maintenance and Financial Sustainability — Village of Burk’s Falls Report

6. Committee Reports (15 min)
FINANCE/BUDGET (Ruth, Patty, Joe)

-Letter of support invitation sent
PERSONNEL (Bob, Bev, Patty) No Report

BUILDING/FUNDRAISING (Joe, Ruth, Bev, Rod, Tiffany) No Report

POLICY/PLANNING (Ruth, Bev Vic , Bob
-Policy F-1V-2; F-IV-3; F-IV-5; F-IV-13
- Al Policy consideration

7. Correspondence and Information Items (15 min)
- Privacy Commissionaire report
- National Canadian Film Day — Volunteers needed
- Library Space Design Challenges invitation
- Ryerson Township Resolution expressing concerns re: Bill C-15
- Innovative Library Service Delivery: Adapting to the Digital World

8. New Business (15 min)
-Robert tax return volunteer offer
-Email to MP re CSJ
-March Break activities — Volunteers needed
-VOLT
-Library Audit preparations

9. Adjournment (M)

A Visce Wd&ﬁ' You v



Burk’s Falls, Armour & Ryerson Union Public Library

CEO Report
JANUARY 2026
Circulation: (651) items ( 8 e hemeral Website hits: (233)
Interlibrary loans — received: (74 ( searches Wireless Internet: (5 )
Interlibrary loans — shipped: (3 ) (42) requests
Libby (eBooks/Audio Books): (51 ) Public Computers: (103)

Internet Usa eb Tow s °
A@27 (104) R(7) MM(1) /R@A3)

Inter-Libra Loan Usa eb Townshi

A(12) B34 RA) MM@2) /R()

Membership: Burk’s Falls (566) card holders (25 ) items borrowed
Armour 5 ) 7)
Ryerson 303) 2
McMurrich/Monteith ( ) (
Libr r Ev
@VYourlibra
/

RYLIT

116



A
[ |

PUBLIC LIBRARY

CULTURAL SOCIAL
INFRASTRUCTURE INFRASTRUCTURE

SPACE

Content goes here

117



Bey Porry Sound Bistrict

al it

i
au de santé

January 30, 2026

The Honourable Peter Bethlenfalvy
Minister of Finance

Suite 213, 1150 Kingston Road
Pickering, Ontario L1V 1C3

Dear Minister Bethlenfalvy,

Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to the 2026 On ario Budge Consultation. The Board of Health for the North Bay
Parry Sound District Health Unit (Health Unit) recognizes the Ontario government’s efforts in the 2025 budget to include
measures to promote affordability for Ontarians. For the 2026 budget, as a component of a system-wide strategy to address
housing and food affordability, the Health Unit recommends that the Government o On a io ial i nce
system by:

e Increasing Ontario Disability Support Program (ODSP) rates to reflect the cost of living; and
e Increasing Ontario Works (OW) rates to reflect the cost of living and indexing OW rates to inflation going forward.

The Health Unit recently completed its 2025 reporting on food affordability. This year, the analysis was expanded to include
local data collection on apartment rental rates in North Bay and Parry Sound. The 2_25 food and housing affordability data
shows, in real numbers, that households reliant on Ontario Works do not have enough money to meet basic needs. This
finding is consistent with __c _ntd ta from the Maytree Foundation, which shows that social assistance recipients in Ontario
live far below the poverty line.

The most recent local h_melessne s count in Nipissing revealed that over 80% of respondents identifying as homeless had
OW or ODSP as their main income. Respondents also cited low income and high rental costs as the top two barriers to finding
housing. Adequate income is a foundational social determinant of health. Strengthening social assistance in Ontario is a
critical component of increasing income security for many of the provin s | in hl nr r n n
important and effective policy measure to take action on poverty, homelessness, and household food insecurity as important
public health issues.

The importance of strengthening social assistance in Ontario was also communicated as part of the Health Unit’s
recommendations submitted to the 2025-2030 Ontario Poverty Reduction Strategy consultation in November 2025.

At the Board of Health meeting on January 28, 2026, the Board of Health passed a resolution endorsing this submission and
supporting increased ODSP and OW rates, as well as the indexing of OW rates to inflation.

Whereas, the Ontario Public Health Standards require public health agencies to monitor food affordability, and assess and
report on the health of local populations, describing the existence and impact of health inequities including housing and food

insecurity; and

Whereas, income is an important social determinant of health that greatly impacts a household’ ability to pay fort e  sic
costs of living, including housing and food; and

Whereas, food insecurity and housing insecurity have detrimental impacts on physical and mental health; and

-t LUTIoON—
118



ealt s'"ﬁ t To: Honourable Peter Bethlenfalvy
Page 2 of 3

Date: January 30, 2026
B reaude né

Whereas, the 2025 North Bay Parry Sound food affordability results show that households with social assistance as their main
income do not have enough money for the costs of living; and

Therefore Be It Resolved, that the Board of Health for the North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit continues to support in
principle the efforts of staff to monitor, raise awareness about, and work to reduce health inequities
including poverty, homelessness, and household food insecurity; and

Furthermore Be It Resolved, that the Board of Health for the North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit calls on the Province
of Ontario to strengthen social assistance by increasing OW and ODSP rates to reflect the costs of living, and index Ontario
Works rates to inflation as part of the 2026 Ontario budget; and

Furthermore Be It Resolved, that the Board of Health for the North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit provide
correspondence of these resolutions to district municipalities, Ontario Boards of Health, Victor Fedeli, MPP (Nipissing),
Graydon Smith, MPP (Parry Sound-Muskoka), John Vanthof, MPP (Timiskaming-Cochrane), the Honourable Doug Ford
(Premier), the Honourable Peter Bethlenfalvy (Minister of Finance) the Honourable Michael Parsa (Minister of Children,
Community and Social Services), the Honourable Sylvia Jones (Minister of Health), the Association of Local Public Health
Agencies (alPHa), Pauline Rochefort, MP (Nipissing-Timiksaming), Scott Aitchison, MP (Parry Sound-Muskoka), District of
Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board, District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board, Association of
Municipalities of Ontario (AMOQ), Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FONOM), and the Council of Ontario Medical
Officers of Health (COMOH,).

Thank you for reviewing this important local data and considering the recommendation of the Board of Health for the North
Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit to strengthen social assistance in Ontario as a priority for the 2026 Ontario budget.

Sincerely,

Rick Champagne (Jan 30, 2026 11:2906

Rick Champagne
Chairperson, Board of Health

C’awl}héﬂ.&w
Dr. Carol Zimbalatti, M.D., CCFP, MPH
Medical Officer of Health/Executive Officer

Copy to:

Vic Fedeli, MPP, Nipissing

Graydon Smith, MPP, Parry Sound-Muskoka
John Vanthof, MPP, Timiskaming-Cochrane

119



:.'i'ga t nit To: Honourable Peter Bethlenfalvy
~ Page3of3

m Date: January 30, 2026
Eu ud é

Hon. Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario

Hon. Michael Parsa, Minister of Children, Community and Social Services
Hon. Sylvia Jones, Minister of Health

Pauline Rochefort, MP, Nipissing-Timiksaming

Scott Aitchison, MP, Parry Sound-Muskoka

Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa)

District Municipalities

Ontario Boards of Health

District of Parry Sound Social Services Administration Board
District of Nipissing Social Services Administration Board
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO)

Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FONOM)
Council of Ontario Medical Officers of Health (COMOH)

mn
-
n

120



lumn:’
R WNo 0. 2026~ YO FEBR RY1 202
oved by:

Secon ed by.
HER reliable, hi -speed internet access is essenti | nfrastructure at supports economic | pm nt, hous
n ruction, healthcare, education, municipal o rations, and overall commun Il-being;

WHEREAS the Province of Ontario has recogn zed the im oftance of d’ ital infrastructure thr  h the Accelerating Access
8road nd for Ontario Act, 2021, w ich seeks to ex adba d access to all ntarians, particul rlyi underserv and

| communities;

AND access to affordable hi h-speed 'n e etisan cessaryp econd iontoa ievi provincia and federa h usi

economic deve pment,a popu ation growthta e ;
AND WHEREAS Bell Canada curr ntly ffers editat fi re in e net services at the folo in indicative rat s under a five (5}
yearterm ~ inar lated rea:i bps/1 bp 1, 10 per month, 500 Mbps /S Mbps $3, Opermon a d1l
/1 $3,2 ' per onth.
AND WHEREAS such p ‘¢ stru ures place dedicat d bre services be financ ireachofmanymu o |~ ,sm |
businesses, housing deve opments, non-  ofito a ‘zato ,a dcomm n  facilit s;
AND EASun ordable broadb nd infrastruct re costs undermine th intent of provincial and feder |legisfatio aimedat
un ersal access to hi h-speed inte net, nclud” g fe eral progra  admin’s efred by | nov tion, Sci nce and conomic
D velo ment an a{ISE }and atory oversi by the Canadian Radio-telev ion and Telecommunica C m ission
{CRT )
AN REAS affor le, hi h-speedint rnetac ssi essentiali fras turea afou dationalre ireme forinclus've
r wth, housi deh ry, and community es fen and m nicipal esarer uire topla for owth,h usi a deconom'c
competit eness, etha enosayintelecommuni ti sprici gand market ructu es;
A HE EAStheCou ilo the wunicipall o a tawanca upontheCR C exa ° the affo dability o dedicated
fbreprcin  ditsimpacto municipal infrastru ur , housing devefopment, and equitable in ernet acc ss;
R the Co ncil of the Municipality o  agnetawan calls ¥ n the Government of On rio to ith
lecommunicatio s prov’ ers to ensu e that broadba din ast ucturec.  do not impede the ob ectiveso he Acc ! atin
cc stoBroadbandf Ontorio ct, 0 1andt uilding oster Home and e Choice Act, 2022;
A D WHEREAS the Cou cil ofthe unicipali o agnetawa call upon  Canadator iew and revise its dedica fibre
ricing mode s to ensure they are affordable, transpare t, and scaled appropriately for i "palities, community institu o ,
andlocal velopment pro ects;
NO TH REFOREB (T RESOLVED THAT the ouncil of the - unicipality of Magnetawan ¢ lis upon the Gov rnm n of Canada,
inclyding ED, to str n affordab lity requir ments ied to ed ral broadband fu inga d universal access rogr ms;
A DFURTHER  Tthis resolution be circul tedtot  rime inister fCanada rk ar ey, the Honourabl Premier Dou
Ford, the Hono a e elanie Joly, inister o Innovato , ience and Indu ry, t e onourable Kinga Surma, Minister of
Infrastructure, th Honourable Rob Flack, ‘isero n ipal Affsirsand usi t  onourable Graydon Smit , MPP for
Parry und-Mus oka,  Ho ourable Scott Al chison, MP for P rry  nd-Muskocka, Bell Canada, the CRTC, ONOM, O,
M MA, andall Ontar’  unicipal ies through 0.

Carried__|/ Defeat D fe red
m Dunne yor
Recorded Vote Called by:

Recorded ote
[ rof Counc Yea Na Absent
Bishop, Bl
etherington, John
Hind, Jon
Kneller, Brad

1 D >, S
ayor: Du ne , Sam 121

“RespLoTiond —

5



(b

Highlights r m the January 2026 MOH rep
MOH Upda

Corpor e i s

Following the ratification of collective agreements with the Ontario Nurses’
Association, the Ontario Public Service Employees’ Union and the Management
Non-Union Group at the Health Unit, applicable internal documents are being
updated and negotiated changes are being implemented.

Clini al e i

e Lyme Disease is on the rise. There have been 14 cases in the districtin 2025,
compared to a previous annual record of four cases.

e Sexual Health clinical services are being realigned to better meet the needs of
priority populations and those without a primary care provider.

e The Health Unit participated in the Parry Sound Drug Strategy’s 2" annual National
Addictions Awareness Week, November 17-21. Health Unit staff provided access to
naloxone training as well as HIV and Hepatitis C testing.

e There has been high demand for seasonal respiratory vaccines (influenza, COVID-19
and RSV) this year. 2025-26 is the first year the RSV vaccine is publicly-funded for
the general public aged 75 years and older. Fourteen Health Unit clinics offering all 3
vaccines were hosted in communities across the district, as well as offering
appointments at both Health Unit office locations from mid-October to the end of
November. Seasonal vaccines continue to be available by appointment at clinics in
the North Bay and Parry Sound Health Unit offices for individuals unable to access
vaccionation through a local primary care provider or pharmacy.

Communi rvices

The Health Unit participated in a community information session on polyfluoroalkyl
substances (PFAS) on November 19 at the Best Western in North Bay. The event
attracted significant public interest and included formal presentations with
opportunities for one-on-one discussions with Health Unit staff regarding PFAS.

122



Og ~ai n lEffectiveness

e The Indigenous Wellness Circle reconvened in December following a temporary
pause. The ongoing work of the Circle aims to strengthen relationships with
Indigenous health and social service partners; advance reconciliation through
meaningful and sustained action; reduce health inequities across the region; and
support the Health Unit in remaining accountable to the Indigenous communities
and peoples it serves. This work is grounded in the understanding that Indigenous
public health initiatives must be led by Indigenous peoples in the development
of policies, procedures, and programming that affect them.

e The Muskoka, Nipissing, Parry Sound Data Collaborative, chaired by the Health Unit,
in partnership with the Muskoka, Nipissing, Parry Sound Child and Youth Planning
Table has published a new Dv . The dashboard
summarizes key indicators related to the learning journey of children across
Muskoka, Nipissing and Parry Sound districts.

o A was provided to Michael Parsa, the Minister of Children, Community and
Social Services to inform the development of the 2025-2030 Ontario Poverty
Reduction Strategy.

123



| F

Your Community,
Your Budget
JOIN THE DISCUSSION

The Tow ship of Armour will be di cussing its 2026

unicipa Draft Budget at its regular meeting of March 24,
2026 and will be presenting a by-law to approve the draft
budget at its regular meeting of April 14, 2026.

Core services and capital projects are primarily funded by
your tax dollars. The Township strives to allocate its limited
funds the most efficient way possible, but your feedback is
part of the process.

Anyone interested in participating in th budget process is
encouraged to attend and share their views.

Formore information please contact:
Alison cGregor, Treasurer
56 Ontario Street, PO Box 533
Burk's Falls, Ontario POA1CO
Tel: 705-382-3332 ext. 1
m il: treasurer@armourto sh'p.ca

124



2/17/26, 11:58 AM Ontario Expanding Support for Road Safety Initiatives | Ontario Newsroom

NEWS RELEASE

Ontario Expanding Support for Road Safety Initiatives

Applications opening for remaining funding to support proven traffic-calming measures
that do not raise costs for drivers

February 13, 2026
r_nsporta ion

TO ONTO — As part o its plan to protect Ontario, the government is launching the
next round of the Road Saf ty n't” t'ves und (_SIF). Starting February 19, 2026,
eligible municipalities can apply for additional funding through the $210 million
program to support increased road safety measures in school zones and
community safety zones without using speed cameras that make life more
expensive for drivers and taxpayers.

“Our government is protecting Ontario by keeping costs down for drivers while
ensuring our roads remain among the safest in North America,” said Prabmeet
S rk ri ,Minist rof Tra sport t° .“T isa itiona funding houg t R ad
Safety Initiatives Fund will give municipalities the tools they need to invest in

i frastructure that reduces speeding in real time, rather than issuing speeding
tickets weeks after violations occur.”

Last fall, the province launched the RSIF to help municipalities transition to proven
traffic-calming measures that do not raise costs for drivers, including traffic-calming
infrastructure like speed bumps, raised crosswalks and roundabouts, as well as
high-visibility signage and increased targeted police enforcement in school zones
and community safety zones where municipal speed cameras were previously
deployed.

125
https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1007045/ontario-expanding-support-for-road-safety-initiatives 1/3



2/17/26, 11:58 AM Ontario Expanding Support for Road Safety Initiatives | Ontario Newsroom
In response to public concerns over the increased use of municipal speed cameras

as a revenue-raising tool, the Building a ore Competitive Economy Act, which
received Royal Assent on November 3, 2025, prohibits the use of municipal speed
cameras as of November 14, 2025.

Quick Facts

e Ontario launched the $210-million Road Safety Initiatives Fund in November
2025, providing $42 million in immediate funding to eligible municipalities. All
municipalities that previously used municipal speed cameras are eligible to
apply for funding.

e More than 40 municipalities across Ontario had automated speed enforcement
camera programs before the provincial ban took effect on November 14, 2025.

¢ As a result of the speed camera program, Ontarians were charged millions of
dollars in fines, including a single camera in the City of Toronto that issued
more than 65,000 tickets and took in nearly $7 million in fines prior to 2025.

¢ The City of Vaughan issued 30,000 tickets over a three-week period through its
speed camera program. The city scrapped the program in September 2025.

¢ The Region of Waterloo issued 55,000 tickets during the first six months of its
speed camera program.

® For 25 years, Ontario’s roads have ranked among the safest in North America,
with one of the lowest fatality rates per 10,000 licensed drivers.

Additional Resources

Ontario Lau ching R ad Sa ety Initiatives Fund

Ontario Pro ecting Taxpayer by Banning Municipal Speed Cameras

Related Topics

Driving and road safety
Information about road conditions and safety, driver’s licences, vehicle registration,

commercial vehicles, transit and transportation infrastructure. Le rn more

Jobs and employment

126
https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1007045/ontario-expanding-support-for-road-safety-initiatives 2/3



Armour Township to defend rejection of lithium
battery site

On Jan. 13, Armour rejected the proposed battery storage site, on Feb. 4, they were served with an
Ontario Land Tribunal notice of appeal.

EASTP RY U DDISTRICT

uin New

BySarah Cooke, Local Journalism Initiative Reporter Aimaguin News
Wednesday, February 11, 2026

A legal battle is looming over the rejected battery storage facility on Pegg’s Mountain Road.

On Feb. 10, Armour Township council discussed the Ontario Land Tribunal (OLT) notice of
appeal from PowerBank Corp. (formerly known as Solar Bank).

What we know

PowerBank is appealing Armour council’s Jan. 13 decision to deny official plan and zoning
bylaw amendments that would have allowed the development of a 4.99-megawatt lithium ion
phosphate battery energy storage system. The facility was slated to co-locate with an existing
solar farm at 219 Peggs Mountain Rd.

C unci ejecte t proposal following public outcry, in luding pe itions igned by more han
1,400 pe e. A primary concern cited by council at the time was safety for the community’s
volunteer firefighters.

Additionally, at the Feb. 10 council meeting, elected officials pointed to an incomplete
archeological assessment and an environmental study they char ct riz d sd fici nt; a bat
study allegedly relied on a single microphone when a comprehensive multi-point survey was
required.

What we don’t know

The exact timeline for the OLT hearing remains unclear, though the current backlog at the
tribunal makes an immediate start date unlikely. The OLT has also requested specific
supporting information.

Additionally, it is unknown how much the legal defence will cost taxpayers. The township has

indicated that previous peer reviews of the planning justification, decommissioning plan,
emergency response and environmental reports were funded by the applicant.

What's nex

Township staff are currently compiling administrative records and technical data to meet OLT
disclosure requirements.

The tribunal will eventually hold a hearing to determine if the proposal meets provincial
planning standards, which PowerBank’s planners previously argued it did.

127

Iy



20

TOWNSHIP OF AR’ OUR
E PLOY ENT OPPORTUNITY

Office Administrator

The Township of Armour is presently seeking applications
for the position of Office Administrator

Pay Range: $28.86/hr — $35.50/hr (35 h urs/week)

The Office Administrator position is responsible for providing senior level administrative
and clerical support services to the Municipal Clerk, Manager of Municipal Law
Enforcement, and Chief Building Official in the execution of their duties and
responsibilities.

The complete job description for the position is available from the Township of Armour
municipal office and on the Township website at http://www.armourtownship.ca.

To Apply:  Please submit your resume and cover letter clearly indicating

“Application for Office Administrator”

Submission Deadline: Friday, February 27, 2026 @ 4:00P
Anticipated start date: onday, arch 23", 2026

To: Dave Gray, Chief Administrative Officer
Email: cao@armourtownship.ca
By mail or in person: 56 Ontario Street, Burk’s Falls, ON POA 1C0

The Township of Armour is an Equal Opportunity Employer. Accommodations will be provided upon request in
accordance with the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA).
Personal information is collected under the authority of the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of
Privacy Act and will only be used for the purpose of determining eligibility for this competition.
We thank all applicants for their interest; only those applicants selected for an interview will be contacted.

128



Tri-Council Shared Services Sub-Committee
Armour Township, Burk’s Falls, Ryerson Township

Terms of Reference

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Tri-Council Shared Services Sub Committee (the “Committee”) is to
strengthen communication, and collaborative recommendations regarding the delivery,
performance, and future planning of shared municipal services among the participating
municipalities and enhance transparency.

The Committee will serve as a forum to:
o iscuss levels of se ‘ce provided by each shar d e ‘ce;
« Support long-term planning and cost-sharing approaches; and

« Recommend actions to ensure efficient, equitable, and transparent management
of shared services.

The Committee is established solely in an advisory capacity. It has no delegated authority
to make decisions, bind any municipality, or direct staff in any way.

2. Mandate
The Committee is established to fulfill the following functions:
1. Capital and Asset Planning Coordination

o Support long-term capital planning for shared services in alignment with each
municipality’s individual capital needs and Asset Management Plans.

¢ Facilitate joint prioritization of capital investments to optimize shared
resources.

2. Operational Issue Review

e Provide a structured venue for presenting and discussing operational
challenges identified by any member Council or department head.

¢ Develop and propose collaborative solutions and recommendations for
consideration by the participating Councils.

- eSoLuUTION -~
129

>/



Tri-Council Shared Services Sub-Committee
Armour Township, Burk’s Falls, Ryerson Township

3. Agreement and Cost-Sharing Recommendations

e Review incoming council inquiries and recommend fair, transparent solutions
and budget allocations to the member municipalities.

o Support the development of shared services agreements and or changes as
directed by council.

4. Reporting and Recommendations

e Prepare and present findings, reports, and recommendations to the
participating municipal Councils for approval.

o Ensure that decisions are made collaboratively and in the best interest of all
member municipalities.

3. Membership

The Committee shall be composed of representatives from each participating
municipality, including:

e One (1) elected official from each participating Council; and
¢ The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) or designate from each municipality.

Additional staff or subject matter experts may attend meetings as required to provide
technical input or advice.

4. Chair

¢ The host municipality will chair each meeting.

¢ The Chair shall preside over meetings, ensure orderly discussion.

o The Council representative of the host municipality shall assume the duties of
Chair. In their absence, the CAO of the host municipality shall assume this role.

130



Tri-Council Shared Services Sub-Committee
Armour Township, Burk’s Falls, Ryerson Township

5. Meetings

« The Committee shall meet on a quarterly basis at minimum; however, may meet
as required to address shared service matters.

« Meetings may be held in person or electronically, in accordance with municipal
procedures.

« Agendas and minutes shall be prepared and circulated to all members prior to each
meeting.

6. Recommendation Making
« The Committee shall strive for consensus in all deliberations.

« Where consensus cannot be achieved, recommendations will be made based on
majority agreement, with any dissenting opinions noted in the record.

7. Reporting Structure

« The Committee shall report to the individual Council (the collective Councils of the
participating municipalities).

« All recommendations and reports of the Committee shall require formal approval
by each participating Council prior to implementation.

8. Review of Terms of Reference

This Terms of Reference shall be reviewed every four years or sooner if requested by any
participating Council, to ensure its ongoing relevance and effectiveness.

Approved by:

Township of Armour Date:
Burk’s Falls Date:
Township of Ryerson Date:

131



REQUEST FOR EXPRESSIONS OF INTEREST
Regarding

Al agui Heal &I ai Hu
Pegg’s Mountain Road Development Lands

REOI# 2026-01

ISSUE DATE: March 11, 2026

SUB ISSION DEADLINE:
April 27, 2026

TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR
56 ONTARIO STREET, P.O. BOX 533
BURK'’S FALLS, ON POA1CO

- ResoLoTionNd -
132

22



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

Table of Contents Page
1. Purpose of Request for Expressions of Interest 3
2. Background Information 3
3. General Conditions 3

3.1 Eligibility 3

3.2 Closing Date and Time 4

3.3  Clarification 4
3.4 Development Structure & Land Disposition

3.5 Scope of Desired Services 5

3.5.1 Lead Developer 5

3.5.2 Service Provider 5

3.6 Summary of Key Dates 6

3.7 Term of EOI 6

4. Expression Content 7

4.1  Eligibility 7

4.2 Company/Organization Profile 7

4.3 Executive Overview or Proposed Services 7

44 Budgetary Consideration 7

45 Commitment 7

5. Evaluation Criteria 8

6. Additional Terms and Conditions 8
6.1 Indemnification 8
6.2 Insurance 9

6.2.1 Professional Liability Insurance 9
6.3  Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act 9
6.4 Conflicts of Interest 9
6.5 Confidentiality 9

6.6 Procurement Disclaimer 10

6.7 Freedom of Information and Protection 10

7. Errors and Omissions 10
TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 2 of 10

133



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

1. Purpose of Request for Expressions of Interest (EOI)

The Township of Armour is seeking interested developers, healthcare service
providers and other suitable parties (Respondents) who would have an interest in
leading and/or supporting the creation of an Aimaguin Health and Innovation Hub (AHI
Hub). The AHI Hub will expand and complement the existing mix of healthcare
services available to the Almaguin Highlands Region. The Township, along with
regional partners recognize that access to healthcare and extended services in the
region is a key concern for residents as well as a key priority for local and regional
decision makers.

The purpose of this Request for Expressions of Interest (REOI) is to identify potential
project partners that have an interest in bringing the AHI Hub to life.

2. Background Information

The Township of Armour is a single tier municipality in the District of Parry Sound. It
is a small, rural community located along Highway 11, between Huntsville and North
Bay. The current population is approximately 1,414 with total households numbering
1,080. The Township is an active member of the Aimaguin Highlands Health Counci
(AHHC) along with nine other municipalities. The AHHC is a not-for-profit organization
focused on retaining and expanding quality healthcare services in the Almaguin
Highlands region.

In 2024, the Township of Armour acquired a ~24-acre parcel of land at the corner of
Pegg’s Mountain Road and Ferguson Road with a vision of creating development
opportunities that benefit both township and regional (Almaguin) residents. Since the
acquisition of the property, Armour Council has invested in various property studies
and reports to support the ‘shovel-readiness’ of the property. These studies will be
made available to espondent to this E | pe ding a i itial e i w i k
consultation.

The concept for the AHI Hub has been developed in partnership with private sector
developers and key healthcare contacts from various organizations. The Township
recognizes that the creation of the Hub is an ambitious undertaking that will likely
involve the support of multiple partners across various sectors.

Please see Appendices A & B for supporting documentation which includes
information regarding the property and draft design concept as well as planning and
servicing considerations.

TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR Page 3 0of 10

134



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

3. General Conditions

3.1 Eligibility
Before preparing an expression of interest, Respondents are advised to ensure that
they can meet the following mandatory eligibility criteria. Expressions must:

e Provide an overview of the Respondent’s history of either:
o Successful commercial or public sector developments/investments
o Continuous operation of a health, or extended health, related service
(public or private sector services are welcome).
o Demonstrate a clear intent to either:
o Create a new construction project geared to house healthcare or
extended healthcare services; or
o Establish a healthcare or extended healthcare service which is either
currently unavailable locally or that fills a known gap in the local
healthcare mix.

3.2 Closing Date and Time

Sealed expressions clearly marked “Expression of Interest — Almaguin Health and
Innovation Hub” must be received by The Municipal Corporation of the Township of
Armour, Attention: Dave Gray, CAO; 56 Ontario Street, P.O. Box 533, Burk’s Falls,
ON POA1CO on or before April 27t, 2026 at 12:00 pm noon.

3.3 Clarification

All inquiries regarding this Request for Expressions of Interest (REOI) shall be
submitted in writing to the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) of the Township of
Armour. Questions must be received no later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the
submission deadline.

Responses to substantive inquiries shall be shared publicly on the Armour Township
website at the discretion of the Township in order to ensure fairness and transparency
in the REOI process. The Township will not be responsible for any verbal instructions,
interpretations, or information provided outside of this written clarification process.

Respondents are solely responsible for seeking clarification on any matter they
consider to be unclear or ambiguous within this REOI prior to submission.

TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 4 of 10

135



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

34 Development Structure & Land Disposition

The Township of Armour anticipates that the Aimaguin Health & Innovation Hub may
proceed under one of two potential land transaction models:

Fee Simple Sale of all or a portion of the Pegg’s Mountain Road development lands,
subject to a negotiated Development Agreement; or

Long-Term Municipal Ground Lease, whereby the Township retains ownership of
the lands and enters into a long-term lease arrangement with the Lead Developer.

The Township recognizes that a long-term land lease model may provide enhanced
opportunities for senior government funding participation and strategic partnership
alignment, particularly where continued municipal involvement strengthens eligibility
under applicable public funding programs.

The final land transaction structure will be determined through discussions with the
selected proponent(s) and shall be subject to Council approval.

3.5 Scope of Desired Services

The Township of Armour, through consultation with Muskoka-Algonquin Healthcare,
private sector developers, and the AHHC has identified the need for the following
partners to be included in the creation of the AHI Hub.

3.5.1 Lead Developer

The Lead Developer (LD) shall work with the Township of Armour and
committed project partners to create a new construction project that will
house the services listed below. The Township of Armour will work with the
LD to identify and apply to appropriate government funding sources
(grants), proceed through the planning and permitting stages, and liaise with
project partners as appropriate to facilitate the occupancy of the facility. The
LD shall:
e Manage and fund the new construction project;
o Establish a facilities business plan that illustrates revenue targets to
support the project.
o Establish and manage leasehold agreements for service-provider
tenants

3.5.2 Healthcare & Extended Healthcare Service Providers

Healthcare & extended Healthcare Service Providers (SPs) shall indicate their
intention to enter into a lease agreement with the Lead Developer to provide new

TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 5 of 10

136



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

or expanded services based on the needs of the Almaguin Region. Desired
services include but are not limited to:

Wellness-Related Offices Fitness Centre Dia nostic Ima in

Reactivation entre Pha macy Private irtual Tele
conferencingroo s

Communi Kitchen Ph siothera Chiro ractic Offices

Resident O tometrist Offices edical Transport

Accommodations Service Offices

Dialysis Other services as

a ro riate

3.6 Summary of Key Dates

Action Date
Response to Request for EOls Due April 27t 2026
Recommendations to Council Regular Council Meeting of

Tuesday, May 12t 2026
Establishment of MOUs & Partnership | June 2026

Agreements

Project Planning & Grant Applications July 2026 - December 2026
Formal Agreements January 2027

Construction Phase Spring 2027

3.7 Term of EOI

All expressions o interest must maintain their validity for a minimum of 12 months
past the date of submission.

TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR Page 6 of 10

137



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

4. Expression Content

Respondents are asked to submit an EOI which contains all of the information detailed
below.

4.1 Eligibility

A statement confirming that the Respondent meets the eligibility criteria as detailed in
section 3.1 above is required.

4.2 Company / Organization Profile

Brief history of the firm including the location of head offices.
An overview of the firm'’s existing projects, services, and/or operations.
Any other information relevant to their interest in this project.

4.3 Executive Overview of Proposed Service (for SPs)

A summary of services projected to be established.
An overview of factors that illustrate the sustainability of the service.
A summary of required facilites such as size of space, area, utilities
requirements, etc.

e An overview of timeline projections, estimated employment levels and any
other information project partners should be aware of.

4.4 Budgetary Consideration

Respondents are requested to provide an overview of service, construction, or
leasehold related investments related to their interest.

4.5 Commitment

Once all expressions have been received and reviewed, selected respondents will be
invited to participate in a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to confirm their
commitment. All parties entering the MOU will form a Stakeholder Group which will
assist with the development of final development consideration, project timelines, and
other factors as required.

TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 7 of 10

138



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

5. Evaluation Criteria

The expressions received shall be evaluated with consideration to the following:
o Suitability of the company, corporation, and their expression.
o Developer: Experience with commercial/institutional projects.
o Developer: Project management & advisory background.
o Services: Preference given where a proven need/gap exists.
o Services: Provider background and service description.
o Services: Job creation.
e Overall quality of the expression.
¢ Investment breakdown.

The Township reserves the right to request respondents to address specific
requirements or considerations covered in their initial expression and/or to provide
additional information.

The Township will not be responsible for any cost incurred by respondents in the
preparation or submission of the EOI.

The Township reserves the right to cancel this REOI at any time without penalty or
cost to the Township. The Township further reserves the right to reject any, or all,
expressions and to determine in its own judgment the organization/firm best qualified
to participate in this EOI. The Township is not obligated to accept any expression.

6. Additional Terms and Conditions

The following additional terms and conditions shall apply to the successful respondent
over the term of the engagement:

6.1 Indemnification

In the event of the creation of formal agreements resulting from accepted EOlIs, the
successful respondent(s) shall indemnify and hold harmless the Township, its
officers, council members, agents and employees from and against all actions,
claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, suits or proceedings whatsoever which
may be brought against or made upon the Township and against all loss, liability,
judgments, claims, suits, demands or expenses which the Township may sustain,
suffer or be put to resulting from or arising out of the successful respondent’s failure
to exercise reasonable care, skill or diligence or omissions in the performance or
rendering of any work or service required hereunder to be performed or rendered by
the successful respondent, its agents, officers and employees

TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 8 of 10

139



REOW# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

6.2 Insurance

Without restricting the generality of the section on Indemnification, the successful
respondent(s), upon the creation of a formal contract resulting from an expression of
interest, shall obtain, maintain, pay for and provide evidence of insurance coverage,
taken out with insurance companies licensed to transact business in the Province of
Ontario.

6.2.1 Professional Liability Insurance

The successful respondent(s) must furnish the Township at his/her cost, a
Certificate of Insurance for Professional Liability Insurance coverage with a
limit of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) for the company or
contractors who perform work on the project prior to commencement of work
and at the beginning of each calendar year of the appointment period.

6.3 Laws and Requlations

The successful respondent(s) shall comply with the relevant federal, provincial and
municipal statutes, regulations and by-laws pertaining to the work and its
performance. The respondent/firm shall be responsible for ensuring similar
compliance by its suppliers and subcontractors. The contract shall be governed by
and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario.

6.4 Conflicts of Interest

The successful respondent(s) will be required to indicate whether the respondent’s
irm r ymem ero the eng gementte is curr ntly mploy d or retained by

private or public sector client whose interests could be deemed to conflict with those
of the Township with respect to this engagement. Prior to accepting the engagement,
all firms are required to disclose any potential conflict of interest to Council. If a conflict
does exist, as referred to above, Council may, at its discretion withhold the
engagement from the firm until the matter is resolved to the satisfaction of Council.

6.5 Confidentiality

The successful respondent(s) shall not at any time before, during or after the
completion of the engagement, divulge any confidential information communicated to
or acquired by the successful respondent(s) or disclosed by the Township in the
course of carrying out the engagement. No such information shall be used by the
auditor on any other engagement without prior written approval.

TOWNSHIP OF AR OUR Page 9 of 10

140



REOI# 2025-01 Almaguin Health & Innovation Hub

6.6 Procurement Disclaimer

This REOI is not a tender or call for binding offers and no contractual obligations shall
arise solely by submitting an EOl. The Township shall not be responsible for
compensating any respondent for preparing or submitting an EOI. Further, the
Township is not obligated to accept or proceed with any or all EOls and shall do so at
their own discretion.

6.7 Freedom of Information and Protection

Submissions received in response to this Request for Expressions of Interest are
subject to the provisions of the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of
Privacy Act (MFIPPA), R.S.0. 1990, c. M.56, as amended. Respondents are advised
that information provided to the Township of Armour may be subject to disclosure in
accordance with MFIPPA.

Respondents who believe that any portion of their submission contains confidential,
proprietary, or commercially sensitive information must clearly identify and mark such
information at the time of submission. The Township will make reasonable efforts to
protect such information in accordance with MFIPPA; however, the Township does
not guarantee that any information supplied will be held in confidence and shall not be
liable for disclosure where required by law.

7. Errors and Omissions

The information contained in this RFP is supplied solely as a guideline for respondents
and is not necessarily comprehensive or exhaustive. Nothing contained in this RFP
is intended to relieve the respondents from forming their own opinions and conclusions
with respect to matters herein addressed. The Township shall not be held liable for
any errors or omissions in any part of this RFP.

TOWNSHIP OF ARMOUR Page 10 of 10

141



23

The Municipality of the

VILLAGE OF BURK’S FALLS

N
]
Moved By: $& Date: February 17, 2026
AL | 5
Seconded By: - Resolution # 2026-

Be it resolved;

That the Council for the Village of Burk’s Falls receives Township of Armour draft By-law 10-2026,
Transfer Part of Lot 5, Concession 7- Fire Hall;

AND FUTHER direct staff to issue payment as prescribed.

Recorded Vote requested by:

Ryan Baptiste for / opposed
Ashley Brandt for / opposed
Sean Cotton for / opposed
Chris Hope for / opposed
Nancy Kyte for / opposed (\Q

Carmed Defeated Deferred

N

Pecuniary Interest declared by:

142



The Municipality of the

VILLAGE OF BURK’'S FALLS

2
Moved By /~{<, Date: February 17, 2026

Seconded By: W &, Resolution # 2026-‘ H ;!

Be it resolved,;

That the Council for the Village of Burk’s Falls hereby receives and approves the Tri-Council Sub-
Committee Draft Terms of Reference.

Recorded Vote requested by:

Ryan Baptiste for / opposed

Ashley Brandt for / opposed

Sean Cotton for / opposed )
Chris Hope for / opposed )C
Nancy Kyte for / opposed

Camied Defeated Deferred

(op-_
V.

Pecuniary Interest declared by:

143



	Agenda
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8
	9
	10
	11
	12
	13
	14
	15
	16
	17
	18
	19
	20
	21
	22
	23



